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HE HONORE HE KORORIA HE MAUNGARONGO 

KI  RUNGA K I  TE  WHENUA HE WHAKAARO PAI 

K I  NGA TANGATA KATOA 

HONOUR,  PEACE AND GLORY TO
ALL MANKIND UPON THIS  LAND

MIHI

Presented to the House of Representatives pursuant to section 150 of the Crown Entities Act 2004 
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   Following a Gold Award for it's 2015/16 Annual Report, Whanganui DHB repeated 
      the achievement with it's 2016/17 Annual Report also earning a Gold Award from 
         the Australasian Reporting Awards (ARA). This followed a Silver Award in 2014/15.

             The Australasian Reporting Awards recognise excellence in the communication 
             of business information and financial reporting standards and enable 
             organisations to benchmark the quality of their annual reports against  
            criteria based on world best practice. Reports that achieve a Gold Award 
          satisfy all of the criteria and are model reports for other organisations to follow.
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We foster an environment that places 
the patient and their family at the centre 
of everything we do - an environment 
which values:

▪ learning and improvement 

▪ courage

▪ partnering with others

▪ building resilience. 

We are:
▪ open and honest

▪ respectful and empathetic

▪ caring and considerate

▪ committed to fostering meaningful  
 relationships

▪ family-centred.

He wāhi whakamana tangata whaiora, 
whakamana whānau! Ko te whai anō 
hoki i ngā waiaro:

▪ ka whai matauranga 

▪ ka whai mana

▪ ka toro atu te ringa

▪ ka whai rangatiratanga. 

Koi anei tātou:
▪ ka ū ki te pono

▪ ka aroha ki te tangata

▪ ka manaaki tangata

▪ ko te mea nui he tangata, he tangata  
 me ōna āhuatanga katoa

▪ ko te whānau te pūtake.

Nothing about me without me, and my whānau/family
Ko au ko tōku whānau, ko tōku whānau ko au

Kaua e rangiruatia te hāpai o te hoe, e kore to tātou waka e ū ki uta. 
Do not lift the paddle out of unison or our canoe will never reach the shore. 

& VALUES
NGA MOEMOEĀ,  NGA KAUPAPA

Our vision:  Better health and independence   |   He hauora pai ake, he rangatiratanga

OUR V IS ION
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HE TANGATA,  HE TANGATA,  HE TANGATA

POPULATION AGE DISTRIBUTION - NZ

0-19 years  26%
20-39 years  27%
40-59 years  26%
60+ years   21%

ETHNICITY DISTRIBUTION - NZ

Māori  15.8%
Other  84.2%

WHANGANUI
Population 39,940

Taihape
Population 1,660

Ohakune
Population 1,140

Raetihi
Population 1,150

Marton
Population 4,860

MARTON - TAIHAPE
DISTANCE: 72KM

CAR TRAVEL: 50MIN (APPROX.)

TAIHAPE - RAETIHI
DISTANCE: 67KM

CAR TRAVEL: 46MIN (APPROX.)

WHANGANUI-RAETIHI
DISTANCE: 90KM

CAR TRAVEL: 1HR 20MIN (APPROX.)

WHANGANUI - MARTON
DISTANCE: 36KM

CAR TRAVEL: 26MIN (APPROX.)

WHANGANUI DHB REGION     |    TOTAL POPULATION: 63,600    |    9,742KM2

WDHB 
Age distribution

0-19 years
60+ years

40-59 years 20-39 years

26%

26%

27%

21%

WDHB
Ethnicity

distributionMāori

Other

27%

73%

Quintile 2

WDHB
Deprivation
distribution

Quintile 4Quintile 3

Quintile 5
Most deprivedQuintile 1

Least deprived

8%

10%

19% 26%

37%

WE SER VE
THE POPULATION

One of 20 district health boards (DHBs) in New Zealand, Whanganui District Health Board (WDHB) was established 
under the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000. This Act sets out the roles and functions of DHBs.
(Refer to page 22 for more information). 

Waiouru
Population 820

MARTON & SURROUNDS
OHAKUNE / RAETIHI / WAIOURU & SURROUNDS
TAIHAPE / HUNTERVILLE / MANGAWEKA & SURROUNDS
WHANGANUI & SURROUNDS

9,870
4,440
5,080
44,270

POPULATIONS INCLUDING SURROUNDING AREAS

We acknowledge travel times for communities living in surrounding rural districts will be longer than indicated.
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OUR DHB'S POPULATION
Whanganui DHB is responsible for ensuring the 63,600 people living in its district have access to a wide range of health and 
disability support services across primary, secondary and tertiary health care settings. This includes the secondary services 
provided at Whanganui Hospital as well as funding many primary services delivered in the community, and public hospital 
services delivered to our population outside the Whanganui DHB area. It is responsible for 'improving, promoting and 
protecting' their health and the health of the communities in which they live.  

Whanganui DHB has a unique profile in that it has:

    ▪    slower than national average population growth 
          which impacts on the level of funding received

    ▪    high rates of deprivation compared to most other 
          areas of New Zealand

    ▪    poor health status compared to most other areas
          of New Zealand

    ▪    a high and growing proportion of Māori 

    ▪    a high and growing proportion of people aged over 65

    ▪    a small hospital servicing a widely-dispersed
          but small population base

    ▪    large travel distances to the bigger hospitals.

NEW ZEALAND HEALTH STRATEGY: 
The Five Strategic Themes

GUIDING PRINCIPLES FOR THE SYSTEM
   1.   Acknowledging the special relationship between Māori 
         and the Crown under the Treaty of Waitangi 

   2.   The best health and wellbeing possible for all New 
         Zealanders throughout their lives

   3.   An improvement in health status of those 
         currently disadvantaged

   4.   Collaborative health promotion, rehabilitation and 
         disease and injury prevention by all sectors

   5.   Timely and equitable access for all New Zealanders 
         to a comprehensive range of health and disability 
         services, regardless of ability to pay

   6.   A high-performing system in which people have confidence

   7.   Active partnership with people and communities at all levels

   8.   Thinking beyond narrow definitions of health and 
         collaborating with others to achieve wellbeing.

The Regional Services Plan is developed 
collaboratively by the region's six district health 
boards. The plan's five priority outcomes 
are aligned to the five themes and associated 
actions of the New Zealand Health Strategy.

CENTRAL REGION
Whanganui, MidCentral, Capital & Coast, Wairarapa, 
Hutt Valley and Hawke's Bay DHBs

Improved
health & equity

for all
populations

Best value
for public

health system 
resources

Improved
system 

integration &
consistency

Improved
clinical &
financial

sustainability

Improved
quality, safety 
& experience

of care

REGIONAL
SERVICES PLAN
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Whanganui DHB operates in a complex and dynamic environment which poses many challenges. However, the environment also 
offers many opportunities to support our efforts to reduce inequalities and improve the health and wellbeing of our community.

SIGNIFICANT ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

WORKFORCE

International 
labour market

HEALTH OF OUR POPULATION

Lifestyle and 
age-related diseases

ECONOMY & DHB FUNDING

Fiscal constraint

INCREASED SPECIALISATION 

Need for centralisation

CONSUMERISM

Increasing 
consumer expectations

NEW POLICY DIRECTIONS  AND HEALTH SECTOR REVIEW

Change in health 
policy and organisation 
of health structures

OUR OPPORTUNITIES & CHALLENGES

CHALLENGES:
▪  Recruiting and retaining suitable specialist medical staff.
▪  Salary demands exceeding ability to pay.

OPPORTUNITIES:
▪  To promote lifestyle and cost-of-living advantages of regional New Zealand.
▪  To develop innovative initiatives for 'growing our own' and extending our talent pool.

CHALLENGES:
▪  Need for services for people with chronic medical conditions and degenerative diseases exceeds ability to provide and/or fund.
▪  Service demand in primary and secondary care increasing sharply and challenging available capacity.
▪  Persistent inequity in health outcomes for Māori whānau.

OPPORTUNITIES:
▪  To work collaboratively with other health and social agencies to enhance promotion and protection strategies.
▪  To improve equity of health outcomes for Māori.
▪  To develop models that increasingly empower patients and whānau.
▪  To improve service integration across the health and disability continuums.
▪  To develop models of care and service delivery which encourage all health professional groups to work to top-of-scope.
▪  To accelerate Māori health outcomes and improve equity by involving Te Ao Māori concepts and whānau-centred approaches.

CHALLENGES:
▪  Funding increases will not cover costs.
▪  Funding increases will need to be applied to meet demand for health services and reduce disparities.
▪  Demand for salary and price increases will likely exceed available funding.
▪  Existing business and service model mitigate against service change.
▪  Service change that reduces access to local services will not get political support (local and/or national).

OPPORTUNITIES:
▪  To review effectiveness and efficiency of current service models to improve productivity and/or new ways of delivering services.
▪  To lobby for, and influence the development of, business model changes and elective intervention rates.
▪  To continue with waste elimination, cost reduction and revenue generating initiatives.

CHALLENGES:
▪  Lack of scale leads to clinical and financial unsustainability.
▪  Service changes will not get political support (local and/or national).
▪  Community resists change.

OPPORTUNITIES:
▪  To use technology and visiting specialists to enable local delivery of ambulatory services to improve collaboration. 
   with other DHBs to ensure best use of physical and human resource across the region.
▪  To enhance travel and accommodation options.
▪  To improve community understanding of the impacts of specialisation.

CHALLENGES:
▪  Demand exceeds ability to fund and/or to provide service expectations.

OPPORTUNITIES:
▪  To increase consumer participation to improve health literacy across the region and to support the Choosing Wisely programme.

CHALLENGES:
▪  Re-focus to new policy directions.
▪  Major restructure of the health system.

OPPORTUNITIES:
▪  To contribute to the development and design of any new structural or policy direction.
▪  To prepare for any change from a position of strength.



REVENUE

MINISTRY 
OF HEALTH 
& OTHERS

PROVIDER
(Whanganui 

Hospital)

OTHER 
HOSPITALS

(IDFs)

COMMUNITY 
PROVIDERS

$254.1m

$136.6m $80.7m
$41.1m

OUR BUSINESS MODELKEY ENABLERS

Financial
This is the funding we receive, primarily 

from the Government, to supply and 
purchase health and disability services 

for our community in a way that supports 
local, regional and national strategies.

Infrastructure
This is our physical assets (such as 

buildings, equipment, and vehicles) 
as well as our non-physical assets such 

as policies, processes, systems and 
information technology. 

We use these to help deliver health 
and disability services to improve the 

health status of our community.

Relationships
These are the connections we have 
that help us improve the health of 
our community. We cannot make 

improvements on our own and need 
to partner with many groups to 

achieve health gains for our community.  

These partnerships include Iwi, local 
health providers, Government, other

social sector agencies and NGOs, 
as well as other DHBs.

Workforce
These are our people in all parts of 
the organisation, both clinical and 
non-clinical, who play their part in 

improving the health of our 
community by supporting the 

delivery of health and disability services.  

OUR WAKA VALUES   |   HOW WE PUT OUR VALUES INTO PRACTICE
KOTAHITANGA   |   WHĀNAUNGATANGA   |   WAIRUATANGA   |   AROHA   |   TINORANGATIRATANGA

KAITIAKITANGA   |   RANGIMARIE   |   MAURI   |   TIKANGA MĀORI   |   WHAKAPAPA   |   MANA TANGATA   |   MANAAKITANGA

HOW WE DELIVER OUR VISION

Whanganui District Health Board
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Advancing Māori Health & Whānau Ora

Investing to improve health outcomes 
and live within our means

Growing the quality and safety culture

Rising to the Challenge to build 
resilient communities

Maternal, Child and Youth Health

Health of Older People

Long-term Conditions

Equitable access to clinical services

'Better health & 
independence'

OVERARCHING PRIORITIES OUR FOCUS AREAS OUR VISION

1

2

3

4

A

B

C

D

Kaua e rangiruatia te hāpai o te hoe, e kore to tātou waka e ū ki uta
Do not lift the paddle out of unison or our canoe will never reach the shore 

The whakatauki or proverb above refers to everyone being in the same waka or canoe working 
together to get positive outcomes for patients, families/whānau and our community.

Whanganui District Health Board
Annual Report 2017 / 18   |   9

Increased life 
expectancy

Reduced 
mortality rates

Lower gaps 
between Māori 

& non-Māori, 
and between 
Whanganui & 
New Zealand
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ADVANCING MĀORI HEALTH & WHĀNAU ORA
We want Māori whānau to want to be as healthy as they can for their future generations and for the health and 
wellbeing of the whole community. The board remains committed to Whānau Ora – whānau/family-centred 
care as one of its key principles to accelerate its efforts to improve equity in Māori health outcomes and to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the whole community. 

GROWING THE QUALITY & SAFETY CULTURE
Clinical leadership and patient/family/whānau-centred care and partnership models are internationally recognised 
as key drivers of improved patient outcomes, improved patient experience of care and provision of effective clinical 
governance. Clinical governance systems within healthcare form the foundation of safer processes for patients and 
staff. The aim for Whanganui DHB is to work in partnership with our district partners in care to improve the quality 
of care we provide to our people and to reduce patient harm.

It's critical our community and other stakeholders have confidence in our organisation. We have continued to work on 
'how the world sees us' through initiatives such as improving our approach to serving, ensuring our physical environment is 
welcoming to all and having a culture of openness and transparency, especially when we perform below standard. We work 
hard right across our organisation to maintain the confidence of all those we interact with, from our patients, clients, partner 
organisations and suppliers, through to the Minister of Health and the Government. 

      In addition to maintaining the confidence of our community, we pay particular focus to the following overarching 
      strategies and priority population groups. Throughout this report, we have employed the symbols associated 
      with each priority and focus area, as set out below, to indicate the activities of relevance to each priority and focus area.  

OUR OVERARCHING PRIORITIES

INVESTING TO IMPROVE HEALTH OUTCOMES & LIVE WITHIN OUR MEANS
Whanganui DHB is committed to operating within annual funding and to delivering on the agreed financial 
plan, supported by clinical and executive leadership. The DHB is also committed to improving health and 
reducing disparities, particularly for Māori. WDHB needs to shift the investment from services that benefit 
a few, some of the time, to services that benefit many, more of the time. This will contribute to an 
improvement in health outcomes and reduction in disparities.   

WHANGANUI RISING TO THE CHALLENGE TO BUILD RESILIENT COMMUNITIES
Whanganui Rising to the Challenge focuses on working with our population so they have the tools to weather 
adversity, actively support each other’s wellbeing, and attain their potential within their family/whānau and 
communities. We work with our population to provide rapid access to support from a range of effective, 
well-integrated services that will help them to improve their mental health and wellbeing or address addiction. 
Through this, Whanganui DHB will endeavour to make best use of public funds and to support the best 
possible outcomes for those who are most vulnerable.

1

2

3

4
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LONG-TERM CONDITIONS
Many people suffer from several long-term conditions. Long-term conditions include conditions such as 
diabetes, cancer, cardiovascular diseases, respiratory diseases, mental illness, chronic pain, chronic 
kidney disease and dementia. As the population ages and lifestyles change, the health system needs to 
respond to increasing numbers of people with long-term conditions. 

MATERNAL, CHILD & YOUTH HEALTH
Whanganui DHB re-confirmed improving maternal, child and youth health as a key priority for 2017/18. 
This follows advice received from Hauora A Iwi, our Māori Relationship Board, in 2012 which identified 
improved maternal and child health as a key priority. Promoting healthy women and children is a core goal 
in empowering parents and families (whānau) to grow and contribute to the community they live in by 
reducing the negative impact of unmet health need.

HEALTH OF OLDER PEOPLE
The aim is to maintain a system that provides choice, clear information, protection for vulnerable older
people, provides care that maximises an older person's independence and improves quality of life. The DHB 
is committed to delivering on the Government's priorities for older people to make sure their needs are met 
now and in the future.

OUR FOCUS AREAS

EQUITABLE ACCESS TO HEALTH SERVICES
Improving the quality and safety of, as well as equitable and timely access to, clinical services and preventing harm 
is a key priority and commitment for the WDHB. Whanganui DHB recognises that effective clinical leadership and 
partnering with patients and their whānau/families positively influences the care patients receive, results in fewer 
adverse events, and improves patient experience. 

A

B

C

D
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Ko au ko tōku 
whānau, ko tōku 
whānau ko au 

Nothing about 
me without me, 
and my family
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 MAHI  WHAKARITERITE

OUR OVER VIE W OF  
PERFORMANCE

Jordan Karena has an awhi (snuggle) 
with his son Hauiti Karena
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The 2017/18 year was certainly one of fast-paced change 
with a revised board strategy, new faces, challenging IT 
programmes, huge staff contribution and a renewed focus on 
patient and whānau-centred care.

Following her nine years as Whanganui DHB chief executive, 
Julie Patterson left us for a well-earned rest before accepting 
her current role of Capital & Coast DHB acting chief 
executive. We wish Julie well in her new ventures and thank 
her for leading our DHB through some difficult times into a 
new era of sustainability and growth. 

After interviewing many candidates for the chief executive 
role, our board was pleased to appoint Russell Simpson to 
take on the new mantle. Russell ticked all of the boxes with 
his health qualifications and wealth of experience in DHBs 
and other health entities. His future focus, interest in driving 
a stronger relationship between the hospital, community 
and primary care, his strong social conscience, people skills 
and candour endeared him to all board members. Russell 
is enthusiastic, committed and passionate about his role, 
and my colleagues and I have been delighted to welcome 
him to our team.

Whanganui is well served by its district health board, 
and those who work with us and for us. Good health and 
wellbeing should be two of the most important goals we all 
want to achieve in life. 

Our medical, clinical, allied, community and primary care 
teams have been challenged by greater numbers of 
people in our district presenting to ED, hospital, clinics 
and support services. It seems that we are sicker, we have 
more than one ailment and we often present too late to 
have preventative care. Our population is ageing and as a 
consequence needing more health care. Too many are living 
in substandard homes contributing to respiratory and other 
illnesses. We are not eating the healthiest foods nor doing 
enough exercise. Depression and addictions have created 
a rise in mental health issues. We despair for the young 
who are subjected to smoking, poverty, drugs and lack of 
parental love and care. 

To try and right some of these wrongs, our DHB is focused 
on reducing inequities that exist not just in our DHB but 
throughout New Zealand. We want to improve health 
outcomes of those needing more care - Māori and Pacifika, 
rural and isolated communities, our young, aged and sad. 

Information technology is a big lever in helping us grow 
our services – with new patient administration systems to 
collect health data, clinical portals for information on needs, 
joint purchasing thoughout New Zealand and radiology 
information systems. 

Technology will revolutionise health care in the coming 
years and we have to embrace it, however challenging 
that may be.

Our staff are the stalwarts of the DHB. In the past year, care 
workers and nurses have successfully obtained greater 
recognition for the work they do, leading the way I’m sure, 
for many more professions to come. 

When board member Harete Hipango was elected to 
Parliament we found ourselves with 10 board members 
rather than 11, so I thank our deputy chair Stuart Hylton 
for his willingness to step up and play a far greater role 
on our board and through his committee chairmanships. 
And I extend my thanks to Darren Hull who chairs our Risk 
and Audit Committee. Both are good examples of true 
community service from our board members who do 
understand the pressures and concerns that WDHB staff have.

As a board, we are committed to doing more to improve 
working conditions, foster training, build skills, encourage 
greater decision-making at the coalface and ensure the 
culture of our organisation is a happy and fulfilling one. 

We have a strong relationship with our Iwi partners, 
Hauora a Iwi and I thank them for continuously reminding 
us to seek ways to improve Māori health. We were pleased 
to re-confirm our commitment to Hauora a Iwi through the 
re-signing of our memorandum of understanding in late 
2017. We are blessed with the wisdom of Dame Tariana Turia 
around our board table and our kaumatua John Maihi, and 
kuia Jo Takarangi-Firmin and Gina Maihi.

Our regional work is vital and so too is our work with 
MidCentral DHB and our Wellington regional partners to 
achieve greater synergies and joint opportunities to improve 
services and finances.

Despite our best efforts, Whanganui DHB did not achieve our 
budgeted $1.9m deficit - we went over our operating budget 
by $2.3m, achieving a total deficit of $4.2m. Efficiencies and 
business improvement have been integral to the way our 
DHB works for some years now and they will continue to be 
as we strive to find new ways to provide services, without 
reducing them.

I’m proud to be Whanganui DHB’s chair and proud that we 
continue to punch above our weight despite the challenges 
facing us and the fact we are the fifth smallest of the 20 
district health boards.

BOARD CHAIR'S REPORT

Dot McKinnon, QSM  
WDHB Board Chair          
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While preparing our 2017/18 Annual Report I have enjoyed 
having the opportunity to reflect on Whanganui DHB’s 
achievements over those 12 months. 

I believe we have achieved a great deal, during what has 
been a period of significant change for our organisation and 
the health sector. 

Former chief executive Julie Patterson’s nine years at the 
helm saw Whanganui DHB’s reputation go from strength-
to-strength once the organisation moved to a clinically-led 
structure with a strong emphasis on patient safety and quality, 
and whānau-centred care.

It is thanks to this, and the work of all my predecessors, that 
Whanganui DHB continues to perform well on the national 
stage. We’re delivering increasing numbers of elective 
procedures to our community, managing growing numbers 
of patients through our front door and managing acute 
demand growth across many of our specialities.  

But there is much work still to be done and the challenge 
we face is how to achieve what’s needed within the confines 
of increasing pressure on our financial position – a situation 
we share with most other DHBs throughout the country. A 
change in government, a new director-general of health and 
a new chief executive certainly provides Whanganui DHB with 
opportunity to challenge the status quo.

I want to start by thanking our greatest assets - our DHB staff 
and the community we serve. We have many wonderful, 
highly committed people across the DHB who work 
tirelessly to provide safe services to those requiring our care 
and support. Additionally, we are all part of a team striving 
to respect the culture and values we have embedded into 
our organisation.

The dialogue about our community having 62,000 beds 
continues to ring true and as we change the korero, from 
hospital to community, we need to ask our community to 
support our endeavours as we embark on the 2018/19 
year – a year I have no doubt will be challenging for the 
DHB sector as a whole.

Whanganui’s ageing population, slow population 
growth, high levels of poor housing and low educational 
achievement, generally poor diet and exercise habits, and 
multiple co-morbidities do undoubtedly present us with 
many challenges which our DHB cannot solve alone.

I am grateful to work for a board that understands and 
supports the need for a change in direction that asks the 
community to work alongside us to try and solve the many 
societal issues that impact on our DHB and wider community.

I believe we must partner with multiple and varied agencies 
to truly make a difference – agencies that like our DHB are 
committed to making a difference for our people, and brave 
enough to ask Whanganui district residents to empower 
themselves by taking responsibility for their own health, 
when and where appropriate.

Many of us look forward to seeing what changes will come 
from the Government’s health and disability sector review 
and the Government’s commitment to challenging the 
status quo.

I want to conclude by thanking our chair Dot McKinnon, 
board members, Hauora A Iwi and our staff for their warm 
welcome and for providing me with a rewarding start to 
my role. I am very proud to be able to serve you, and our 
community and I thank you all for your ongoing commitment 
to Whanganui DHB and our district.

Kia kaha!

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT

Russell Simpson
WDHB Chief Executive
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HAUORA A IWI  REPOR T

Our relationship with the six Iwi is strong and continues to grow through the partnership board Hauora A Iwi. Hauora A Iwi 
has advised and worked with DHB board and committee members contributing to annual and regional planning, executive 
recruitment and the wider work of the statutory committees. The two boards have met together throughout the year.

Mary Bennett is chair of Hauora A Iwi and we acknowledge Mary’s commitment and leadership.

As at 30 June 2018, the members of Hauora A Iwi are:

▪   Tupoho/Whanganui: Sharlene Tapa-Mosen     ▪   Ngarauru Kītahi: Hayden Potaka - Mary Bennett (chair)
▪   Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa: James Allen - Grace Taiaroa (deputy chair)  ▪   Mokai Patea: Barbara Ball - Maraea Bellamy  
▪   Ngāti Hauiti: Heather Gifford      ▪   Tamaupoko Whanganui: Te Aroha McDonnell.

We appreciate this relationship and thank each of the members and their Iwi for their ongoing commitment to improving 
the community’s health and their willingness to contribute to the success of our DHB. We are pleased to include the following 
report from Hauora A Iwi.

HAUORA A IWI - MĀORI RELATIONSHIP BOARD

We have seen some changes around our Hauora Ā Iwi 
Board table as we farewelled Cassandra Reid (Ngāti Rangi) 
and Maria Potaka (Ngāti Hauiti). We thank them both for 
their contributions to Hauora Ā Iwi and to Maria for also 
representing us at the Whanganui District Health Board 
Statutory Committee. Dr Heather Gifford returns to Hauora 
Ā Iwi for Ngāti Hauiti. Heather brings a sharp focus on 
collecting the right data and being able to interpret the data 
in a meaningful way. Our Ngāti Rangi seat remains vacant 
as the Iwi progresses through their own process to appoint 
their new representative. 

We also acknowledge Julie Patterson, the former WDHB 
chief executive who retired from the role  after nine years at 
the helm. We wish Julie all the best in the next stage of her 
life’s journey.

A key milestone for Hauora Ā Iwi was the signing of our 
Memorandum of Understanding with the Whanganui 
District Health Board (WDHB). We continue to test the health 
of our relationship with the WDHB, and measure progress 
towards achievement of our agreed strategic goals namely: 

▪   Giving effect to Whānau Ora (across the Whanganui 
     region) (delivering the right service, at the right time, in 
     the right place, in the right way); 

▪   Achieving health equity for Māori (monitoring 
     performance through reporting); 

▪   Improving capacity, Enhancing capability (systems, 
     delivery options, workforce). 

The goals are broad yet specific, and can be applied in ways 
that take account of what is happening at either a regional, 
local or organisational level. 

The election of a new Government in 2017 has brought a 
much sharper focus to the 'equity' agenda. This aligns well 
with our strategic goal of Achieving Health Equity for Māori. 
We commend the WDHB Risk and Audit Committee for 
their engagement of external auditors to review the DHB’s 
performance against achievement of equity outcomes for 
the entire community and, more specifically, for Māori. We 
look forward to critiquing results from the first review in 
November 2018.

Hauora Ā Iwi participated in the recruitment of Russell 
Simpson, the new chief executive to the WDHB. While we 
were in attendance at the WDHB powhiri for Russell, tikanga 
was not fully observed until Iwi came together at Te Ao 
Hou marae to powhiri Russell into our midst and clear the 
way for him to travel the rohe and korero with our people. 
Russell has embraced Hauora Ā Iwi’s vision for a Wellness 
Investment Strategy founded on partnership (that is mana 
enhancing); prevention (taking account of all components 
of Pae Ora); and rangatiratanga (recognising that we are all 
unique and one size does NOT fit all).

Hauora Ā Iwi sought a new approach to the Wellness 
Investment Strategy, one that provides for and supports 
specialist services (such as rongoa Māori services); is 
community-centric (rather than hospital-centric); and 
technology enhanced. We support any activity that aligns to 
and realises the Wellness Investment Strategy and approach. 

To that end, Hauora Ā Iwi wish to acknowledge and thank 
all our Māori Health providers for the work you do with our 
whānau. Your ongoing commitment to delivering whānau 
based solutions is testament to the importance of your role 
and commitment to giving effect to Whānau Ora.

E te Poari, tēnei te reo o ngā mana whenua o tō tātou rohe e maioha atu ana ki a koutou katoa.
Ko ngā mate kua huri ki tua o pae maumahara, rātou kua okioki.
Ki a tātou, ngā morehurehu, tēnā tātou katoa.



Our thanks also to the Haumoana Service who continue to 
manaaki whānau in hospital. They also deliver the in-house 
Hapai Te Hoe programme that all WDHB staff are required 
to attend. The programme is designed to help staff get an 
understanding and appreciation of Te Ao Māori, a necessary 
contribution to improving capacity and enhancing 
capability of the workforce. 

Hauora Ā Iwi has continued to attend key planning and 
information sharing hui throughout the year. While we have 
contributed to the development of key documents such as 
the Annual Plan, delays in receiving instructions from the 
Ministry of Health have meant Annual Plans and Regional 
Service Plans are yet to be finalised.

We participated in the recent Mental Health and Addictions 
Inquiry along with our Māori Health providers and members 
of the wider community. The stories and experiences shared 
confirmed that this area of the health sector demands more 
critical attention and resource from central government. 
It was also apparent that a number of people in the 
community are taking their own actions and implementing 
their own solutions to the issues and challenges that are 
present in our local environment. We eagerly await the 
outcome of the Inquiry.

At an operational level, Hauora Ā Iwi has identified four 
priorites for the coming year: oral health; health literacy; 
rangatahi suicide prevention; rural client discharges. We 
have a full agenda ensuring the WDHB and the health sector 
are providing opportunities for Iwi and communities to 
create our own prevention, intervention and postvention 
strategies and solutions to address our regional health and 
wellbeing challenges. We will monitor progress against our 
priority areas, the expectations set out in our Memorandum 
of Understanding, and the approaches to our suggested 
Wellness Investment Strategy along side the WDHB’s 
Strategic and Annual Plans, with direct focus on accelerating 
health gain and achieving health equity for Māori.

We will give particular attention to the quality of the health 
outcomes; the experiences our people are having in the 
system; if and how the overall wellbeing of our people is 
improving. We will measure the outcomes against a Whānau 
Ora framework, looking for evidence that the health system, 
and more particularly the WDHB, is delivering programmes 
and services in a way that meets the needs of our people. 
Once again we look forward to supporting the WDHB in 
their endeavours. 

Nā
Hauora A Iwi

Whanganui District Health Board
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Whanganui DHB board chair 
Dot McKinnon (left) and Hauora Ā Iwi 
chair Mary Bennett re-confirmed 
the two boards commitment to each 
other by re-signing the Manatu 
Whakaaetanga Memorandum of 
Understanding in late 2017.
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An eight percent increase in inpatient volumes - a result 
of an ageing population and chronic long-term 
conditions - has been the main driver of a downturn in 
financial results. We finished the year with an operating 
deficit of $4.179m against budgeted deficit of $1.899m. 
In 2016/17, the operating deficit was $0.712m. 

Compared to 2016/17, revenue has increased by $11.8m to 
$254.1m this year whilst costs increased $15.5m to $258.4m.

The sharp increase in service demand was not expected against 
total growth of 2.3 percent over the previous two years. Service 
growth was most evident in acute medical specialties up 13.7 
percent and surgical volumes up three percent. Complex patients 
with dementia have required more nursing care and nursing 
resources have increased seven percent. As a consequence, 
clinical supply costs have increased by nine percent.

The increase in acute demand has also required more patients 
to travel away from Whanganui for more complex medical 
services with an additional $2.9m or 7.5 percent spent with 
other district health boards in 2017/18.  

Expenditure in community aged care saw a five percent 
reduction in rest home beds offset by a 10 percent increase in 
home support. The overall impact was cost neutral with the 
trend signalling a preference for independent living as people 
age, delaying rest home admission as long as possible.  This 
trend, seen in the latter half of 2016/17, continued in 2017/18.
In 2018/19, the deficit position is not expected to improve 
as population-based funding increases are not keeping pace 
with health service demand and related costs. Strengthening 
community services to catch people’s declining health before 
requiring hospitalisation is the key challenge and a NZ health 
system-wide issue.

Brian Walden
General Manager Corporate (Chief Financial Officer)

As reported last year, investment in regional health information 
systems has continued with Whanganui spending another $3.4m 
in 2017/18. The goal of this investment is to provide clinicians 
with access to patient information no matter where they are 
in the lower North Island network of hospitals. The regional 
systems, made up of the radiology image and reporting archive, 
Clinical Portal clinical information system, radiology information 
system and webPAS patient management system, are now fully 
developed and implemented in a number of DHBs. Regional 
service management arrangements are in place to support 
these systems. By the end of 2018/19, most of the six DHBs in 
the lower North Island will be on these common systems. The 
majority of the $65.3m regional investment on the Regional 
Health Informatics Programme is almost complete with $2.5m 
remaining to spend in 2018/19.  Looking forward, investment in 
information technology will continue with the goal of joining up 
patient community care medical information with hospital care 
to provide a fully integrated view of patient medical care.

In addition, a further $3.4m was invested in clinical equipment 
and facilities in 2017/18. A new CT scanner was installed.

Cash and cash equivalents and investments have declined from 
$10.4m at 30 June 2017, as a result of the operating deficit and 
capital investment, to $4.3m at 30 June 2018. The board has 
access to sufficient cash resources through overdraft facilities to 
meet its service and investment intentions for 2018/19. 

For the detailed financial reporting see the financial 
statements from page 89.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S REPORT

$254.1m
2017/18 Revenue$20.6m

Ministry of Health side contracts

$9.6m
Other revenue

$216.2m
2017/18 Appropriation (PBF)

$7.7m
Hospital services provided 
for other DHBs $258.4m

2017/18 Expenditure

$90.6m
Personnel cost
(incl. outsourced 
personnel)

$7.3m
Outsourced clinical 
service & other

$24.9m
Other community service

$7.4m
Mental Health - community

$19.8m
Pharmaceuticals & laboratory

$41.1m
Hospital service at other DHBs (IDF)

$28.6m
Health of Older People - community

$17.0m
Clinical supplies

$21.7m
Infrastructure & 
non-clinical supplies

2013/14 Revenue 

$226.0m
2014/15 Revenue 

$231.8m
2015/16 Revenue 

$236.9m
2016/17 Revenue 

$242.2m
2013/14 

Expenditure 

$227.0m
2016/17 

Expenditure 

$242.9m
2014/15 

Expenditure 

$231.9m
2015/16 

Expenditure 

$237.5m
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
Long-term, Whanganui DHB aims to:
  ▪  Improve the life expectancy for the DHB population, with improvement in equity for Māori
  ▪  Reduce mortality rates for the DHB population, with improvement in equity for Māori
  ▪  Improve equity by reducing the health status gap between Māori and non-Māori across all measures,
      and also between Whanganui and  New Zealand.

Whanganui DHB has made four specific commitments to support achievement of the vision (see page 10):

   1.  Advancing Māori health and Whānau Ora

   2.   Investing to improve health outcomes and live within our means - moving investment   

   3.  Growing the quality and safety culture - improving the patient experience, leadership 

   4.  Rising to the Challenge to build resilient communities - local and regional collaboration.

Our focus areas for 2017/18 remained on the priority population groupings of Maternal, Child and Youth, Older 
People and people with long-term Conditions, as well as providing excellence in clinical service delivery. 

Maternal, Child & Youth Health
In the area of Maternal Child and Youth Health, we have 
continued to make progress in improving the health of this 
priority group. Improvement can be seen particularly in the 
area of child dental.  

Child immunisation coverage rates decreased in 2017/18 and 
we were unable to reach our target.  Our performance was 
particularly influenced by an increase in the number of families 
that declined. However, it is good to see that immunisation 
rates show no inequity between ethnic groups. 

Ambulatory sensitive hospitalisation (ASH) rates for children 0-4 
years have increased despite the previous year’s decline. We 
will maintain focus on understanding the factors that influence 
these rates, including health and social services working closely 
together, a whānau-centred care approach and follow up, 
along with reducing the inequity that is apparent in many of 
the health improvement measures for this priority group.

Health of Older People
In line with the philosophy of maintaining people’s 
independence, we are seeing an increasing proportion of 
older people being able to live in their home for longer by 
receiving home-based support services. The collaborative 
work being done around falls continues to see good results 
with high rates of falls assessments and the reduction 
in falls rates. Some further improvement is required in 
the timeliness of interRAI assessments and the uptake of 
influenza vaccination rates for older people.

Long-term Conditions
Ambulatory sensitive hospitalisations (ASH) for the 45-65 year 
age group has continued to increase. Additional resources and 
focus has been put into screening for cardiovascular disease to 
try and reverse this trend. Increased focus from general practice 
has seen the rates for HBA1c improve however inequity still 
remains between Māori and non-Māori who have diabetes. 
The rates of advice on smoking cessation continue to be 
strong and with the introduction of the new 'hub' model 
across mental health services, access to mental health serves 
rate should increase.

Equity of Access to Clinical Services
It is pleasing to see stroke service indicators continue to meet 
expected targets, along with surgical process markers and two 
out of the three emergency department triage time targets. 
Cardiac service targets are a persistent challenge, however we 
are working with our Central Region DHB colleagues to find 
solutions that will improve access rates and health outcomes 
for our community. 

Future focus
The system level measures have now been in place for two 
years as high-level indicators of health performance. We will 
continue to focus on addressing factors that lead to health 
gains demonstrated through improved performance in these 
measures.  However, we cannot do this alone.  

We acknowledge that we have 62,000 people living in the 
WDHB health district and the best bed for the community 
is their own. We want to be more outward-facing and work 
with our community to find solutions that best meets their 
needs at a whānau/family, settings (rural and urban) and 
wider community level.

As we move into the 2018/19 year, a key focus will be to 
strengthen our relationships with all parts of the community 
including Iwi, NGOs and other government agencies. It will 
take a combined and coordinated effort that addresses 
the social and economic determinants of health to achieve 
persistent health gains. Accelerating Māori health gains and 
improving equity in health outcomes will continue to be a 
high priority. 

In 2018/19, we will also strengthen our environmental 
responsibility as we look at ways we can respond to reducing 
our impact on climate change.                
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PROVIDER DIVISION (Whanganui Hospital and Waimarino & Rangitikei rural health centres)

53,244
RADIOLOGY

TESTS

9,464
INPATIENT

STAYS

21,909
PATIENTS THROUGH 
EMERGENCY 

DEPARTMENT
2016/17: 20,695 2016/17: 9,501 2016/17: 52,532

893
FULL TIME 

EQUIVALENT 
(FTE) STAFF

2016/17: 856

260
NEW INPATIENT 

ADMISSIONS  TO 
MENTAL HEALTH

2016/17: 253

$83.5m
TOTAL

WAGE BILL
2016/17: $78.3m

743
BIRTHS

IN WHANGANUI 
HOSPITAL/RURAL 
HEALTH SERVICE

2016/17: 719

SUPPORTED 

199
PEOPLE WHO 

DIED IN HOSPITAL
2016/17: 167

294
PEOPLE REQUIRED 

MORE THAN 3 
ACUTE ADMISSIONS

3,070
ALL ELECTIVE 

SURGICAL 
OPERATIONS* 

(WITH ANAESTHESTIC)

1,006
ALL ACUTE 

EMERGENCY
 OPERATIONS*
(WITH ANAESTHESTIC)

2016/17: 3,003 2016/17: 1,042
2016/17: 365

4,076
OPERATIONS

2016/17: 4,045

WHAT WE PROVIDED IN 2017/18

45,587
SPECIALIST

OUTPATIENT
APPOINTMENTS*

2016/17: 43,966

* Definition for these measures has changed from similar measures reported in previous years.



 TE  RŌPŪ WHAKAHAERE

OUR   
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Whanganui District Health Board is a body corporate owned 
by the Crown and operates as an agent of the Crown. It 
was established under the New Zealand Public Health and 
Disability Act 2000.

Whanganui District Health Board has four key functions or 
core areas of business:

i.     Assessment of health needs, planning and   
       monitoring of health and disability services

ii.    Funding and purchasing health and disability services

iii.   Providing health and disability services, through a 
       directly managed, Crown-owned public hospital, 
       and home and community-based services

iv.   Governance, administration and management of 
       the Whanganui District Health Board in regard to 
       the function or core business areas above.

To carry out its functions and deliver on its core business 
areas, Whanganui DHB is organised into three divisions:

▪   Service and Business Planning Division  

▪   Provider Division   

▪   Corporate Services & Governance and Administration.

SERVICE AND BUSINESS PLANNING DIVISION
The primary responsibility of the Service and Business 
Planning division is to plan, fund and purchase health and 
disability services for the community within the Whanganui 
region with particular attention to:

▪   personal health (primary and secondary)

▪   mental health

▪   Māori health

▪   disability support services (people aged 65 and above).

This division also funds access to specialist services that are not 
delivered by the Provider division within the Whanganui region.

In these core health and disability services, the Service and 
Business Planning division undertakes to:

▪   determine population health and disability needs

▪   develop health improvement strategies

▪   monitor service quality and address quality issues

▪   ensure service coverage for the resident population

▪   manage contracts and funding

▪   manage provider relationships.

PROVIDER DIVISION (Whanganui Hospital / rural health centres)
The Provider division provides secondary and community 
specialist health services which are funded at a revenue 
level of about $137m per annum. These secondary level 
services include:

▪   medical, rehabilitation, community and rural

▪   surgical

▪   maternity and child health

▪   public health

▪   mental health

▪   Māori health

▪   disability support. 

A comprehensive range of diagnostic and commercial 
services such as medical imaging, laboratory, medical records, 
building maintenance and finance supports these services.

CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION
Corporate Services provides corporate infrastructure and 
information systems to support both the Service and 
Business Planning and Provider divisions. The support 
includes:

▪   financial management and payroll services

▪   information technology and management

▪   legal and commercial risk and quality systems

▪   facilities and contract management

▪   materials management: supply and distribution.

There are a number of other functions that are directly 
responsible to the chief executive officer and provide a service 
across both the Service and Business Planning and Provider 
divisions. These include media and communications, human 
resources and industrial relations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Whanganui District Health Board has a set of values 
that recognise responsibilities to stakeholders, patients, 
employees, the community and the environment.

The board places great importance in the highest standards 
of governance and continually reviews its governance 
practices to address Whanganui District Health Board’s 
obligations as a responsible corporate citizen.

PURPOSE & OBJECTIVES
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ROLE OF THE BOARD
The board is responsible to its owner, the Crown, through 
the Minister of Health for the overall governance and 
performance of Whanganui District Health Board.

THE BOARD
The board primarily represents the long-term interest of 
shareholders by:

▪   providing strategic direction to Whanganui District
Health Board through constructive engagement with 
the executive management team in the development, 
execution and modification of the District Strategic 
Plan and WDHB Annual Plan

▪   appointing the chief executive officer

▪   monitoring the performance of the chief executive officer

▪   approving remuneration strategies and policies

▪   providing advice and counsel to management

▪   reporting to the Minister of Health/Ministry of
Health and ensuring that all legislative and regulatory 
requirements are met

▪   ensuring appropriate compliance frameworks and
controls are in place

▪   approving recommendations regarding major
capital expenditure, and significant changes to
major financing arrangements

▪   making decisions in relation to initiatives or matters
otherwise not dealt with as part of the District 
Strategic Plan and WDHB Annual Plan process

▪   approving policies governing the operations of 
Whanganui District Health Board

▪   monitoring financial results on an ongoing basis

▪   ensuring the board’s effectiveness in delivering best
practice governance

▪   ensuring Whanganui District Health Board’s 
     business is conducted ethically and transparently

▪   reviewing strategic risk management including
processes for identifying areas of significant 
business risk, monitoring risk management policies 
and procedures, overseeing internal controls and 
reviewing major assumptions used in the calculation 
of significant risk exposures

▪   listening and responding to the Minister of Health’s
view on the management and direction of Whanganui 
District Health Board

▪   considering the interest of the community
     and stakeholders.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND SIZE
The size of the board is determined through the New 
Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000, which 
provides for a maximum of 11 board members. Seven 
members are elected by the community and four are 
appointed by the Minister of Health. The chairperson and 
deputy chairperson of the board are appointed by the 
Minister of Health. Board members are elected/appointed 
for a term of three years. 

HAUORA A IWI
Whanganui District Health Board has a legislative requirement 
to build and maintain relationships with Iwi Māori under 
section 4 of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability 
Act 2000.  Hauora A Iwi has been established by Whanganui 
District Health Board to contribute to the advancement of 
Māori health outcomes and to ensure access and delivery of 
health services to Māori.

Hauora A Iwi is made up of iwi (tribal entities whom have 
influence within or partly within the Whanganui District 
Health Board region) and their organisations that represent 
tangata whenua. The functions of the Hauora A Iwi Māori 
Relationship Board is to give advice to Whanganui District 
Health Board on behalf of the Iwi collectives on the needs 
and aspirations of the Māori population across our region. 
Whanganui District Health Board acknowledge Hauora A Iwi 
for their ongoing partnership and support over the 2017/18 
financial year. 

The iwi recognised by Whanganui District Health Board 
under Hauora A Iwi are:

▪    Tupoho/Whanganui           ▪    Ngā Rauru Kitahi
▪    Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa         ▪    Mokai Patea 
▪    Ngāti Hauiti                 ▪    Tamaupoko Whanganui.

The Manatu Whakaaetanga Memorandum of Understanding 
between Hauora A Iwi and Whanganui DHB 2017-20 describes 
how 'the boards' work in partnership to improve equity in health 
outcomes for Māori whānau, residing in the Whanganui DHB area. 

The boards share the guiding principles of a common interest 
and commitment to improving equity and advancing Māori 
health; building on understandings and gains already made 
in improving Māori health; acknowledge the impact of health 
determinants and the importance of cross-sector collaboration 
and participation; taking responsibility for where we can 
influence and effect change. Recognising their various roles 
and accountabilities the boards work collaboratively across the 
sector as a whole; recognising the limitations and expectations 
of both boards and that the values, beliefs, and practices of 
both organisations be considered and respected when taking 
into account any legal obligations of a Crown agency, public 
sector organisation or Iwi entity. 

The aim is building a relationship that enables an effective 
partnership that takes them beyond their legislative 
requirements to achieve the goals. The goals are:

   1.   Giving effect to Whānau Ora – the right service, at the 
         right time, in the right place, in the right way.
   2.   Achieving health equity for Māori - monitoring 
         performance through reporting.
   3.   Improving capacity and enhancing capability – systems, 
         delivery options and workforce.

Hauora A Iwi advise and participate in governance decision 
making related to Māori health and have representation on DHB 
statutory committees. The boards meet regularly and jointly 
monitor achievement in improving equity in health outcomes 
for Māori and priority service improvements and initiatives. 

He Korowai Oranga, NZ Māori Health Strategy provides 
strategic direction and guidance to WDHB governance 
and management for Māori health improvement with an 
overarching aim of Pae Ora – healthy futures.

CONDUCT OF BOARD BUSINESS
The board normally holds 10 formal meetings each
year, and will also meet whenever necessary to carry
out its responsibilities.
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When conducting board business, board members have 
a duty to question, request information, raise issues of 
concern, fully canvass all aspects of any issue confronting 
Whanganui District Health Board and vote on any resolution 
according to their judgement.

Board members keep confidential board discussions, 
deliberations and decisions that are not required to be 
disclosed publicly.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Board members are required to continually monitor and 
disclose any potential conflict of interest that may arise. 
board members must:

▪   Disclose to the board any actual or potential conflicts
of interest that may exist as soon as situations arise.

▪   Take necessary and reasonable steps to resolve any
potential conflict of interest within an appropriate 
period, if required by the board or deemed 
appropriate by the board member.

▪   Comply with the New Zealand Public Health and
Disability Act 2000 and Crown Entities Act 2004 
requirements about disclosing interests and 
restrictions on voting.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Board members are encouraged to access members of the 
executive management team, through the chief executive, 
to request relevant information.

Board members are entitled to seek independent advice 
on Whanganui District Health Board related matters at the 
expense of the organisation. Board members must ensure 
that the costs are reasonable, can be met within budget 
and must seek the chairperson’s approval before the advice 
is sought. This advice must be made available to the rest 
of the board.

CORPORATE ASSURANCE
The board receives regular reports about the financial 
condition and operational results of Whanganui District 
Health Board.  

The board receives and considers annual confirmation from the 
chief executive and general manager corporate, stating that:

▪   the organisation’s financial results present a true and
fair view of the financial position and performance

▪  the risk management and internal compliance and
control systems are sound, appropriate and operating 
efficiently and effectively in all material aspects.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The board has overall responsibility for ensuring there is 
a sound system of risk management, internal compliance 
and control across the business.  It also has responsibility for 
establishing risk management policies and the risk appetite 
of the organisation and ensuring these are implemented.
Specific monitoring and evaluation of the effectiveness of 
risk management and the internal control environment 
are delegated to the Risk and Audit Committee made up 
of four board members and two independent members. 
The independent member vacancy at 30 June 2018 has 
since been filled. The committee meets six times a year. The 
Risk and Audit Committee monitors and evaluates a wide 
range of activity within the WDHB.  Key area of focus for the 
committee include: 

Risk framework and monitoring risk 
The committee maintains oversight of the risk framework 
and receives reports on clinical systems and financial risks.  
All strategic and operational risks with a high rating are 
reported to the committee. 

The committee ensures the adequacy of the insurance 
programme and annual renewal process. Patient safety is a 
key focus area.  Financial performance and forecasts are also 
monitored by the committee, particularly adverse trends.

Monitoring health and safety
The committee monitors key risks and the annual health 
and safety system audit assurance activities.  Health and 
safety matters are reported to the full board.

External and internal audit assurance programme, 
internal control systems
After considering key risks and the audit cycle around key 
financial systems, the committee establishes an annual 
internal audit programme. This programme cover both 
clinical and financial systems and can include issue-based 
audits.  The audits are diverse and include for example such 
matters as the equity of health outcomes for Māori, clinical 
governance systems and the management of Accident 
Compensation Corporation revenue.

Our external auditors, Deloitte Limited (appointed by the 
Office of the Auditor-General), carry out an independent 
financial audit of the financial statements and statement of 
service performance annually.  The committee provide input 
into the audit plan and monitor management progress on 
system improvements.

Through the work of internal and external auditor, the 
Risk and Audit Committee are able to form a view of the 
effectiveness of internal control systems.

Monitoring clinical governance, patient safety and privacy
Significant adverse events are reported to the committee 
and board.  Clinical governance and clinical leaders advise 
the committee on key issues, risks and mitigation plans.  
Complaint, incident and privacy trends are monitored and 
reported to the committee.

Monitoring external provider performance
A contract performance audit programme is maintained 
for external providers, including progress on performance 
improvements.  This audit programme coves a wide range 
of providers, including rest home providers, community 
pharmacies and primary health organisations.

Emergency management readiness and business continuity
The committee receives a report on the organisation's 
emergency management plan and readiness annually as 
well response outcomes from mass casualty events.

Monitoring fraud and corruption
The committee receives regular reports on fraud 
management, including fraud detection activities undertaken 
by the Ministry of Health, of the centralised external provider 
payment system. Any suspicions of fraud are investigated 
and outcomes reported to the committee.  The committee is 
advised of any reports made to the national Health Integrity 
Line that involve staff or providers of this DHB. 
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Committees of the Whanganui District Health Board as at 30 June 2018

Combined Statutory Advisory Committee

Stuart Hylton Jenny Duncan
Judith MacDonald
Dot McKinnon
Philippa Baker-Hogan
Darren Hull
Dame Tariana Turia
Annette Main
Charlie Anderson
Graham Adams

Frank Bristol
Matthew Rayner
Maraea Bellamy
Dr Andrew Brown
Leslie Gilsenan
Grace Taiaroa

Darren Hull Jenny Duncan
Dot McKinnon 
Darren Hull
Dame Tariana Turia
Annette Main

Anne Kolbe Clinical and business risk 
management framework 
including compliance and 
internal controls.

Integrity of Financial
Statements and Statement 
of  Performance.

Relationship with external auditor.

Stuart Hylton Dot McKinnon
Graham Adams
Jenny Duncan

Effectiveness, integrity and 
legal compliance of 
remuneration programmes.

Annual review and 
recommendation of
chief executive's 
remuneration package.

Chair Board members External members Functions

Risk and Audit Committee

Executive Employment Remuneration Committee

THE COMMITTEES
The board has established committees to consider certain issues and functions in further detail. The chairperson of each 
committee reports on any matter of substance at the next full board meeting. All committee papers and minutes are made 
available to the board.

There are three standing committees:
▪   Combined Statutory Advisory Committee*  ▪   Risk and Audit Committee ▪   Remuneration Committee.

* Denotes statutory board committee as per the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000. Other committees may be formed from time to time, 
   as required. Each committee has its own terms of reference, approved by the board and reviewed regularly, with additional reviews when appropriate.

The board appoints and reviews membership of external appointees to statutory committees.

The structure and membership of the board and its committees is summarised in the table below.

Assess health needs, disability 
support needs and health status 
of the resident population.

Advise the board on health 
funding priorities and 
promote policy that maximises 
gains, and improves equity, 
in health outcomes.

Annual purchasing plan
and framework as part of 
business planning.

Monitor financial and operational 
performance of the hospital and 
related services.

Assess strategic issues and 
governance policy relating to 
provision of hospital services.

Mary Bennett
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The board meets on a six-weekly basis and holds extra meetings when required for planning or other specific issues.

Dot McKinnon (chair)

Stuart Hylton (deputy chair)

Philippa Baker-Hogan
Judith MacDonald
Jenny Duncan
Graham Adams
Charlie Anderson
Annette Main
Dame Tariana Turia 
Darren Hull 

Board

Frank Bristol
Matthew Rayner
Dr Anne Kolbe
Dr Andrew Brown 
Leslie Gilsenan 
Kate Joblin (to 13 September 2018)

External committee members

Combined 
Advisory

Committee
Risk and Audit

Committee

Board members
6
7
6
7
7
7
5
6
3
5

3
N/A

N/A

N/A

5
N/A

N/A

5
5
6

9
8
7
9
9
9
6
8
7
6

Number of meetings held 9 7 6

Combined 
WDHB & HAI 

4
4
3
4
-
1
-
2
1
-
-
1
1
1

4*

Mary Bennett (chair)

Grace Taiaroa (deputy chair)

Barbara Ball
Maraea Bellamy
Keria Ponga (part year)

Susan Osborne (part year)

Pahia Turia (part year)

James Allen
Hayden Potaka
Cassandra Reid (part year)

Maria Potaka (part year)

Sharlene Tapa-Mosen (part year)

Heather Gifford (part year)

Te Aroha McDonnell (part year)

Hauora A Iwi (HAI)

3
4
-
2
2
4
1
3
1
4

5
7

N/A

4
6

N/A

N/A 

N/A

4
N/A

N/A

2

N/A

4
N/A

3
N/A

3
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

*3 meetings 
 and 1 workshop

BOARD & COMMITTEE MEMBER ATTENDANCE RECORD
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
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OUR BOARD

DOT McKINNON QSM   |    Board chair
"I was appointed to chair Whanganui DHB in December 2013 and in December 2016, was also appointed 
to chair MidCentral DHB. My roles include being an associate in the legal firm, Moore Law, chair of the Four 
Regions Trust (formerly Wanganui Powerco Trust), a member of the Health Practitioner’s Disciplinary Tribunal, 
member of the Health Sector Relationship Agreement committee, member of the DHB National Executive, 
member of the Health Workforce Group. My career has spanned both public and private sectors including 
being Whanganui’s deputy mayor for six years, the managing director of Kingsgate Hotel for 13 years, and a 
Polytechnic lecturer for seven years. I have been a director or trustee of a number of companies, boards or 
trusts including Wanganui District Council Holdings Limited, Aubert Home of Compassion Limited, Whanganui 
College Board of Trustees, Manawatu-Whanganui Regional Lotteries, Whanganui Community Foundation, 
NZ Masters Games Limited, Te Kahui Tupua, Rotary NZ World Community Service, Wanganui Legal Services 
Committee, UCOL Transition Committee plus various other governance roles in the arts, sport and economic 
development units."

PHILIPPA BAKER-HOGAN
"I was elected on the Whanganui District Health Board in 2004 and have also been a councillor for the 
Whanganui District Council since 2006. I have over 20 years experience in the health system. I am a qualified 
medical radiation technologist and am currently managing a primary health practice. Our board employs 
many committed health professionals and support staff but has massive challenges in providing equitable 
health services to our diverse community, which has high health needs. I’m committed to using my 
experience and strong voice to support improved health outcomes for our most vulnerable."

DARREN HULL
"I was appointed to the Whanganui District Health Board in December 2016 following a three-year term on the 
DHB's Risk & Audit Committee, including over two years as chair.
 
"My background includes 14 years in the commercial corporate sector and the same period as a director in 
public practice with local business advisory firm, Venter & Hull Chartered Accountants Ltd.
 
"As a passionate local who has enjoyed raising a family in our wonderful city, it's a genuine pleasure to assist 
with governance of our DHB, with the constant challenge to maximise health outcomes and equity for our 
local population."

GRAHAM ADAMS
"I was first elected to the DHB in 2004 and served just the one term. I was elected again in 2016.
 
"My entire working career has been in various branches of the finance industry - primarily in banking 
but also as a sharebroker/financial advisor. Although born in Wanganui it was not until 1974 that I first 
came to live here when I was appointed to manage the National Bank branch, a term lasting six years 
before being appointed Funds Manager in Head Office, Wellington. I resigned in 1984 and returned to 
live here permanently.
 
"I am a board member of Age Concern and am also the sole remaining original trustee of the Akoranga 
Education Trust founded in 1985 whose "raison-detre" is to provide scholarship and other assistance to 
students who are from the Wanganui district."

CHARLIE ANDERSON
"During the 1970s when there were no dedicated rescue helicopters or fixed wing air ambulances, I was a 
helicopter pilot who regularly flew sick or injured people to the closest hospital. During my 40-year career as 
a helicopter pilot, I was privileged to witness, and be part of, the establishment and growth of New Zealand’s 
excellent air ambulance and rescue services. In 1996 I was again privileged to be awarded the Queen’s Service 
Medal for my role in rescue work and life-saving flights.

"In my time as CEO for Air Wanganui Commuter, we carried out approximately 500 air ambulance flights a year 
from Whanganui alone. Understandably,  I remain committed to the ongoing development of aero medical 
support, Whanganui’s air ambulance service, the Whanganui District Health Board and our district’s health services 
overall. In addition to my role as a first-term WDHB board member, I am also a second-term district councillor."
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JENNY DUNCAN
"As a second term board member, I was elected to the Whanganui District Health Board and the Whanganui 
District Council in 2013. I am an accountant and business coach with wide experience in business and 
community organisations. 

"A robust and accessible health service is essential to a thriving and equitable community and it is my 
commitment to the Whanganui region that we retain the best service this community can afford."

STUART HYLTON
"I was appointed to the board in June 2014 and elected for a second term in 2016, appointed as deputy board 
chair and chair of the Combined Statutory Advisory Committee. I’m Whanganui born and educated and 
currently run my own consultancy business offering services that include strategic development, business 
planning, policy advice, regulatory management and waste management advice. I hold the statutory role 
of Whanganui’s District Licensing (Alcohol) Commissioner. My academic qualifications and professional 
background traverse 25+ years in local government covering a multitude of disciplines.
 "I have held a number of director or trustee roles over the years and am currently involved in both the Central 
Districts and Whanganui Cancer Society Executive, as well as being a director in Whanganui Rotary Club, a 
Waimarie Operations Trustee, a Whanganui Education Trustee and a George Boulton Trustee.

"I’ve always believed that living a healthy, active lifestyle ultimately assists overall health, wellbeing 
and independence. Therefore, I generally advocate for emphasis within our primary and preventative 
health care systems.
 "I look forward to serving on the Whanganui District Health Board and working with management to 
continually improve community access to a responsive and integrated health care system."

JUDITH MACDONALD 
"I was elected to the Whanganui District Health Board in 2010. I have worked in the Whanganui district as a 
clinician and senior manager since the early 1980s initially at Taihape Hospital and latterly in Whanganui.  I hold a 
range of directorships and chair multiple committees related to health and social issues. Currently, I am a director 
of Taihape Health, Whanganui Accident and Medical, and Gonville Health Ltd. My family and I have lived in this 
district all our lives and it is important to me that we have a range of quality health services for our people."

ANNETTE MAIN 
"Joining the WDHB in October 2017 has given me the opportunity to share the knowledge and understanding 
of our community gained when I held the position of Whanganui Mayor for six years.

"This followed 12 years as an elected member on the Manawatu Whanganui Regional Council which 
provided me with the wider regional view needed. I have a balanced perspective on the intersect between 
the health sector and wider aspirations for the wellbeing of our communities."

DAME TARIANA TURIA 
Profile not available at time of publication.
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RUSSELL SIMPSON    |    Chief Executive 
“I have worked in both the public and private sector at clinical, management and executive levels. My 
previous role was as a national general manager in the home and community support sector. Prior to 
that I worked across Hutt Valley and Wairarapa DHBs as an executive director. I originally trained as a 
physiologist specialising in pain management and neurophysiology. I am passionate about improving 
the health of our community with a strong whole-of-health system approach, in partnership with our 
intersectoral partners and our community.”

BRIAN WALDEN    |    General Manager, Corporate & Chief Financial Officer
"As a chartered accountant in private sector finance and business roles, I joined the board in 1995 as 
general manager, finance and planning. 

"I was the general manager, hospital and health services from 1998 to 2004 and then, as general 
manager, strategic developments I led the redevelopment of hospital facilities, including Taihape 
Hospital and implementation of the community oral health project, from 2005 through to 2011. In 
2011, as general manager, corporate, I assumed the responsibilities of chief financial officer, information 
technology, procurement, supply and non-clinical support service functions.

"I have been the central region CFO representative on national projects - Finance Procurement Supply 
Chain; National Food Services project; National Linen and Laundry Service; banking and insurance – and 
am a director of Allied Laundry Limited. I am also the lead CFO supporting the Central Region Health 
Informatics Project.  Whanganui led the central region DHB’s implementation of the regional Clinical 
Portal and Radiology Information systems. Continuing transformation of information systems remains 
a key focus in 2017/18 with replacement of the existing patient management system with the regional 
webPAS system."

SUE CAMPION    |    Communications Manager 
“Trained as a newspaper journalist, I worked for two Manawatu newspapers before winning the 1996 
Qantas Award for feature writing. From there, I joined The Dominion part-time and established my own 
communications/publishing business. 

"Following my move back to Whanganui in 2009, I produced and published three editions of the 
Whanganui Matters business and tourism magazine before joining Whanganui DHB fulltime in 2010. 

"My 20-year career in communications has seen me working in health, education, local government, 
tourism, the arts and Corrections. Of all these sectors, health has been the most rewarding.” 

SANDRA BLAKE    |    Director of Nursing & Patient Safety and Quality 
"As director of nursing, patient safety & quality, I am accountable operationally and professionally for the 
standards of nursing care and patient safety processes and systems. I am also an expert advisor  to the 
Reportable Adverse Events Team at the Health Quality and Safety Commission."

OUR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

HENTIE CILLIERS    |    General Manager People and Performance 
“My professional qualifications and work experience is in human resources and includes management and 
leadership roles in public, non-profit and private organisations in South Africa and New Zealand.

"I joined Whanganui DHB in 2008 and I am passionate about health & wellbeing and building a 
representative workforce to deliver safe quality care for our community.” 
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KIM FRY    |    Director Allied Health 
"My professional qualification and work experience is in social work, working in both physical and 
mental health settings as well as social service organisations in New Zealand and London. I have 
a Bachelor of Social Work and completed a Masters of Social Work after several years of work. My 
experience also includes management, leadership and coordination roles."

DR FRANK RAWLINSON    |    Chief Medical Officer
"I completed medical training at Groote Schuur Hospital in Cape Town gaining MB.ChB. in 1980  
and psychiatric training in the UK, gaining MRC.Psych, in 1987.  I'm married to Rozanna with two 
daughters, Danya and Zara. Arrived in New Zealand and Whanganui on 8 February 1988 and have 
lived here since.

"I view a health literate, activated and engaged patient/community as necessary to enabling 
ongoing improvements in individual and population health.

"I'm an active mountain bike track builder promoting development of critical skills, intergenerational 
social engagement and healthy lifestyle."

ROWENA KUI    |    Director Māori Health 
"I am of Te Ātiawa descent. I am a nurse and midwife by training and have extensive experience 
working in Māori health, rural health, and health service planning and development. I enjoy 
leadership and the opportunity to impart my knowledge and experience to support others to grow 
and develop. I am passionate about Māori health. I believe that the Māori concept of whānau ora 
provides the perfect framework for the district health board and community providers to deliver 
services in such a way that collectively we can make a significantly positive impact on the health of 
Māori whānau and the health of our most vulnerable population groups."

TRACEY SCHIEBLI    |    General Manager Service and Business Planning 
"I trained in commerce, tax law and tax policy however my continued interest in policy 
development led me to the health sector in the mid-1990s. Born in the UK, I have lived in 
Whanganui for most of my life apart from my five years of university education. Prior to 
commencing this role in 2006, I held various roles in the health sector focused on business 
management and service improvement. I worked as an independent consultant for a number 
of years, working on a range of improvement projects across DHBs and community NGOs. I 
currently hold a number of national and regional planning portfolios including national health 
of older people, and regional cardiac service development.

"I am passionate about health improvement and improving equity, and believe there are still many 
opportunities to achieve further health gains for our population. I see planning and improvement 
as a shared responsibility across clinical, business, consumer and community leaders and have 
enjoyed the opportunity to work in a DHB where this is encouraged."
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Kaua e rangiruatia 
te hāpai o te hoe, e 
kore to tātou waka 
e ū ki uta

Do not lift the paddle 
out of unison or our 
canoe will never 
reach the shore 
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OUR   
PEOPLE

 TE  HUNGA ORA
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The WDHB workforce is made up of Nursing/Midwifery (51.8%),  
Administration/Management (20.4%), Allied Health (18.6%), 
Medical (8.6%), and Support (0.5%) employees. 

Whanganui DHB continued to enjoy a stable employee 
complement with an average length of service of 9.76 years. 
The average organisational employee turnover has ben 6.7 
percent for the last five years. 

Employee gender, age, ethnicity and disability information are 
       provided on a voluntary basis. The graphs on this page 
               depict the WDHB’s gender, ethnicity, disability and age
                       profile of participating employees, including 
                            permanent and temporary employees but 
                                excluding casual staff working at the DHB.

WDHB works collaboratively with the six DHBs 
in the central region (MidCentral, Capital & Coast, 
Hawke's Bay, Hutt Valley and Wairarapa) on 
regional and vulnerable services, including 
workforce matters. 

All 20 DHBs support a strong national 
workforce and work collaboratively supporting 
national programmes and policies and 
promoting health as a career of choice.

Age profile

WDHB workforce profile (as at 30 June 2018)
Workforce headcount: 988 employees (excluding casual employees)

Female median age:    48 years Male median age:    50 years

Disability profile
50 employees (5.1 percent) identified with a disability

NATIONALLY 
& REGIONALLY

WORKFORCE PROFILE 
& EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES

Gender
profile

(as at 30 June 2018)

81.8%
Female - 808 employees

18.2%
Male - 180 employees

Employee age
distribution
(as at 30 June 2017)

22.2%
40-49 years

29.4%
50-59 years

17.6%
60-69 years

18.1%
30-39 years

12.9%
20-29 years

0.9%
70+ years

Full-time 
equivalent 

profile
(as at 30 June 2018)

13.8%
Casual employees

37.3%
Full-time 
employees

48.9%
Part-time 
employees

Ethnicity
profile

(as at 30 June 2018)

Ethnicity
profile

(as at 30 June 2017)

11.0%
Māori

6.9%
Other

57.6%
NZ European

13.2%
European

0.7%
Pacific

2.2%
African

0.2%
Middle Eastern

7.8%
Asian
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BEING A GOOD EMPLOYER

OUR WORKFORCE COMMITMENT
Building a workforce with the right number of people, with the right skills, in the right place, at the 
right time, with the right attitude, doing the right work, at the right cost and with the right work output 
(World Health Organization, 2010 Workload indicators of staffing needs).

The executive management team champions equal employment opportunities and leads fair 
and equal treatment of all employees.

We are committed to: 

▪   an open and transparent organisation

▪   a healthy and just workplace

▪   ensuring every staff member enjoys coming to work, and goes home feeling stimulated, challenged
     but professionally rewarded

▪   enabling every staff member to grow professionally; to develop and feel physically and 
     emotionally safe at work

▪   putting patient safety first and always taking precedence over ‘balancing the budget’

▪   expecting staff to hold the executive management team to their commitments

▪   policies and procedures for the fair and proper treatment of employees in all aspects of their employment.

OUR LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES 
In accordance with section 118 of the Crown Entities Act 2004 the WDHB actively maintains and 
implements programmes, policies and initiatives to promote equity, fairness and a safe and healthy 
work environment.

▪   Good and safe working conditions 

▪   An equal employment opportunities programme 

▪   Impartial selection of suitably qualified persons for appointment 

▪   Recognition within the workplace of the aims, aspirations and cultural differences of Māori, 
     other ethnic or minority groups, women and persons with disabilities

▪   Opportunities for the enhancement of the abilities of individual employees.

As a good employer, Whanganui DHB is committed to:

   ▪  a safe, healthy and supportive environment for all 

   ▪  the equal employment, and fair and equal treatment of all employees

    ▪  upholding any legislative requirements. 

We want all our staff to be able to make a personal commitment to practice in a truly patient and 
family/whānau-centred, rather than provider or management-centred way, and to: 

▪   be part of an organisation that really listens to the voice of patients and their  family/whānau

▪   put themselves in the shoes of the patient and whānau and want for them what we would want
     for our own family

▪   welcome the community into Whanganui Hospital and encourage family participation in care and
     decision-making

▪   give a high level of understanding and support to those who make a mistake, with zero 
     tolerance for hiding or not acknowledging our errors

▪   take personal responsibility for having our own voice heard so that every idea to make our 
     environment safer and healthier for patients, families and staff is considered

▪   have the personal courage to stand up and speak out against workplace bullying.
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GOOD EMPLOYER: THE SEVEN KEY ELEMENTS
Whanganui DHB continued to invest in the seven elements of a 'good employer'.

WELLBEING
HEALTH
SAFETY

PREVENTING
HARASSMENT

BULLYING

REMUNERATION
RECOGNITION
CONDITIONS

FLEXIBILITY
WORK DESIGN

DEVELOPMENT
PROMOTION

EXIT

RECRUITMENT
SELECTION
INDUCTION

LEADERSHIP
ACCOUNTABILITY

CULTURE

The WDHB’s ambitions and activities to achieve the seven key elements of being 'a good employer' are summarised below:

OUR AMBITIONS 
▪   Employees, patients and community trust in us.
▪   Visible clinical and devolved leadership. 
▪   Governance processes provide assurance.
▪   Clear direction and articulation of our strategy.
▪   Employees at all levels are engaged.
▪   Employees participate at every opportunity.

OUR ACTIONS
▪   Reporting culture – actively encourage patients to 
     complain and staff to report all accidents, incidents and 
     near misses in order to learn and improve our practices, 
     processes and systems.

▪   Listening to the voice of our patients and family.

▪   Open disclosure conversations with whānau following 
     adverse outcomes.

▪   Engaged board and executive management team.

▪   Leaders visible in the organisation.

▪   Visibility of key organisational activities at executive and 
    governance level i.e. health and safety, patient care, 
    service delivery, system improvement, risks, etc. 

▪   Vision and values articulated in the annual plan and 
     endorsed by the WDHB board.

▪   Whānau ora philosophy and cultural competencies 
     socialised at organisational orientation for all new staff. 

▪   Suitable appointments at all levels.

▪   Continue growing the clinical leadership model across 
     medical, nursing and allied health.

▪   Mistakes/problems are remedied promptly, and are 
     respectful of those involved. 

Leadership, Accountability & Culture

OUR AMBITIONS 
▪   Transparent and fair performance practices.

▪   Supporting career growth, creativity, innovation 
     and service delivery.

▪   Employees engaged in personal and professional growth. 

▪   Fostering key clinical and high performing employees.

▪   Skills and expertise to ensure quality safe service delivery.

▪   Succession planning for key roles. 

▪   Development of required technical, managerial and 
     leadership skills.

▪   Employees speak positively of the WDHB; apply their 
     best efforts to their work, and want to remain part 
     of the WDHB.

OUR ACTIONS
▪   Equitable training and development opportunities for 
     all employees.

▪   Various MECA clauses supporting professional development.

▪   Encouraging and supporting formal and informal growth 
    and development opportunities.

▪   A focus on growing our own workforce.

▪   Career growth opportunities for staff.

▪   Support programme for new graduate Māori 
     nurses - Te Uru Pounamu (see page 59).

▪   Increased number of applicants for vacancies.

▪   Staff who are leaving have the opportunity to provide 
     feedback and suggest improvements.

▪   Twenty-three percent of our nursing and midwifery 
     workforce have completed formal professional 
     development portfolios (10 health care assistants; three 
     enrolled nurses; seven midwives and 96 registered nurses).

Employee Development, Promotion & Exit
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OUR AMBITIONS 
▪   Employee requirements for work/life balance are 
     respected and taken into consideration.

▪   Work design supports healthy and safe workplaces.

OUR ACTIONS
▪   Full-time employees account for 37.3 percent of 
     employees; 48.9 percent work part-time and 13.8 
     percent are casual staff.

▪   Actively utilising safer staffing and rostering principles 
     and tools (CCDM and TrendCare) to determine FTE 
     staffing requirements.

▪   Dashboards (Hospital at a Glance) and bed management 
     meetings enable robust conversations regarding patient 
     numbers and acuity and movement inpacting on staff 
     numbers and skill requirements. This is underpinned by 
     flexible staffing. 

▪   Workstation (ergonomic) evaluations and appropriate 
     equipment to support individual health.

▪   Availability of job sharing arrangements.

▪   Identification and management of fatigue.

Flexibility & Work Design

OUR AMBITIONS 
▪   Zero tolerance approach.
▪   No harassment or bullying.
▪   Employee confidence in WDHB's commitment and actions.

OUR ACTIONS
▪   Zero tolerance of all forms of harassment and bullying.

▪   Specific policies and procedures in place for dealing with 
     harassment and/or bullying complaints. Complaints are 
     investigated promptly (see page 54).

▪   Staff accountability and personal courage to stand up 
     and speak out against workplace bullying is supported.

▪   A formal internal complaints procedure is in place for 
    employees to report incidents of unacceptable 
    behaviour, harassment or bullying.

▪   Provision of appropriate, confidential and accessible 
     support for employees involved in or wishing to report 
     these situations in the workplace (see page 54).

Harassment & bullying prevention

OUR AMBITIONS 

▪   Employees treated as vital and equal partners. 

▪   Recognition for contribution.

OUR ACTIONS

▪  All employee groups, with the exception of those 
    Individual Employee Agreements (IEA), are governed by 
    Multi-Employer Collective Agreements (MECAs) and 
    remuneration and conditions are in line with the 
    collective agreements.

▪   More than 80 percent of WDHB staff are union members.

▪   The WDHB has a transparent, fair, gender-neutral 
     remuneration system which is regularly reviewed.

▪   Transparent job evaluation criteria are in place for a range 
     of employee groups, including a national programme for 
     job grading of senior nursing positions.

▪   Ensuring internal and external equity in remuneration 
     and benefits are fundamental to the WDHB. Annual 
     and sick leave benefits exceed the minimum 
     legislative requirements. 

▪   The WDHB supports and actively promotes the 
     recognition of professional work days such as 
     International Nurses’ Day, Administrative Professionals 
     Day, and International Day of the Midwife. 

▪   Non-financial staff recognition include team functions, 
     awards, letters of thanks, compliments from patients 
     and visitors, and visibility in newsletters.

Remuneration, recognition & conditions

OUR AMBITIONS 
▪   Proactive approach to employee health and wellbeing. 

▪   Employee participation.

▪   Employees are physically, culturally and psychologically safe.

▪   No workplace barriers or obstacles for people 
     with disabilities.

OUR ACTIONS
▪  Staff, patient, visitor and contractor safety is integral 
    to everything the WDHB does. It is non-negotiable and 
    the WDHB is relentless in its focus on improving safety 
    through visible leadership, positive behaviour of staff, the 
    work environment and safe systems, practices and 
    procedures throughout the WDHB (see page 54). 

▪   Management and disclosure of adverse events to 
     ensure a safe quality working environment.

▪   Ongoing training for managers and team leaders 
     regarding their health and safety and injury 
     management responsibilities.

▪   Executive management team reviews long-term 
     absences and injury management activities; monitors 
     progress and support.

▪   Staff report injuries and incidents on the RiskMan 
     incident database. Investigation of injuries/incidents.

▪   Maintained a tertiary-level ACC accredited employer 
     programme membership since 2005 (see page 39).

▪   Staff returning to work from either a work or non-work 
     injury or a medical condition are given the same support.

▪   Updated hazard management registers.

▪   Ongoing manual handling training (see page 39).

▪   Utilisation of new manual handling equipment 
     e.g. hoists, slings and HoverMatts (see page 39).

▪   Commenced implementation of a staff wellbeing approach
      (see page 55).

Wellbeing, health & safety environment



Whanganui DHB, as an equal employment opportunity (EEO) 
employer, is committed to increasing and developing an 
inclusive workforce that continues to embrace diversity. 

Below is a short summary of Whanganui DHB’s 2017/18 
organisational culture, leadership and workforce 
development initiatives:

  ▪   Continuing to grow our own future workforce.

  ▪   Developing a talent pool of future leaders.

  ▪   Aligning our leadership development approach with the 
        nationally agreed approach.

  ▪   Continuing to develop a culturally responsive workforce 
        that reflects our community diversity and needs.

  ▪   Refocusing our performance management framework.

  ▪   Providing opportunities for staff to embrace 
       technology and change.

  ▪   Furthering the enhancement of an organisational culture 
        where all employees are engaged, able to achieve their 
        full potential, work as teams, and feel valued and appreciated.

  ▪   Implementing the Speaking Up for Safety Programme to 
        further enhance our safety culture.

  ▪   Implementing the High Performance, High Engagement 
        (HPHE) Programme.

  ▪   Clarifying and rolling out behaviour expectations 
        following the organisation values refresh.

  ▪   Further increasing staff engagement and implementing 
        a staff wellbeing programme (WorkWell).

  ▪   Using restorative practices to maintain and 
                       improve relationships.

Future perspective
OUR AMBITIONS 
▪   Robust and transparent recruitment and 
    selection processes.

▪   No barriers or biases to the employment of the 
    best person for the job.

▪   WDHB employee demographics appropriately reflect 
    the community it serves.

OUR ACTIONS
▪   Fair and transparent recruitment and selection to 
     ensure we meet current and future workforce needs 
     and retain employees.

▪   Not compromising appointment decisions just for the 
     sake of having someone in the role. Manage short-term 
     risks of carrying a vacancy, rather than bear the long-term 
     consequences of an unsuitable appointment. 

▪   Appointments based on values and fit with the WDHB.

▪   Grow Māori workforce – implementation of Whanganui 
     DHB Māori workforce 'pipeline' and the Ministry of Health's 
     Raranga Tupuake - Māori Workforce Development Plan. 

▪   Proactively promote Health Workforce New Zealand 
     funding for Māori, particularly in kura kaupapa settings. 

▪   Identified areas of nursing and allied health development 
     to align with health gain areas for the district. 

▪   Participation in the regularisation of the kaiāwhina 
     workforce in home and community support services. 

▪   Activities supporting growing our own workforce i.e. 
     health careers promotion in schools and health career days.
      More than 500 secondary school students have attended 
      the annual Whanganui DHB Health Careers Day in March 
      over the last six years.

Recruitment, selection & induction

Whanganui District Health Board
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HEALTH & SAFETY

Currently in place:

▪   Trained health and safety representatives.

▪   Safe rostering practices.

▪   Reporting on the incident management system.

▪   A culture of reporting.

▪   Training e.g. staff working on the wards are trained in managing 
      patients with dementia and de-escalating challenging situations.

▪   Full investigation of critical incidents.

▪   Policies and procedures on managing escalating situations and 
     working safely in the community.

▪   Care plans e.g. close observations for at-risk patients.

▪   Use of security and police e.g. in aggressive or difficult to 
     manage situations.

▪   Personal alarms, where applicable.

▪   Monthly discussions with local police regarding what is 
     happening in our community and the impact on care.

▪   DHB haumoana team who provide advice, guidance and 
     support with escalating situations.

Over the next year continuous improvement will include: 
▪   Establishing a governance group to monitor incidents/trends and 
      report back to management, the board and Risk & Audit Committee.

▪   Ongoing education and training.

▪   Staff and union engagement in addressing concerns and 
     developing solutions.

▪   Strengthen health and safety monitoring of staff working in 
      the community.

Managing aggression and de-escalating 
difficult situations is a top priority for Whanganui 
DHB – staff, managers and board members. 

HEALTH AND SAFETY CHARTER
 Our health and safety vision:

‘We will all have a safe workplace.’

WE BELIEVE THAT:

▪ no business objective will take priority over health & safety

▪ all incidents are preventable

▪ while management have ultimate accountability, we all need to have responsibility for health and safety

▪ staff should feel safe in their workplace and believe they can raise any health and safety concerns freely.

TO ACHIEVE THIS WE WILL:

▪ maintain and continually improve our health, safety and environmental management systems

▪ proactively identify hazards and unsafe behaviours and take all steps to manage these to as low as reasonably practicable

▪ set targets for improvement and measure, appraise and report on our performance

▪ assess and recognise the health and safety performance of employees and contractors

▪ consult and actively promote participation with employees and contractors to ensure they have the training, skills,
    knowledge and resources to maintain a healthy and safe workplace 

▪ accurately report and learn from our incidents

▪ support the safe and early return to work of injured employees

▪ design, construct, operate and maintain our assets so they safeguard people and property

▪ require our contractors to demonstrate the same commitment to achieving excellence in health and safety performance

▪ comply with relevant legislation, regulations, codes of practice and industry standards.

Whanganui District Health Board would like to acknowledge Hawke’s Bay District Health Board for allowing this resource to be adapted for our use.

WE ARE A TERTIARY-LEVEL 
ACC ACCREDITED EMPLOYER  
PROGRAMME MEMBER
The WDHB has participated in the ACC Partnership 
Programme (ACCPP) since 2001.

“Partnership” means a partnership between WDHB 
and its employees in creating, participating in and 
managing good health and safety systems.

A requirement of the ACCPP is that the WDHB health
and safety, and injury management systems are audited 
annually by an ACC accredited auditor to ensure our 
workplace safety and injury management systems and 
processes are in place, and are working.

Our tertiary-level status means we show continuous 
improvement and a best practice framework – evidence
that our health and safety systems are working.

PARTNERSHIP

Whanganui DHB works in partnership with staff 
and unions, supported by relationship frameworks, 
to achieve a healthy workplace.

Accredited Employer 
Programme (AEP)
Whanganui DHB has participated in 
AEP since 2001 and has held tertiary 
level status since 2005. 

Our tertiary status means that we show 
continuous improvement and best 
practice framework evidence that our 
workplace health and safety and injury 
management systems are in place and 
are effective. Tertiary status also means 
that WDHB's health and safety systems 
are audited biennially and injury 
management systems annually by an 
accredited ACC auditor.

High risk hazards
Whanganui DHB has two high risk 
hazards (aggression and manual 
handling) that require managing closely.

Manual handling
The WDHB manages manual handling risk by creating a 
culture where staff understand the risks involved and 
how to work safely. This is enabled by the employment 
of a dedicated manual handling trainer and the 
purchasing of specialised manual handling equipment. 

The dedicated manual handling trainer provides a 
full-day orientation for new staff, three one-day manual 
training sessions (per month) for existing clinical staff, 
three bariatric study days, unit-specific training, and 
training on how to use manual handling equipment. 

Over the past year, the WDHB has purchased several 
items of manual handling equipment including Sara 
Stedys, HoverMatts, HoverJack, mobile hoists and slings, 
Ergokneelers and bariatric patient chairs, commodes, 
wheelchairs and walkers. 

Over the next year continuous improvement will include:

     ▪   Exploring options to engage consistent 
          physiotherapy and OT input into patient care. 

     ▪   Exploring options to install a ceiling hoist in 
          at-risk areas with specialised attachments such 
          as a limb lifter.

     ▪   Trialling additional specialised equipment. 

     ▪   Further training for managers to enable 
          them to identify manual handling injury risks 
          at unit level.

     ▪   Increased focus on the behaviour change 
          required to sustain safe work practices.

     ▪   Developing online learning programmes.

Management of aggression
Whanganui DHB, and specifically the hospital, is a place 
of healing and we recognise that when people are unwell 
their behaviour may change. In many instances, patients 
are confused and this influences their behaviour. Being 
unwell and potentially under the influence of alcohol or 
drugs, further impacts negatively on behaviour.
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Missed appointments for audiology can mean the difference 
between a child hearing, learning and thriving - or a life of 
struggling to hear, failing in school and a downward spiral of 
low self-esteem and lost potential.

Dalreen Larkin, an enrolled nurse in the Outpatient 
Department, was personally aware of the risks. So, when 
Whanganui DHB focused on lifting audiology appointment 
attendance, Dalreen was keen to take up a new role working 
with patients and their families/whānau.

In previous years about 40 percent of Māori (38.3%) and 
Pacifika (44.7%) children were missing their audiology 
appointments. While the hospital counted the cost of lost 
clinical and administrative productivity, the community 
bore the unquantifiable cost of children missing out on  
services they need and deserve.

A project team was developed in June 2017 to look at how 
to improve audiology service delivery and quality of care. 
A cross-sector governance group, including consumer 
representation, was formed in July 2017 to provide 
leadership and oversight. 

One of the main strategies was the introduction of the 
new role: Enrolled Nurse Whānau Support Coordinator. 
In taking up this role, among other things Dalreen began 
phoning every patient the week before, and the day 
before appointments.  

"When I ring them I can pick up on slight pauses in their 
voices . . . and I know they're not going to come. So I'll dig in 
a little bit more.

WE REACHED OUT, WE HEARD 
AND WE LISTENED TO OUR AUDIOLOGY PATIENTS
Manaakitanga - Reaching Out: ‘Listening and hearing’ our audiology patients

For Dalreen, there was a time when the hospital felt less welcoming and becoming a 
nurse was a distant dream. Dalreen combines personal commitment with professional 
skills and knowledge to help us deliver whānau-centred care.
"Given my background as a little girl growing up . . . I felt the 
hospital was a foreign place with lots of important people.”

There was even a time when, as young parents, Dalreen 
and her late husband delayed bringing their critically 
sick daughter to the hospital.

“We were so worried about her but really afraid to 
bother the doctors.”

Growing up Dalreen says her parents and grandparents' 
generations had their Māori culture "smacked out of them".

Now she uses that knowledge to understand Māori patients and 
their needs and help other staff develop their understanding.

"I see ‘me’ walking through the door, especially with Māori. 
It's probably been in the last 10 years when I've come to 
accept I'm brown and I'm proud of it. I love who I am." 

However, when Dalreen was 33 and with seven children, 
she thought she had missed her opportunity to be a nurse. 
Her friend however had other ideas. 

“She was doing her training and she had had enough of 
me because I was always talking the talk but was too 
scared to walk the walk. One day we drove down to UCOL, 
she went inside grabbed an application form . . . she filled 
it out and I just signed it." 

It was anything but plain sailing from there.

"I wanted to quit the very first week. I just thought I can't 
do this." Life also dealt some rough hands to Larkin. Since 
her journey into nursing began her mother, father and 
husband have all died.

But she never wavered in her drive to becoming the best 
nurse she could be.

"Being a nurse is not about me or whatever is going on in 
my life. As soon as you hit the door, that's it - you leave all 
that behind. It's about the person and the patient." 

Sometimes they just need to talk about why it’s so 
important they come. Sometimes I spell out how much it 
costs the hospital and they’re so surprised that that makes 
them come in. Occasionally they just have no way of 
getting in and I need to organise a taxi or work with another 
organisation that can help bring them in.”

For every patient, Dalreen has found she needs to listen 
carefully, use humour and empathy and hear what 
might be getting in the way for them of attending 
hospital appointments.

Dalreen also makes sure when patients come in for 
their appointment that they are welcomed and can feel 
confident they will be respected.

“I had one teenage girl who was so scared that we’d 
force her to wear ’ugly’ hearing aids that she refused to 
come. By talking to her I was able to reassure her and 
when she came in she said she would be happy to come 
to future appointments."

Dalreen has recorded all her interventions on the TrendCare 
system, an acuity tool which measures the level of care 
given to the patient and the results are impressive. In less 
than 12 months there has been a significant decrease 
in missed appointments resulting in increased clinic 
attendance rates across all ethnicities. Most importantly, 
with further intensive follow-up every child is being 
followed up and the equity ratio, the gap between Māori 
and Pasifika children and all other ethnicities has closed.
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Key learnings include:

▪   Effective communication takes patience, 
     empathy, humour and an understanding 
     of how to convey the importance of 
     the appointment. 

▪   Staff need to advocate for patient/whānau 
     and any concerns they may have.

▪   It takes time to build trust before people will 
     share what is going on for them and potentially 
     preventing them from attending appointments. 

▪   It takes a great deal of commitment to track 
    down some patients. We need to work as one 
    team with the haumoana and their networks, 
    primary care providers and our partner 
    organisations including Iwi, PHOs, public health 
    and education, welfare and the community.

▪   Children’s care can be across a number of different 
     whānau members, especially pre-schoolers.

▪   The use of taxi chits can help but needs
     careful allocation and use of judgment.

▪   If we send out appointments that 
     don’t work for people – it won’t 
     work for us either. 

WDHB enrolled nurse Dalreen Larkin
Photo: Bevan Conley
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Whanganui DHB's Falls Prevention Team made good use of 
the 2018 April Falls Month to promote themselves to the local 
community and encourage anyone who has fallen, or is prone to 
falling, to ask for advice and support.

The team’s full-time registered nurse Alida Van 
Den Broek is confident she and her colleagues 
are having a significant impact in helping to 
reduce falls among the elderly and helping 
those who have a fall, to recover.

The Falls Prevention Team is based at 
Whanganui Hospital where they accept 
referrals from GPs, families/whānau, 
community agencies such as Age 
Concern, community and home-based 
support services and St John 
Ambulance, as well as hospital services 
such as the District Nursing Service.

Funded by ACC, the Falls Prevention 
Team helps reduce falls among 
the frail elderly through 
assessments and interventions 
they carry out in a patient’s home.

The team includes Alida, 
part-time occupational 
therapist Nicole Jordan and 
part-time physiotherapist 
Julie Craig who are employed
by the WDHB, and fracture 
liaison service nurse Tina 
Van Bussel who is 
employed by the 
Whanganui Regional 
Health Network.  

WE MADE SURE LOCAL STRENGTH & BALANCE 
CLASSES HAVE THE TICK OF APPROVAL
Whanganui DHB occupational therapist Nicole Jordan 
was appointed to a new role as a member of WDHB’s Falls 
Prevention Team. She is also a lead agent (funded by ACC) 
responsible for supporting community strength and 
balance programmes for the elderly to ensure they are 
evidence-based and can make a difference.

Nicole says ACC, WDHB and community agencies are 
working in partnership to help elderly residents prevent 
falls because “we know how debilitating they are and we 
recognise that it makes sense for all parties to work together 
to help people strengthen their legs and improve their 
balance so they can remain active”.

“Besides causing harm, pain and suffering, falls have a 
huge impact on a person’s overall quality of life and their 
confidence and ability to mobilise independently.” 

Nicole says ACC and the DHB want to see any groups who 
offer community-based exercise classes for the elderly to be 
able to show that they have the ACC ‘tick’ of approval - proof 
that their exercise regime is promoting the right exercises to 
help improve an older person’s strength and balance.
 
“I’m enjoying meeting with those offering physical activities 
for the elderly,” Ms Jordan says. “I’m encouraged the message 
that people need to exercise to maintain their strength and 
balance is being heard. 

“It’s widely accepted that from the day we’re born we need to 
exercise for the benefit of our health and wellbeing. But where 
I think we’ve seen a big change is – people now understand 
how important it is to maintain exercise when you’re older and 
more likely to suffer harm from a fall.”

Alida says they had one client who contacted her directly when 
an injury left him unable to continue his attendance at strength 
and balance exercise classes in town. She arranged to visit the 
man and assess his home environment before seeking support 
from the rest of the team to get him ‘back on his feet’.

      “For a man who lives on his own, it’s very important to him 
               that he’s mobile and able to lead a full life. He wanted 
                    to be able to get out and socialise, continue his 
                      voluntary work and maintain a good level of 
                         independence,” Alida says.

                            “The reasons why people have falls are many
                                and varied. It could be due to medical 
                                  reasons, reduced mobility and the 
                                    environment that a person is living in, 
                                      their diet, their medication, sight and/or 
                                        hearing or a reduced ability to look 
                                          after oneself. 

                                              “When we complete our assessments 
                                                    we’re looking at the wider 
                                                       picture and in doing so, often 
                                                          find ourselves referring a
                                                            patient to other services 
                                                             such as a diabetes clinic or
                                                               medication review.

                                                             “We advise people to request 
                                                                a referral during their next 
                                                                 GP appointment, but if 
                                                                  that’s not possible or 
                                                                  practical, we suggest 
                                                                  people phone our Falls 
                                                                         Prevention Service directly.”

Falls Prevention Team registered 
nurse Alida Van Den Broek

WE COMBINED EFFORTS WITH OTHERS 
IN AN EFFORT TO REDUCE FALLS IN OUR ELDERLY
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Former Wanganui harbour master and master of the 
PS Waimarie Trevor Gibson has led an active and interesting 
life both at sea and on land. His late wife used to say he had 
salt water in his veins. 

Octogenarian Trevor was proud of the fact that age hadn’t 
slowed him down and he was taking good care of himself. 
And then he had a fall in 2017 which ‘threw’ him.

Besides the fact he’d had a cataract operation, Trevor was 
troubled by a sore back which had made him unsteady and 
susceptible to falling. He lost his confidence and started 
doubting if he was doing as well as he thought he was. He’d 
been doing the circuit at Splash Centre gym for a couple 
years to keep up his fitness but he knew he needed help.

When he saw an advertisement about Whanganui DHB’s 
Falls Prevention Service, he gave them a call. 

Falls Prevention team registered nurse Alida Van Den Broek 
visited Trevor and they got on like a house on fire. Initially, 
Alida taught him strength-building exercises to do at home 
while he recovered from the fall, then she referred him to 
Age Concern to encourage Trevor to join their Steady As 
You Go classes. 

He started going to the classes and really enjoyed 
them plus the fact that once a month after class, 
the group meets for coffee.

On top of the Steady As You Go classes, Trevor has 
continued his exercise programme with another group 
called Carla’s Group Fitness run by Carla Langmead. He’s 
dropped his circuit training at the Splash Centre which 
he says had become too much for him following two 
knee replacements. 

“While I use a walker for gardening and around the house, 
I don’t use any aids in my exercise class and hope I won’t 
need to,” Trevor says. “I’m a firm believer that if you don’t 
use it, you lose it.” 

In early 2018, Trevor attended a WDHB board meeting 
where he gave a spirited presentation about the wonderful 
support he’d had from Alida and how grateful he is to her for 
helping get his life back on track after his fall.

“It’s been wonderful watching Trevor build up his strength 
and confidence,” Alida says. “It’s enabled him to remain 
an active member of the community which was very 
important to him.”

OUR FALLS PREVENTION TEAM HELPED PEOPLE 
LIKE TREVOR GET BACK ON COURSE AGAIN
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They knew it wouldn't be easy, but Whanganui DHB board 
members Stuart Hylton and Dame Tariana Turia committed 
to drinking water last year to support the national 'Switch to 
Water' campaign. 

The New Zealand Dental Association challenged the public 
to drink water only for 30 days in November, in the hope it 
would encourage participants to carry on doing so once the 
challenge ends.

Mr Hylton and Dame Tariana are strong supporters of any 
effort to discourage Whanganui residents from consuming 
sugary drinks – and particularly children. They say anything 
that will help cut the level of decay in the teeth of Whanganui 
residents is a good move.

“Our children have one of the highest levels of tooth decay in 
New Zealand so to see adults rejecting sugary drinks in favour 
of drinking water only, sets a very good example for them to 
follow,” Dame Tariana says.

“I was delighted to be asked to spearhead the WDHB’s 
support for the 'Switch to Water' campaign which ran 
for the month of November.”

WE LED BY EXAMPLE & ENCOURAGED 
WATER AS THE BEST CHOICE

WDHB deputy chair Mr Hylton said given that WDHB board 
chair Dot McKinnon took on the challenge in 2015, he felt it 
was only right that he stepped up and took on the challenge 
the following year. 

“I like the fact we are encouraging 
people to drink water - a natural 
resource that is readily and freely 
available to all via our taps.”
In his role as chair of the WDHB’s Combined Statutory 
Advisory Committee he leads regular discussions around 
tooth decay, how it impacts on the health and wellbeing of 
children and adults who need to have teeth removed, and 
the costs involved for them and the DHB.   

Those interested were able to register for the 30-day 
challenge and receive a weekly email reminding them 
about the challenge and some tips/information to help 
them along the way. 

Mr Hylton and Dame Tariana encouraged classrooms of 
children, businesses, work colleagues and groups of friends 
to sign up for the challenge.

Whanganui District Health Board
46   |   Annual Report 2017 / 18

WDHB Dental Services clinical manager Barb Dewson 
and board members Stuart Hylton and Dame Tariana Turia
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WE WORKED HARD TO 
REDUCE CHILD OBESITY
The percentage of children identified as obese during 
their B4 School Check has steadily fallen over the past 
two years – a result Whanganui DHB has worked hard 
to achieve.

WDHB Service & Business Planning portfolio manager Jon 
Buchan says the percentage of Māori children considered 
obese has dropped from 20 percent in Quarter 4 of the 
2015/16 year to 9.3 percent in Quarter 2 of the 2017/18 year.

For children categorised as ‘other’, the percentage has fallen 
from 11.4 percent to 8.2 percent over the same period. Jon 
believes there are several reasons for the turnaround.

“I think the Healthy Families* initiative’s wide-ranging reach 
and focus on connecting with Māori, the WDHB Health 
Promotion team’s ongoing efforts to reduce sugary drinks and 
the introduction of the Be Smarter Tool and resources have all 
contributed to the result we’re seeing,” Mr Buchan says.

Whanganui Hospital’s Maternity and Children’s Wards are 
encouraging patients, family members, visitors and ward 
staff to choose water as their preferred drink and to support 
‘Water is Best’ both in the hospital and at home.
 
Whanganui DHB Oral Health project manager Felicity 
Spencer says staff are being asked to lead by example. 
And parents and visitors are being encouraged to avoid 
bringing sugary drinks into the hospital.

WE WORKED TOWARDS WATER PROMOTING WARDS

“The Be Smarter Tool (which helps families set goals to 
improve the health of their children) introduced into all 
general practices and Well Child Tamaraki Ora providers is 
helpful in ensuring families receive consistent messaging 
and approaches to reducing obesity.

“It’s heartening to think that by working together at a 
community level, health agencies, pre-schools and programmes 
are improving the wellbeing of our pre-school population 
while also reducing the differences in health status that exists 
between Māori and non-Māori children.”

* Healthy Families NZ is a large-scale initiative that brings 
  community leadership together in a united effort for better
  health. It aims to improve people's health - where they live, 
  learn, work and play - in order to prevent chronic disease. 

“We know parents like to bring treats in for their children 
but when those treats include sugary drinks, we want to 
raise awareness about the damage these drinks can do to 
their child’s teeth and long-term health,” Mrs Spencer says.
 
“As a DHB, it’s important we show leadership in providing 
and encouraging healthier food and drinks. It’s well known 
many people end up in hospital with diseases resulting 

from what they eat and drink.
 
“Healthy choices need to begin at a young age to 
help people of all ages prevent tooth decay and 
obesity. Every child deserves a healthy start in life.”
 
Mrs Spencer says it’s worth remembering that drinks 
considered ‘healthy’ such as juice and sports drinks, 
contain significant amounts of sugar. 

“A glass of juice contains approximately 6.5 
teaspoons of sugar, and a bottle of sports drink 
approximately, 14 teaspoons. It is recommended 
that children have no more than six teaspoons of 
added sugar in their diets per day.”
 
There are plans afoot for 100 children admitted 
into the Children’s Ward to receive a ‘goody’ bag 
with a 'Water is Best' water bottle sponsored by 
Sport Whanganui, a toothbrush and toothpaste,   
 and written material about dental health for 
 their parents and themselves.
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Whanganui Stop Smoking Service, Nga Taura Tuhono,  
celebrated its first year knowing that, compared with all other 
New Zealand ‘quit’ services, they have achieved the highest 
rate of engagement with people who smoke – and more 
importantly, that many of those people have quit altogether.

Whanganui Stop Smoking Service clinical director Dr John 
McMenamin says while the Ministry of Health had set a 
target last year for New Zealand’s quit services to engage 
with five percent of smokers in their region, the Whanganui 
service exceeded the target by engaging with 9.2 percent of 
the region's smokers.

“And furthermore, with the help of carbon monoxide 
meters, 43 percent of those people were validated as having 
quit,” Dr McMenamin says. 

“Understandably the five organisations who make up the 
Whanganui Stop Smoking Service - Whanganui Regional 
Health Network, Te Oranganui, Health Solutions Trust, 
Taihape Health and Whanganui District Health Board – are 
delighted with this result. 

“We attribute this success to three factors: A strong partnership 
between providers; integration with general practice, the 
hospital and other health providers; and importantly, a highly 
skilled and approachable quit team whose efforts resulted in a 
high number of word-of-mouth referrals.

OUR SMOKING CESSATION INITIATIVES 
EXPERIENCED HIGH ENGAGEMENT

Committed Smokefree advocates Candace Sixtus and Rosie McMenamin 
have been busy promoting the fact most Whanganui district pharmacies are 
offering free Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) patches, lozenges and 
gum to those wanting to quit smoking.

“More than 1500 people have been referred to, or walked 
into one of the service's centres at the Quit Clinic in 
Wicksteed Street, the Te Oranganui campus, Gonville Health, 
Rangitikei Health Centre, and school and community sites in 
Taihape and Raetihi,” Dr McMenamin says.

“Last year, the number of people 
living in the Whanganui region who 
smoke dropped to 9000, so with 
more than 500 people committing to 
a definite quit date over the last year, 
this number is falling by the day.” 
Dr McMenamin says the Whanganui Stop Smoking Service 
plans to build on its success by offering an incentivised 
programme to help pregnant women to stop smoking. 
Midwives, GPs and practice nurses are working together 
on this approach. 

The Whanganui Stop Smoking Service says everyone 
involved in helping people to stop smoking through 
this shared approach to smoking cessation, can be 
very proud of what has been achieved in one year. 

Thanks to a Pharmac-led decision to change prescribing 
rules, smokers can now walk into pharmacies nationwide 
to ask for all three items without a doctor’s script – a 
scheme almost all Whanganui district pharmacies have 
signed up to. 

When the scheme kicked off in March, Candace and Rosie 
were hopeful a good number of Whanganui district’s 
9000 smokers would seek support to quit for the sake of 
themselves and their whānau. They saw the pharmacy 
initiative as a great opportunity for smokers to tap into 
and it appears many smokers agreed with them.

Rosie says pharmacies have told her as a result of publicity 
about the scheme they’d had pleasing numbers of smokers 
walk in, enquire about the free patches, lozenges and gum 
and take the opportunity to be referred to the regional 
stop smoking service, Nga Taura Tuhono.

Despite the annual 10 percent price rises on 1 January 
and all the publicity that’s in place to persuade people 
to become smokefree, a fifth of Whanganui’s population 
(which includes one in three Māori and one in four 
Pasifika) continues to smoke.

Based on $25 a day for a pack of 20 cigarettes ($175 a 
week), the cost of smoking now sits at around $9200 per 
year which is significant sum of money for most people. 
If people choose not to seek support from pharmacies 
and the regional stop smoking service, they have 
the option of seeking support through their general 
practitioner, Te Oranganui and Quitline.
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WITH ALL INJURIES:

SPORTS Injury & illness treatment 

and referral information

ALL: If concerned, call local doctor or Healthline 0800 611 116. If an emergency, call 111 or go to ED.

Sprain, strain 
& possible 
fracture

IMMEDIATE TREATMENT

Check the injured area

Go to the Emergency 

Department if in severe 

pain and limb is pale, cold 

and/or deformed.

Emergency

3

Visit an after hours service 

if can’t use limb as normal 

and its very painful.

Weekend

2

To rest and follow RICED 

guidelines if minor swelling 

and bruising.

Home (Self Care)

IMMEDIATE TREATMENT

Check the injured area

Where to
go nextWhere to
go next

Cuts and
wounds

IMMEDIATE TREATMENT

Clean     Cover    Check

Go to the Emergency 

Department if wound is 

large or deep and there is 

large blood loss.

Emergency

3

Visit an after hours service 

if wound is gaping, has dirt 

or something else in it.

Weekend

2

Call your general practice 

(GP) if wound is gaping, 

has  something in it, or is 

not healing after 2 days.

Weekday

1

To rest and monitor 

minor wounds.

Home (Self Care)

Where to
go next

 

Head injury

IMMEDIATE TREATMENT

Check concussion symptoms:

unconscious, drowsy, can’t 

move limbs, vomiting

Call 111 if unconscious or 

go to ED if drowsy, acting 

strange, vomiting, can’t 

move parts of body.

Emergency

3

Visit an after hours service 

if any loss of consciousness 

or in severe pain.

Weekend

2

Call your general practice 

(GP) if in severe pain or brief 

loss of consciousness.

Weekday

1

To rest and monitor, if 

minor knock to head.

Home (Self Care)

Where to
go next

Call your general practice 

(GP) if in pain or can’t use 

limb as normal.

Weekday

1

•    OPTIONS FOR FURTHER TREATMENT:

    Weekdays: 
      Call your general practice (GP) or Healthline 

       on 0800 611 116.

    Weekends: 
       For urgent or after hours care, contact your general practice 

       in the first instance for advice. Or visit the Whanganui 

       Accident & Medical (WAM) service located at Whanganui 

       Hospital. Open every day from 8am-9pm.

•    QUICK ASSESSMENT

      Ideally by a trained first aider:

      Can the patient get to the sideline?

      If not, call 111.

•    AT THE SIDELINE:

  •    Provide immediate treatment

    •    Provide information on what to do and 

          where to seek further treatment.
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The ‘Where should I be?' campaign was designed this year 
to provide members of the public in the Whanganui region 
with information about when and where to go for health 
care and advice.

A joint effort by providers of primary and secondary 
health services, it’s all about helping people get the most 
appropriate health care for the illness or injury they are 
experiencing at the right place . . . first time.

The ongoing campaign focuses on providing clear, 
consistent messages across the Whanganui health sector 
and community by working with healthcare providers in 
both primary (GP practices) and secondary care (hospital). 
A number of campaign resources such as posters and 
brochures have been developed for distribution and use 
throughout the community including kohanga reo, 
schools and sports clubs.

WE WORKED WITH OTHERS TO COMMUNICATE WHERE 
TO GET THE RIGHT CARE . . . AT THE RIGHT TIME

A key driver for the campaign was to help manage demand 
for acute services in the region. A key focus was on reducing 
urgent after hours/emergency department presentations 
for illnesses and injuries that could easily (and often more 
quickly) be treated by a patient’s GP or other primary 
healthcare provider - especially during the winter months.

The campaign resources use a ‘traffic light’ system to visually 
and simply communicate messages about the options 
available for accessing health information or care, particularly if 
it is outside normal hours or if people consider it to be urgent.

The information also provides tips for how to keep you and 
your whānau well in winter such as videos about how to 
your home warm and dry, and therefore more healthy.

Visit: 
www. manageme.org.nz/healthy-living/where-should-i-be
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KEEP WELL
TOP TIPS
▪   Get your annual flu vaccination – it’s one of the best ways to keep yourself well.
▪   Keep you, your whānau and your home warm.▪   Keep active and get lots of fresh air.▪   Wash and dry your hands thoroughly      to keep germs away.
▪   Cover coughs and sneezes.▪   Warm up before sport and cool      down and stretch afterwards.▪   Attend check-ups for any      existing conditions. 

▪   Avoid smoking. Call the      local stop smoking service      on 0800 200 249.

If you’re unwell, stay home and rest up to stop germs from spreading.

THIS
WINTERMauri Ora, Mauri Tangata

UNWELL OR INJURED?Where should I be?

2General
Practice (GP)& After Hours

1
Home
(Self Care)

3 
 
Emergency (ED)

• Call Healthline 0800 611 116 – for free medical advice 24hrs/day.
• Home for rest, regular fluids and pain relief, if required.• Talk to your pharmacist – they are a good source of information.
• Contact your general practice team first.• For urgent or after hours care, contact your general practice in 

   the first instance for advice. Or visit the Whanganui Accident & 
   Medical (WAM) service located at Whanganui Hospital. Open 
   every day from 8am-9pm.•	Emergency Department for emergencies. 
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Visit an after hours service 
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and its very painful.

Weekend

2
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and bruising.

Home (Self Care)

IMMEDIATE TREATMENT

Check the injured area

Where to
go nextWhere to
go next

Cuts and
wounds
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Clean     Cover    Check

Go to the Emergency 

Department if wound is 

large or deep and there is 

large blood loss.

Emergency

3

Visit an after hours service 

if wound is gaping, has dirt 

or something else in it.

Weekend

2

Call your general practice 

(GP) if wound is gaping, 

has  something in it, or is 

not healing after 2 days.

Weekday

1

To rest and monitor 

minor wounds.

Home (Self Care)

Where to
go next

 

Head injury

IMMEDIATE TREATMENT

Check concussion symptoms:

unconscious, drowsy, can’t 

move limbs, vomiting

Call 111 if unconscious or 

go to ED if drowsy, acting 

strange, vomiting, can’t 

move parts of body.

Emergency

3

Visit an after hours service 

if any loss of consciousness 

or in severe pain.

Weekend

2

Call your general practice 

(GP) if in severe pain or brief 

loss of consciousness.

Weekday

1

To rest and monitor, if 

minor knock to head.

Home (Self Care)

Where to
go next

Call your general practice 

(GP) if in pain or can’t use 

limb as normal.

Weekday

1

•    OPTIONS FOR FURTHER TREATMENT:

    Weekdays: 
      Call your general practice (GP) or Healthline 

       on 0800 611 116.

    Weekends: 
       For urgent or after hours care, contact your general practice 

       in the first instance for advice. Or visit the Whanganui 

       Accident & Medical (WAM) service located at Whanganui 

       Hospital. Open every day from 8am-9pm.

•    QUICK ASSESSMENT

      Ideally by a trained first aider:

      Can the patient get to the sideline?

      If not, call 111.

•    AT THE SIDELINE:

  •    Provide immediate treatment

    •    Provide information on what to do and 

          where to seek further treatment.

HEAD INJURYWhat to do next

1 Home (Self Care)if minor headache after injury.

2
for assessment if brief  loss of consciousness  or in pain.

 

3 ED (Emergency Department)if drowsy, acting strange, vomiting, can’t move parts of body, blurred vision,  slurred speech.

General Practice (GP)



In early 2018, four Whanganui DHB staff members appealed 
to their workmates to ‘give cycling a go’ during the February 
Aotearoa Bike Challenge.

Health promoters Karney Herewini and Kylee Osborne, 
physiotherapy clinical coordinator Carol Ramsden and 
community mental health nurse Grant Hird encouraged 
staff, their family/whānau and friends to spend 10 minutes 
or more a day riding their bike to improve their fitness and 
see if it’s something they might consider doing year round.

“The Aotearoa Bike Challenge is the perfect opportunity for 
people of all ages to ride their bikes and enjoy the freedom 
that cycling offers,” Mr Herewini says.

“Besides the health benefits we gain from biking, and the 
fun you can have with family and friends, it costs a lot less 
than driving a car to and from work.”

Thirty-four WDHB staff members participated in the 
previous year’s Aotearoa Bike Challenge which saw 1000 
organisations register for the challenge nationwide. This 
year, 52 Whanganui DHB staff participated and collectively 
cycled more than 6000km during the month.

WE CHALLENGED OUR COLLEAGUES 
TO GET ACTIVE ON THEIR BIKES

Mrs Osborne says it’s fun, free and encouraging in the way 
in which points are allocated based on the number of staff 
participants and rides logged.

“Anyone can take part and you can ride when and wherever 
you feel comfortable. As the month passes and rides are 
logged, staff go into a draw for prizes. It’s a good team 
builder, encourages staff to participate in physical activity 
and it encourages them to think about sustainability and 
transport options.”

Other Whanganui organisations who registered to 
participate in the challenge included:

     ▪   Whanganui Police
     ▪   Whanganui District Council
     ▪   Whanganui City College
     ▪   Wanganui Cancer Society
     ▪   Bike Users Group
     ▪   Te Oranganui
     ▪   Ngā Tai o Te Awa
     ▪   Opus International Consultants.
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From left: WDHB physiotherapy clinical coordinator 
Carol Ramsden, mental health nurse Grant Hird 
and health promoter Kylee Osborne



Another significant piece of the regional health information 
computer system went live through the year as our 
organisation made the transition to a new regional patient 
administration computer system (webPAS) in mid-February.

Implementation of the regional webPAS patient administration 
system expands the stable of key clinical IT systems that 
Whanganui DHB has moved onto the shared regional system 
over recent years. 

The webPAS system is part of the Regional Health Informatics 
Programme - a large programme of work across the Central 
Region DHBs – which supports the Ministry of Health’s vision 
of a national, shared health information model.  

It enables more efficient and safer delivery of health services 
through the centralisation and appropriate sharing of 
patient records between DHBs in the lower North Island. 
Through the shared system, health professionals can access 
important patient information from any hospital in the 
lower North Island. 

WDHB corporate general manager Brian Walden says the 
implementation of the webPAS system entailed a significant 
and ongoing change programme to prepare the organisation 
prior to, and after, go-live. 

“The system we replaced had been in place for more than 
20 years,” Mr Walden says. “And, because it was used by the 
majority of our staff, the scale of the change was one of the 
largest experienced by our DHB. 

“Our change programme is ongoing because, understandably, 
it takes time to adjust to a change of this size.” 

“Following some early challenges we are now realising the 
benefits that come from being more connected to our 
regional partners and having patient records more available 
across the Central Region DHBs.” 

MidCentral and Wairarapa DHBs went live on the regional 
webPAS in December 2017 and January 2018 respectively. 
In time, they will be joined by Hawke’s Bay, Capital & Coast 
and Hutt Valley DHBs.

Prior to webPAS, Whanganui DHB transitioned to the regional 
Clinical Portal and Radiology Information (RIS) systems. As 
with webPAS, continued development of these systems is 
ongoing in an effort to better meet the needs of clinicians 
across the lower North Island.

Regionally, Hawke's Bay DHB have been working towards 
their go-live on the regional Clinical Portal in September 2018. 
Capital & Coast DHB plans to transition to the regional RIS and 
share their data on the regional platform by the end of 2018.   

WE CONTINUED TO UPGRADE 
OUR CLINICAL IT SYSTEMS
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52 STAFF
ENGAGED & 
TOOK ON THE 
CHALLENGE

6,000
KILOMETRES
CYCLED IN
FEBRUARY

522KG 
CO2 SAVED
FROM CYCLING
IN FEBRUARY

23RD PLACE
FOR ORGANISATIONS
WITH 500-1999 EMPLOYEES

586
JOURNEYS
COMPLETED
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OUR UROLOGY PATIENTS ARE WELL SUPPORTED 
THANKS TO CLINICAL NURSE SPECIALISTS
Urology clinical nurse specialists Deb Jennings and Erica Griffiths are slightly 
embarrassed, but pleased to hear, their manager Judie Smith can’t speak 
highly enough about them.

“Erica and Deb support urology cancer patients 
right through their journey from beginning to 
end which is a new and very successful way for 
us to work with these patients,” Judie says. “This 
reflects our focus on patient-centred care.

“Given the fact we don’t 
have a urology specialist in 
Whanganui and we rely on 
MidCentral, it’s key that our 
patients have confidence that 
we have two highly competent 
nurses they can rely on.”

The addition of the uro-oncology component 
of the role has allowed Erica to be involved with 
the Road Map group which is a collaboration 
between consumers, the Cancer Society and 
DHB staff. Their aim is to direct men with a 
diagnosis of prostate cancer to information that 
will help them decide the type of treatment they 
want, in a format they can understand.

The Road Map aims to bridge the significant 
difference in health literacy between consumers 
and health providers – an exciting initiative for the 
service to be involved in.
     
Erica has spent time building a good relationship 
with the MidCentral Urology team to the point she’s 
even helped them out when they’ve been short 
  staffed. And Deb is also keen to meet with and 
     gain work experience with the MidCentral team. 

        Whanganui DHB’s partnership with 
          MidCentral DHB has been in place for 
            around eight years, but all going well, it 
              will strengthen with time thanks to our 
                  two urology CNSs.

Following a challenging period which saw the WDHB’s 
urology clinics understaffed, Judie says Deb and Erica 
are working on building an improved Urology Service 
which, thanks to new funding, includes support for 
patients with urological cancers. There are currently 
three urology specialists coming over from MidCentral 
DHB to see patients but with a locum joining their 
team in the near future that number may rise to five. 
This will increase consultant clinics in Whanganui.

Erica joined the urology team in July 2017 on 
secondment from her then role as a continence clinical 
nurse specialist. She enjoyed the experience so much 
she opted to remain in urology. 

In March this year she was joined by Deb who for some 
years had worked in Capital & Coast DHB’s Urology 
Service before moving to Whanganui where she worked 
in pre-admission for our Outpatients Service.

From left: WDHB urology clinical nurse specialists 
Erica Griffiths and Deb Jennings
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The Speaking Up for Safety Programme©, the Safety C.O.D.E™and Speaking Up for Safety, are the property of Cognitive Institute and are used under license.

Speak Up for SafetyTM easily and 

respectfully using the Safety C.O.D.E.TM

We've got  
your back!

Manaakitanga

In 2017, Whanganui DHB signed up to the Speaking Up 
for Safety™ Programme provided by the Australian-based 
Cognitive Institute - part of the not-for-profit Medical 
Protection Society.

With the support of the DHB’s board, we committed 
to implementing Speaking Up for Safety to encourage 
and enable our workplace to further develop a 
high-performance culture in which we consistently 
provide safe, high quality services to our community.   

A year later, Speaking Up for Safety is having a significant 
impact on staff members who report feeling comfortable 
and supported in speaking up about safety and quality 
issues they know need to be addressed to achieve the 
safest and best care for our patients – as well as a safe 
environment for staff.

The key measures of 
our success are very 
simple - Whanganui Hospital 
is a place where staff want 
to work, and where they 
want their family and 
themselves to receive 
treatment when needed.

A number of activities have 
taken place during the past 
year including:

▪   appointment of six 
     Speaking Up for Safety 
     Programme trainers 

▪   all staff attending a 
     compulsory one-hour 
     Speaking Up for Safety 
     session training

▪   all new staff are being trained 
     in Speaking Up for Safety 
     during their orientation. 

When 80 percent of our staff 
were trained on how to use the 
Speaking Up for Safety 'Safety 
Code', we moved to the next 
stage - Promoting Professional 
Accountability (PPA). 

WE WORKED HARD TO 
FURTHER IMPROVE OUR SAFETY CULTURE

The PPA framework provides a system that allows staff to 
confidentially document (we call this a notification) their 
safety concerns when they feel they can’t speak up to a 
colleague. Importantly, it also provides the opportunity 
to record the positive things colleagues do to keep our 
patients and staff safe. When it’s difficult to pass on a 
compliment face-to-face, staff have this option to make 
sure it reaches the person.

In total, 60 managers have been trained on how the 
system works and what their responsibilities are within the 
PPA framework. Information on the PPA framework was 
provided to all staff as we moved closer to the launch.
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Whanganui DHB chief executive Russell Simpson took time 
during the year to sign the WorkWell Wellbeing Programme 
Pledge - a signal our DHB’s continued commitment to 
improving the health and wellbeing of its workforce. 

WDHB health promoters and WorkWell programme leads 
Karney Herewini and Kylee Osborne say WorkWell is an 
initiative designed to help workplaces conduct their 
everyday business in a way that leads to improved staff 
wellbeing. This in turn allows a staff member to flourish 
and achieve their full potential for the benefit of themselves 
and their organisation. 

“Put another way – WorkWell is 
a workplace programme which 
supports the development of a 
healthy working environment and 
encourages improvements in staff 
wellbeing,” Karney says. 

The programme (developed by Bay of Plenty DHB’s Public 
Health Service Toi Te Ora) provides the framework that will 
support us in developing and implementing an effective 
and sustainable workplace wellbeing programme. 

WE STARTED WORKING TOWARDS A 
HEALTHIER WORKFORCE

One of the first steps of the programme was to run the 
WorkWell staff survey which took place in June with a 
great 47 percent response rate from staff. Once collated, 
results from the survey will provide a snapshot of where our 
workplace is currently at, while also helping to identify and 
prioritise the health of our workplace. The prioritised needs 
identified within the survey are likely to fall into several of 
the following areas: healthy eating, physical activity, mental 
health and wellbeing, smoking cessation, alcohol and other 
drugs, breastfeeding, infection control and immunisation, 
and sun safety. 

Our next step is to develop a WDHB Staff Health and 
Wellbeing Plan, which will be staff-driven and informed by 
the survey responses, to help create an environment that 
is conducive to improving our staff’s physical, mental and 
emotional wellbeing.

Our initial focus is to achieve Bronze WorkWell Accreditation 
by the end of 2018. Long-term, we’re aiming for Gold.

Other local organisations participating in WorkWell are:

▪   Lilburns Transport ▪   Ruapehu Doctors
▪   Te Oranganui  ▪   New World Ohakune
▪   Gonville Health  ▪   Taihape Health
▪   Whanganui Regional Health Network.
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Chief executive Russell Simpson (centre) pledges WDHB's 
commitment to the WorkWell staff health and wellbeing programme 

witnessed by health promoters Kylee Osborne and Karney Herewini
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Whanganui DHB invited Health Literacy NZ director Susan 
Reid (Te Rarawa) to Whanganui in September 2017.

Ms Reid talked to WDHB staff and health professionals about 
the importance of communicating clearly and building the 
skills and knowledge of their patients to better understand 
and manage their health.

WDHB project manager Eileen O’Leary says Ms Reid’s 
‘grassroots’, honest and entertaining style of presenting 
carries powerful messages for doctors, nurses and others 
working in health about why it’s important to make sure 
patients never leave their appointments feeling confused 
or at worst, unaware of what they need to do to improve 
their health outcomes.

“We know many Whanganui doctors and nurses are very 
good at explaining things to their patients and we want to 
build on that. We are also aware international and national 
research shows that for a variety of reasons, patients often 
leave medical appointments not understanding fully, what 
their doctor, nurse or other health professional was saying to 
them,” Ms O’Leary says.

“People working in health sometimes use language that’s 
unfamiliar to their patients who in turn feel embarrassed to 
ask questions or are too stressed to think about what else 
they need to know before leaving their appointment.

WE SOUGHT ADVICE ON HOW WE COULD FURTHER 
IMPROVE HOW WE COMMUNICATE WITH OUR PATIENTS

“NZ Health Literacy promotes the use of language that 
patients understand, while also encouraging doctors, nurses 
and others to ask their patients what they already know 
about their condition and review how clear they have been 
when providing new information. This is vital if we want 
patients to do what’s needed to make them well or manage 
their health needs in the best way possible.”

Ms O’Leary says Ms Reid uses many examples of 
miscommunication affecting health care such as the 
nurse who spent 25 minutes talking to a patient about his 
pancreatic condition before realising, when the patient asked 
what a pancreas was, that she hadn’t started by finding out 
what the patient already knew and needed. In another case, 
a patient was referred to the practice nurse by his GP but the 
patient said he didn’t want to waste his time seeing a trainee 
nurse who would be ‘practising’ on him. 

Ms Reid presented to WDHB staff during the day and to the 
wider health sector in a free evening session. 

The key points Ms Reid made to her audiences are:

     1.   Find out what people know.

     2.   Build people’s health literacy (knowledge and skills) 
           to meet their needs.

     3.   Check you were clear – that your patient understands 
           what you told them.
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ANTIBIOTIC IV    ORAL

GIVE YOUR ANTIBIOTIC A CHANCE

Only switch your empiric or susceptible antibiotic to a restricted medication if 

no sign of clinical improvement is seen after 48 hours, or treatment escalaton is 

required. Refer to hospital guidelines or contact Infectious Diseases, Wellington.  

#help_stop_resistance

BEING LEFT OUT

OF THE LOOP? 

Group chat
< Home

Cefuroxime:

I’ve had enough guys!

They replaced me with Tazocin 

AGAIN.     #redundant

#storyofmylife
Nitrofurantonin:

Flucloxacillin:

No one ever gives me enough 

time either.

TAZ:

CEF, my man! Thanks for  

making me look good - yet 

again!      #ezylife #winning

Cefuroxime:

    And all I really needed was  

another 24 hours. 

Tell me about it!
Amoxicillin:
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OUR PHARMACY PUSHED A 'SWITCH' IN APPROACH . . . . 
WHEN APPROPRIATE
The SWITCH campaign launched at Whanganui Hospital in early 
2018 aims to encourage switching from IV to oral antibiotics. 
'Switching' has been shown to be more patient-friendly by 
improving mobility and comfort, and significantly reducing:

     ▪   risk of complications from IV access
     ▪   risk of hospital-acquired infections
     ▪   length of hospitalisation
     ▪   medical and nursing time
     ▪   overall costs.

To encourage the SWITCH, a tool in the form of a sticker was 
developed to remind clinicians when it is safe to 'switch' 
from IV to oral antibiotics.

The SWITCH sticker can be initiated by all nursing staff 
(student/enrolled/registered), pharmacists and prescribers. 
The sticker is placed in patients progress notes, and the 
smaller SWITCH reminder on the medication chart. The 
clinician/team is encouraged to review if a 'switch' from IV 
to oral antibiotics is appropriate.

If the team deems it inappropriate, they document their 
clinical reasoning on the SWITCH sticker in the notes, and 
review it at a later date.

Detailed information for staff is available on posters 
provided in wards and departments.  
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ANTIBIOTIC IV    ORAL

GIVE YOUR ANTIBIOTIC A CHANCE

Only switch your empiric or susceptible antibiotic to a restricted medication if 

no sign of clinical improvement is seen after 48 hours, or treatment escalaton is 

required. Refer to hospital guidelines or contact Infectious Diseases, Wellington.  

#help_stop_resistance

BEING LEFT OUT

OF THE LOOP? 

Group chat
< Home

Cefuroxime:

I’ve had enough guys!

They replaced me with Tazocin 

AGAIN.     #redundant

#storyofmylife
Nitrofurantonin:

Flucloxacillin:

No one ever gives me enough 

time either.

TAZ:

CEF, my man! Thanks for  

making me look good - yet 

again!      #ezylife #winning

Cefuroxime:

    And all I really needed was  

another 24 hours. 

Tell me about it!
Amoxicillin:

ANTIBIOTIC IV    ORAL

MAKE THE SWITCHWhen appropriate, an early IV to oral antibiotic switch reduces 
patient harm, nursing time and medical costs. 

Ask your friendly pharmacy team how to #maketheSWITCH

DOES YOUR IV ANTIBIOTICNEED A BREAK? 

Does your antibiotic neeD a break? 
early iV to oral switch when appropriate reduces patient harm. 

always review antibiotic therapy at 48 hours and decide if  it’s safe to 
make the switch.

cHoose WiseLy

IV_antibiotic THE BEST PART OF BEING 
AN IV ANTIBIOTIC IS ONLY HAVING TO 
WORK PART TIME! 48 HOURS AND MY  
JOB IS USUALLY DONE  #maketheswitch

IV_antibiotic

Does your antibiotic neeD a break? 
early iV to oral switch when appropriate reduces patient harm. 

always review antibiotic therapy at 48 hours and decide if  it’s safe to 
make the switch.

cHoose WiseLy



OUR CARDIAC CLINIC HELPED GET PEOPLE 
LIKE NGAIRE BACK ON THEIR FEET
In February this year, fit, outgoing Whanganui resident 
Ngaire Morgan was floored when she found herself 
hospitalised for four days with heart failure.

It never occurred to Ngaire that she would have her busy 
lifestyle curtailed by illness. She played bowls, attended 
exercise classes, walked long distances, ate well and spent 
quality time with family and friends. It didn’t seem fair that 
she would be hospitalised with heart failure.

Grateful to have pulled through, Ngaire did as she was told 
by the Medical Ward staff who she says were wonderful. As 
she was preparing for discharge, Ngaire received a visit from 
Whanganui DHB clinical nurse specialist Paul Boden who 
introduced himself, explained he was a cardiac clinical 
nurse specialist and gave Ngaire his phone number.

Ngaire didn’t think any more of it. She was focused on 
getting her life back to normal and resuming her interests. 
She’d been told to expect a call from Whanganui Hospital’s 
Cardiac Clinic, but due to a glitch in the system, the referral 
didn’t reach Paul and the call never arrived. Feeling 
much better, she wasn’t concerned.

Then she had a second ‘episode’ in June which saw 
her hospitalised again – this time for three days. 
Feeling anxious about what was happening, Ngaire 
recovered, returned home, and called the Cardiac 
Clinic herself to talk to Paul who arranged a time 
for her to meet with him. 

During their first appointment, Paul spent an 
hour explaining Ngaire’s heart condition to her, 
how her prescription pills worked, what she 
should and shouldn’t do in terms of exercise 
and the length of time she would need to 
‘rest and take things gently’.

“Paul gave me a wonderful book about 
heart failure which he told me I was to 
read from cover-to-cover,” Ngaire says. 

“The book not only restored my confidence 
that I would be able to live a full life with 
heart failure but it was the start of a good
friendship that I’ve established with Paul.

"I trust him implicitly and I am very 
grateful to know I can call him when 
I feel the need to check something or 
talk through any concerns I might 
have about my condition."
“I’ve got things to do, places to go and people to see,” 
Ngaire says. “I don’t want my condition defining who I am 
and slowing me down.”

For his part, Paul says he’s comforted that Ngaire’s feeling 
more relaxed and confident about recognising the ‘red flags’ 
that tell her she’s not well. He plans to enrol her in the cardiac 
classes he holds for those who pass through his clinic. 
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WDHB cardiac clinical nurse specialist 
Paul Boden with cardiac patient Ngaire Morgan 
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Helping staff to engage effectively with patients and their 
families/whānau is a key element to improving equity and 
service delivery. We rely on meaningful engagement and 
partnerships between patients and their families/whānau, 
their health care teams and systems where cultural values 
and beliefs are understood, valued and acknowledged.

A number of elements support our workforce to work 
effectively with patients and their families/whānau. One 
element is our Māori Health Service – Te Hau Ranga Ora and 
the haumoana navigators who provide cultural support and 
advocacy assisting patients and families/whānau to engage 
and safely navigate our system, while working alongside 
staff to support them to engage in a meaningful manner 
with patients and their families/whānau.

WE CONTINUED TO DEVELOP OUR 
CULTURAL AWARENESS & RESPONSIVENESS

An integral element to culture change and support of 
our DHB workforce is our two-day cultural awareness 
programme, Hapai Te Hoe. This programme is based on 
a waka model that provides staff with the tools and 
knowledge to work in partnership with patients and their 
families/whānau, by having an understanding of cultural 
values and beliefs, empathy and working from a Whānau 
Ora approach. 

Whānau Ora is a practice framework that puts whānau 
(patients and families) at the centre, throughout their 
health journey and across our whole health system. This 
approach respects cultural values, grows our staff and 
builds strong partnerships with patients, families and 
clinicians, and empowers whānau to make informed choices.

Te Uru Pounamu initiative 
Te Uru Pounamu is an initiative established in April 2016 to 
support Māori nurses graduate nursing programmes - Nurse 
Entry to Practice (NETP), Nursing Resource Unit Graduates 
(NRUGS) and Nursing Entrance to Specialist Practice (NESP). 

The name given to the initiative is Te Uru Pounamu meaning 
‘to question’. It provides regular individual and group 
supervision to support Māori nursing graduates to develop 
self-awareness about their personal cultural beliefs and how 
these contribute to their professional practice as a nurse 
and working with patients and whānau. They are required 
to reflect on their values and beliefs and how they can 
strengthen themselves as Māori nurses and up-and-coming 
future leaders. 

Te Uru Pounamu is based on a mentor concept called 
‘Tuakana – Teina’ where the more experienced nurse helps 
to guide or mentor the new nurse. This is a traditional Māori 
model of a buddy system.

Te Uru Pounamu meets monthly as a collective mentored 
by the kaitakitaki – Māori Health clinical services manager. 
Individual support is available for all participants from the 
haumoana who are working in all clinical areas as well as 
one-on-one supervision by the kaitakitaki. 

This is a positive initiative that supports Whanganui DHB’s 
commitment to family/whānau-centred care and increasing 
our Māori workforce capacity, capability and future leaders.
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Māori workforce development
Our Māori Health Service (Te Hau Ranga Ora) is focused 
on establishing systems and processes to maintain 
successful recruitment and retention of Māori staff at 
Whanganui DHB. Part of this effort includes actively 
encouraging and supporting local Māori rangatahi (youth) 
and pakeke (adults/second chance learners) into hauora 
(health) as a career choice. 

This is being achieved through various avenues including 
kura (school) visits, engagement with tauira (students) and 
their whānau, networking with tertiary education providers, 
career and workforce expos, summits and conferences. 

This year, Whanganui DHB has been involved in a number 
of events providing opportunity for our community to have 
a more in-depth understanding of the DHB’s role and the 
services available, while also providing insight to potential 
career paths.   

These events included: 

     ▪   RMO Roadshow
     ▪   Tu Kaha 2018
     ▪   Whanganui 100% Sweet As Careers Expo
     ▪   Nga Kura Katoa Expo
     ▪   Ruapehu Recruitment Expo
     ▪   WDHB Careers Day.

Whanganui DHB provides assistance with mentoring, 
advice, support, scholarship and funding applications, 
connecting back to Iwi and hapu forums or key 
people. This is provided with an emphasis on 
whānau/family-centred care for all ethnicities.



INITIATIVES EARN COMMUNITY MENTAL HEALTH 
SUPPORT WORKER LEADERSHIP AWARD
Initiatives to reduce isolation for rural mental health 
service users has earned Shane Brown, a support worker 
for Rangitikei Health Centre’s Community Mental Health 
Service, an Open for Leadership award.

The awards are part of the Health Quality & Safety 
Commission’s work to build capability and leadership in 
the health sector. They recognise and celebrate health 
professionals who demonstrate excellent practice, quality 
improvement and leadership skills.

Marton-based Shane started the recovery initiative ‘Wellness 
Friday’ to address the loneliness and isolation experienced by 
many service users. A minibus picks up a group every 
Friday morning and takes them to Whanganui for 
a day of activities, including an exercise class, 
followed by lessons in cooking and healthy 
eating. After lunch the group volunteers at 
a bird rescue centre before returning home.

Shane says it’s been very satisfying 
building trust and rapport with participants 
to give them the courage to leave their 
homes and integrate into the community. 
The programme reflects te whare tapa 
whā, the four dimensions of Māori 
wellbeing: physical, spiritual, family and 
mental health.

“Some didn’t leave their houses for 
months at a time. We began with three 
participants and now have up to a 
dozen each week and they’ve 
developed their own 
whānau,” Shane says.

Shane has since added two more initiatives to the 
programme. ‘Monday Motivator’ is a lifestyle management 
programme featuring guest speakers on a range of life 
management subjects, such as budgeting. ‘Wakeup 
Wednesday’ is when the group goes walking or swimming.

Whanganui DHB Mental Health & Addictions Service 
nurse manager Kathryn Butters says Shane’s commitment, 
enthusiasm and ability to engage people have been key 
to the success of the programme. 

“‘His belief in the potential of others and what they can 
achieve, especially because he has walked this path himself, 
is really inspirational,” Katheryn says. “He’s the most positive,     
    motivated man.

               “He has the ability to lead at multiple levels, from 
                   inspiring individuals to be all they can be to 
                     service design and delivery.”

                       Shane, a former freezing worker, paramedic 
                        and volunteer firefighter who is halfway 
                         through a two-year diploma in applied 
                         addictions counselling, says he was 
                         “overwhelmed” to win the award.

                         “I get to hang out with some really cool 
                        people doing cool stuff, so I was very humbled 
                        by it. I’m a small cog in a big wheel and my 
                        managers have encouraged and supported 
                        me all the way.”
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In October, Whanganui DHB staff gathered for WDHB’s 
Health Awards - Te Tohu Rangatira where individual, and 
team successes, were acknowledged and celebrated.

The ceremony drew large numbers – those who had 
entered the competition and those wanting to be there to 
support their colleagues.

The way in which staff submitted an application for a health 
award changed this year to a less complicated process 
which saw a significant increase in the number of entries. 
Rather than a lengthy written process, entrants were invited 
to meet with members of the Centre for Patient Safety 
and Service Quality team who gathered entry information 
directly from the entrants. 

“The calibre of the entries was very high this time round,” 
says Centre for Patient Safety and Service Quality manager 
and Awards Organising Committee chair Louise Allsopp.

“We know there is a lot of good 
work being done across the 
organisation – some of which can go 
unnoticed. So, it’s great that we can 
shine the spotlight on those who are 
extending themselves to do their very 
best for the community we serve.”

WE CELEBRATED STAFF SUCCESSES WITH THE 
WDHB HEALTH AWARDS - TE TOHU RANGATIRA

The guest speaker was Auckland GP and clinical director 
for the National Hauora Coalition (a primary healthcare 
organisation) Dr Rawiri Jansen whose principle focus is 
providing clinical leadership in the effort to achieve health 
equity for Māori. 

This year’s ceremony also acknowledged departing chief 
executive Julie Patterson. Under her leadership, Whanganui 
DHB went from strength-to-strength on the local, regional 
and national stages. 

WHAKANUIA  |  CELEBRATE

SUCCESS - ANGITU
 EXCELLENCE - TE HIRINGA

INNOVATION - AUAHA

Whanganui DHB's Health Awards was a night to remember, particularly for community mental health 
support worker Shane Brown (left) who received a Health Quality & Safety Commission Open for Leadership Award.
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A three-year effort by Whanganui DHB to reduce wait 
times for young people accessing its Infant, Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health and Addiction Services 
(ICAMHAS) has paid off.

Between 2015 and 2018, Whanganui DHB has moved from 
being the worst performing DHB in the country for the 
three-week wait times to the best performing of the 20 DHBs.

In 2011/12, only 25 percent of young people accessing 
ICAMHAS were seen within three weeks. In 2012/13, that 
number rose to 29 percent, and in 2013/14 it dropped 
again to 23 percent.

The improvements have been led by ICAMHAS clinical nurse 
manager Janice Bowers and ICAMHAS clinical coordinator 
Liz Turner who, in early 2015, made a commitment to New 
Zealand’s director and chief advisor of mental health Dr 
John Crawshaw that they would not allow the WDHB to 
remain the worst performing DHB for three-week wait times.

OUR ICAMHAS CLIENTS ARE BEING SEEN 
QUICKEST ACROSS THE COUNTRY

“We began by looking at our referral 
system and accepting most referrals 
with the view that if we see the young 
person/family, we can give an informed 
decision about whether our service 
can help or whether we should 
navigate them to a service which is 
better suited,” Ms Bowers says.
By streamlining the referral process, appointments for a 
time within the following three weeks are usually sent the 
same day a referral is accepted. 

Monthly audits of all referrals allow the ICAMHAS team to 
determine if and why any patients missed being seen 
within three weeks. 

“I’m pleased to report that most months our team exceed 
the three-week target and over the past nine months we’ve 
only missed the target by one percent for one month,” Ms 
Bowers says. “It’s been very much a team effort getting to 
this point – a team effort that’s working well.”
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▪    people enjoy healthy lifestyles within a healthy environment

▪    the healthy will remain well

▪    health and disability services are accessible and delivered
      to those most in need

▪    the health and wellbeing of Māori is improved

▪    the quality of life is enhanced for people with diabetes,
      cancer, respiratory illness, cardiovascular disease and
      other chronic (long duration) conditions

▪    people experiencing a mental illness receive care that
      maximises their independence and wellbeing

▪    the needs of specific age-related groups, e.g. older
      people, children/youth, are addressed

▪    the wider community and family supports and enables
      older people and the disabled to participate fully in
      society and enjoy maximum independence

▪    oral health is improved 

▪    people’s journey through the health system is well
      managed and informed.

Each year the Whanganui District Health Board sets out its plans 
for the coming 12 months in its Statement of Performance 
Expectations. This statement captures the level of service the 
DHB expects to provide, together with the expected impact 
and outcomes that contribute towards achieving its vision of  
'Better health and independence’ through integrity – fairness – 
looking forward – innovation.

The Statement of Performance describes the WDHB’s 
non-financial performance against forecasts described 
in the Statement of Performance Expectations. The 2017/18 
WDHB Annual Plan describes three population groupings 
which the WDHB has particular focus on improving health 
outcomes as well measuring equitable access to clinical 
services. The three priority populations are women and children, 
older people and those people with long-term conditions. 

The performance measures within each priority group are 
reported by output class to reflect the full health and wellbeing 
continuum: from keeping people healthy, identifying and 
treating illness, through to supporting people to age well.  

The output classes are: 
        ▪    Prevention Services
        ▪    Early Detection and Management
        ▪    Intensive Assessment and Treatment
        ▪    Rehabilitation and Support. 

In presenting our performance it would be overwhelming to 
show every output delivered.  We have therefore selected those 
measures that have the greatest potential to contribute towards 
the achievement of the WDHB’s vision.

Often providing the service to the right people is more important 
than just the volume of services delivered. We have therefore 
presented a range of measures that provide a broader picture of 
the service than just the volume delivered.  

Those measures shaded in grey attempt to demonstrate the 
impact on the region’s population of the services Whanganui 
DHB outputs. 

STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 30 June 2018

TO WHANGANUI  DHB,  ACHIE VEMENT MEANS:

PERFORMANCE TREND ( T ) - In evaluating the performance of Whanganui District Health Board, it is useful to understand the general trend of 
performance of a period longer than the current and previous year performance for applicable measures. For these measures, a colour key has been 
included to indicate general trends over at least the last four years. It is important to note this is not an indication of meeting, or not meeting, targets. 
For example, even if the target is not met but the general trend is improved performance, the trend of the measure will show with a green swatch. 
The same logic has also been applied to the equity ratio ( EQ ) trend reported for applicable measures.

Percentage of category one patients 
seen immediately (resuscitation)

Percentage of category three patients 
seen within 30 minutes (urgent)

Percentage of category two patients 
seen within 10 minutes (emergency)

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

100%
 

≥75%

≥80%

100%
 

≥75%

≥80%

 Total 81%
Māori 76%
Other 95%

 Total 91%
Māori 92%
Other 90%

 Total 88%
Māori 93%
Other 86%

 Total 84%
Māori 86%
Other 84%

 Total 55%
Māori 55%
Other 55%

 Total 60%
Māori 61%
Other 60%

BASELINE TO BE ESTABLISHED MEASURES - Some measures are being reported for the first time and while the baseline data for the 2017/18 
period has been reported for most, the targets for these measures are yet to be established, therefore achievement is not indicated. Where this 
is the case, the comment 'Baseline to be established' has been stated.

EQUITY RATIO - Reducing inequalities in health outcomes, in particular health inequalities experienced by Māori, is a key priority identified in the 
National Health Strategy and a key priority for Whanganui DHB. To help understand the inequality in health outcomes between Māori and 
non-Māori, an equity ratio has been included with some measures. The equity ratio illustrates the relative gap between the health outcomes 
measured for Māori and non-Māori. A ratio of 2 for a disease state shows that Māori are twice as likely to have the disease. A ratio of 2 for a screening 
service illustrates that the non-Māori population are screened at twice the rate of Māori. A lower ratio indicates relatively reduced inequality. 
A ratio of 1 illustrates that health outcomes and service measures for Māori and non-Māori are the same. 

Achieved

Almost achieved
(within 5% of target)

Not achieved

Improving trend

Steady trend

Declining trend

Achievement Trends:T
T

STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE GUIDE

EQ
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The long-term outcomes we are looking for…
This measure is about using our health resources effectively. As a Whanganui health system, we want our population to be well in the 
community, and supported to receive appropriate care when they are not well.  We want to reduce the amount of time people need 
to spend in hospital through good 'upstream' primary care, and discharge and transition planning. This requires good communication 
and cooperation between primary and secondary care. We know that better prevention and management of long-term conditions is 
essential to support improvement against this target in the long term. We will give particular attention to older people who make up 
the majority of our acute admissions. 

Results
The target set for this measure for 2017/18 was to reduce the Whanganui total standardised acute bed days rate per 1,000 to 415 
for the total population and 501 days for Māori.

The graph on the right shows results by ethnicity for 
the past four years of available data. This target has 
been achieved with acute bed days decreasing to 
412 per 1,000 days (total population) and 508 per 
1,000 days for Māori. Work is continuing to improve 
coordination and support between primary and 
secondary care to further reduce acute hospital bed 
days. Initiatives, such as high risk patients being 
supported post discharge through medication, 
clinical pharmacy review, and long-term conditions 
nurse input, all help to improve patient outcomes. 

SYSTEM LEVEL MEASURES
One of the five themes of the New Zealand Health Strategy (the Strategy) is value and high performance 
which places an emphasis on measuring the performance of the whole system as well as component parts. 
The Strategy recommends the development of an outcomes-based approach to performance measurement 
that will guide the delivery of constantly improving health services.

The Ministry of Health has worked with the sector to co-develop a suite of system level measures to 
support this whole-of-system view of performance. Whanganui's System Level Measures Plan is developed 
in partnership with its governance partner, Hauora a Iwi, and the two PHOs (Whanganui Regional Health 
Network and National Hauora Coalition), and aligns to the national System Level Measures Framework. 
Performance against our local System Level Measures Plan is reported on the following pages.

AMBULATORY SENSITIVE HOSPITALISATIONS (ASH) 0-4 YEARS
The long-term outcomes we are looking for…
This measure is about keeping our tamariki out of the hospital. As a Whanganui health system, we want our children to have 
a healthy start in life, so we can reduce the burden of disease in childhood with a strong focus on health equity. We want 
equitable outcomes for Māori tamariki as a high variance among priority populations according to social gradient exists.

The 2017/18 target set for this measure was to reduce the Whanganui Māori 0-4 years non-standardised ASH rate per 
100,000 from the baseline of 12,312 in 2015/16 to 8,099.  

Results
This target has not been achieved with 
admission rates of 9,490 per 100,000 for 
Māori. Whilst dental admissions for all 
ethnicities is similar to 2016/17 the 
admission rates for asthma have grown, 
particularly for Māori. The impact of higher 
ASH rates has been felt equally across 
ethnicities resulting in the equity between 
Māori and non-Māori represented by the 
equity ratio, remaining at similar level to 2016/17.

Work programmes established to improve the 
rate have been developed across the year and 
are yet to deliver the anticipated gains. A new form 
will be offered to the sector to make it easier to direct Well Child Tamariki Ora services to high need children and families to 
help provide support and decrease avoidable admissions. Investment in improving housing conditions continues, with a 
focus on reducing asthma admissions.

ACUTE HOSPITAL BED DAYS PER CAPITA
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AMENABLE MORTALITY
The long-term outcomes we are looking for…
This measure is about prevention and early detection 
to reduce premature death. Amenable mortality is 
defined as premature deaths (deaths under age 75) 
that could potentially be avoided, given effective and 
timely health care. That is, early deaths from causes 
(diseases or injuries) for which effective health care 
interventions exist and are accessible to New 
Zealanders in need. 

Not all deaths from these causes could be avoided in 
practice, for example, because of comorbidity, frailty 
and patient preference. However, a higher than 
expected rate of such deaths in a DHB may indicate 
that improvements are needed with access to care, 
or quality of care. We know the prevention and 
management of risk factors is essential in reducing 
the development of morbidity. Improvements in 
this measure need to be viewed over a longer 
period than a single year.

Whanganui DHB’s strategic intent is to ‘shift 
investment toward health gain and advance Māori 
health’. This will require investment in health promotion, 
and primary and community services, so that health 
can make a greater contribution to improving the 
determinants of health and wellbeing, and build 
resilient communities.

Results
The DHB set a target to maintain the amenable 
mortality rate at the 2013 rate of 110.5 per 100,000 
people for the total population and 250.2 for Māori. 
There has been an improvement in the rate/equity 
gap for Māori. This is due to an increase in the 
non-Māori amenable mortality rate. The amenable 
mortality rate for Māori has remained stable at 250.9.
The total population rate has increased to 133.7. 
The average amenable mortality rate over the period 
2009 to 2014 has reduced for all ethnicities but is still 
2.4 times higher for Māori compared to non-Māori at 103.9.

Activity to support prevention and early detection includes:

     ▪    Interactive dashboards are now being deployed to practices which allow live filtering and analysis of 
             various population health measures, including cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk assessment.  

     ▪    The CVD risk assessment for Māori males 35-44 years old has been supported through Services to Improve 
             Access (SIA) quality improvement initiatives.

     ▪    Assessing the delivery of a more flexible funding structure to simplify and incentivise delivery of population 
             health activity, particularly around high needs CVD risk assessment and diabetes.

     ▪    Bi-monthly monitoring occurs through a population health forum where practice data, trends and strategies 
             for improving care are shared.

     ▪    A newly-appointed clinical director employed to work with general practice teams and data analysts on achieving 
             of population health targets. There also continues to be work on automation of granular reports for practice teams 
             to access and interrogate.  

     ▪    Targeted practice-level support.  

Northland

Waitemata

Auckland

Counties-Manakau
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Total New Zealand
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Number 
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Age 
standardised rate

116.0

68.9
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119.4

93.8

144.5
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120.2

128.6

71.8

85.2
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76.8
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-

91.6

Average 
4 highest

131.8

72.6

82.7

110.1
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110.7
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112.7
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112.2

133.7

78.5

93.5
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81.1

128.6

90.4

117.8

93.5

100.7

-

98.3

Amenable mortality deaths, 0-74 year olds

Calculated using estimated resident population as at 30 June
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YOUTH ACCESS TO & UTILISATION OF 
YOUTH-APPROPRIATE HEALTH SERVICES
The long-term outcomes we are looking for…
Youth have differing needs from health services than adults 
or children. These needs fall into five domains, each of which 
requires a specific and focused approach. The five domains are:

 ▪    Access to preventative services
 ▪    Youth experience of the health system
 ▪    Sexual and reproductive health
 ▪    Mental health and wellbeing
 ▪    Alcohol and other drugs.

Whanganui DHB has focused on the domain: Access to 
preventive services. By focusing on this domain, the DHB and 
partners believe youth will increase the level of utilisation of 
services to support their physical and psychological needs in a 
timely manner in order to maintain their wellbeing.

All youth health services need to be able to respond in a 
timely manner to meet their clients’ needs or youth are likely 
to disengage from services, leading to a detrimental effect 
on their wellbeing.

Total                     Target (≥85%) 

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40% 

30%

20%

10%

0%

Proportion of adolescent population utilising 
DHB-funded dental services

2013/14

78%

2016/17

79%

2015/16

81%

2014/15

79%

2017/18

80%

Results
The WDHB set a target for 2017/18 of having 82.5 percent of 
youth accessing DHB-funded adolescent dental services. The 
WDHB achieved 79.8 percent access which was not far off the 
target. While the target was not met, the result was consistent 
with access rates achieved in 2016/17, and amongst the best 
access levels in the country. However, an issue with equitable 
access exists with only 66 percent of Māori accessing the 
service compared to 96 percent of non-Māori. 

To help improve equitable access between Māori and 
non-Māori, the WDHB has increased investment in culturally 
appropriate resources and educational packages within kura 
and kohanga reo. To improve access within the rural setting, 
two rural dental practices will be contracted to provide oral 
health services for adolescents. 

The WDHB recognise that a significant number of the youth 
not receiving oral health services are no longer within the 
school setting. The Whanganui DHB Oral Health Project group 
is investigating ways to connect with this group.

PATIENT EXPERIENCE OF CARE
The long-term outcomes we are looking for…
This measure is about our commitment to ‘whānau, person-centred care’. As a 
Whanganui health system, we encourage patient involvement and feedback to support 
service development and improvement to lead to improved patient experience of 
care. We recognise that how people experience healthcare can be influenced by all 
parts of the system and the people who provide the care. As it is difficult to understand 
how well integrated a system is until you are a user of the system, we want to get a 
better understanding of the patient experience from the patients and their whānau. 

We are committed to making sure our services are responsive to those with the 
highest needs as we know that if we get it right for this group, we are well on the way 
to getting it right for everyone. As a district with a high Māori population, and high levels 
of social deprivation, there is a strong emphasis on making sure services are culturally appropriate.

Results
The short-term target we set ourselves in relation to this measure was for 100 percent of general practices to participate in the 
primary care survey during 2017/18. Results for 2017/18 indicate 53 percent of practices were participating - slightly up on the 
40 percent achieved in 2016/17. Implementation of a patient portal in general practice to enable the patient experience of care 
survey to occur has been slower than expected. Practices continue to be supported to implement patient portals and encourage 
patients to participate in the survey.

100%2017/18
target

2017/18
performance 53%

Patient Experience of 
Care survey - GP practice 

participation



BABIES LIVING IN SMOKEFREE HOMES
AT SIX WEEKS POST-NATAL
The long-term outcomes we are looking for…
The impact of smoking on our whole population is well 
understood, but because their lungs are smaller and more 
delicate children can get particularly sick if they breathe in 
second-hand smoke. In addition, they also often have no 
way of getting away from the smoke.

Children exposed to smoke are more likely to go to hospital, 
get coughs, colds and wheezes and are off school more often. 
Children whose parents smoke have double the risk of lower 
respiratory illnesses like bronchitis and pneumonia compared 
to children of parents who do not smoke. Being exposed to 
second-hand smoke can also affect children’s development 
and behaviour, and they can under achieve at school and have 
trouble paying attention.

Children need to be protected from second-hand smoke 
because it can cause:

     ▪    middle ear infections, like glue ear

     ▪    lung and breathing illness, like croup, bronchitis, 
             bronchiolitis and pneumonia

     ▪    asthma 

     ▪    lungs to grow more slowly

     ▪    Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy (SUDI or cot death)

     ▪    meningitis.

Results
The aim for 2017/18 was to ensure Well Child Tamariki Ora 
providers were collecting and recording data correctly. We set 
a target of improving the percentage of infants who have their 
smoking status established at their core one check from 44 
percent to 95 percent.  We almost achieved the target with a 
total of 91 percent being achieved (89 percent for Māori and 92 
percent for non-Māori). In 2018/19, the software developments 
are being made to help further increase this rate.

For babies living in smokefree homes at six weeks old, a 
result of 55 percent was achieved in 2017/18 which the 
WDHB hopes to improve on. Improvements in data quality 
issues and smokefree programmes within the district 
continue to develop in order to deliver a coordinated service 
to ensure support for smoking cessation is available for the 
whole population throughout their life continuum.

2017/18
performance 55%

total
July - December 2017

Māori 31%
Pacific 36%
Other 73%

Target: 
Baseline to be established

Babies living in smokefree homes 
at 6 weeks post-natal
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EQUITY SNAPSHOT

RAISING
HEALTHY

KIDS 
National Health Target

1.00:1 
EQUITY RATIO

Non-standardised
ASH rate per 
100,000 
population 
0-4 YEARS

1.36:1 
EQUITY RATIO

Percentage of
5-year-olds 
CARIES 
FREE

1.89:1 
EQUITY RATIO

MATERNAL, 
CHILD & 
YOUTH 
HEALTH

A

Proportion of population 

65+ YEARS 
RECEIVING 
DHB-funded support 
in ARC facilities

1.56:1 
EQUITY RATIO

Proportion of enrolled

population 
65+ YEARS 
who received 
influenza vaccination

1.07:1 
EQUITY RATIO

0.87:1 
EQUITY RATIO

HEALTH 
OF OLDER 
PEOPLE

Proportion of population 

65+ YEARS 
RECEIVING 
DHB-funded 
home-based support 

B

Proportion of eligible

population 
who have had 
their CVD risk
ASSESSED
in the last 5 years

1.01:1 
EQUITY RATIO

1.98:1 
EQUITY RATIO
Non-standardised
ASH rate per 
100,000 
population 
45-64 YEARS

1.07:1 
EQUITY RATIO

LONG-TERM 
CONDITIONS

Percentage of 
total clients 
(aged 0-19 years)
ACCESSING
Mental Health and
Addictions Services

C

Proportion of 
category three 
patients seen 

WITHIN
30 MINUTES

0.99:1 
EQUITY RATIO

Proportion of patients
who have accepted

MRI SCAN
REFERRAL
and receive scan
within 6 weeks

1.02:1 
EQUITY RATIO

Proportion of patients

attending ED 
WHO WERE 
admitted, discharged
or transferred
within 6 hours

0.98:1 
EQUITY RATIO

EQUITABLE
ACCESS TO
CLINICAL
SER VICES

D

To help understand the inequality in health outcomes between Māori and non-Māori, an equity ratio has been included with some 
measures in the Statement of Performance. The equity ratio illustrates the relative gap between the health outcomes measured for 
Māori and non-Māori. A ratio of 2 for a disease state shows that Māori are twice as likely to have the disease. For a screening service, 
a ratio of 2 illustrates that the non-Māori population are screened at twice the rate of Māori. A lower ratio indicates relatively reduced 
inequality. A ratio of 1 illustrates that health outcomes and service measures for Māori and non-Māori are the same. The graphic 
below provides a snapshot of equity for key measures in each of our four focus population areas.   
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OUR FOCUS AREA PERFORMANCE
The following section outlines performance measures against key services grouped into focus areas. The focus areas identified for 
2017/18 provide an integrated service for the priority population groups of Maternal, Child and Youth Health, Health of Older People, 
People with Long-Term Conditions including mental health, along with delivering equitable access to clinical services. Whanganui DHB 
expects that over time, a focus on these areas will make a significant difference to the health and wellbeing of the population it serves. 

MATERNAL, CHILD & YOUTH
This focus area is about keeping our tamariki out of the hospital. As a Whanganui health system, we want our children to have 
a healthy start in life, so we can reduce the burden of disease in childhood with a strong focus on health equity. We want 
equitable outcomes for Māori tamariki as a high variance among priority populations according to social gradient exists.

10%
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6%

4%

2%

0%
2014/15

Proportion of eligible children on NIR who are 
recorded as 'declined' at milestone ages

(8 month target ≤3.6%   |   24 month target ≤5.0%)

8 months     24 months               8 mth target ≤3.6%               24 mth target ≤5.0%

2015/16 2016/17

7

INFANT HEALTH
In recognition of the critical importance of the early years in shaping resilience and setting patterns of future behaviour, infant health 
services aim to protect from preventable diseases, maintain good wellbeing and ensure infants receive the care they need in order to 
have the best possible start in life. As the data below indicates, we have made improvements in many areas during the 2017/18 period 
with immunisation coverage being the biggest challenge for us to make substantive improvements on.

Overall, coverage of fully immunised eight-month olds has declined for the second successive year with a reduction of three percent 
from our 2016/17 result. A sudden increase in families declining and opting out of immunisations for their children is resulting in the 
WDHB finding it difficult to reach the target immunisation rate of 95 percent. This trend commenced in Quarter Four of 2016/17 and 
has continued and grown since. Strategies to mitigate this include the development of coordinated communications from health and 
community organisations. The DHB has achieved excellent results for the raising healthy children health target. This is being achieved by 
not only  ensuring all children meeting the threshold are offered referrals to additional services, but also by working to reduce the level of 
families who decline additional support.

The ASH rate continues to be higher than the DHB would like. There is immense effort being put into reducing admissions due to dental 
conditions by the DHB and community partners. General practices continue to support children admitted with asthma and respiratory 
infections by proactively following them up on discharge from the hospital.
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Raising Healthy Kids National Health Target - 2017/18

Actual result               Target (≥95%)
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92%

Quarter 4

96%

Percentage of obese children identified in the B4 School Check 
programme offered referral to a health professional for clinical assessment 

and family-based nutrition, activity & lifestyle interventions
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CHILD HEALTH
Child services strive to keep our children healthy and grow into the best they can be. This is achieved by ensuring children receive 
regular health promotion and screening for common causes of reduced wellbeing. A preventative focus continues with the provision 
of oral health services and HPV vaccinations, as well as school-based health services. The long-term trend continues to demonstrate 
better outcomes for children. The continued decline in Mean Score of Decayed, Missing and Filled Teeth of Year 8 Children and the high 
rate of HPV vaccination for Māori is pleasing to see. Work needs to continue to focus on addressing inequity between ethnicities.

Oral health results for the under-five year age group does not demonstrate any significant improvement. Efforts to improve the outcomes for 
this group are underway but the results of the work are unlikely to show any impact for at least a couple of years as damage to teeth cannot be 
undone.  It is anticipated the extent of caries within individual children will reduce over time.  This improvement can be seen in the results for 
Year 8 children where Māori have had a year-on-year improvement since 2013. The equity ratio, which shows the relative gap between Māori 
and non-Māori, for this result has been gradually declining over the last two years, however the overall improvement for all ethnicities is clear.

YOUTH HEALTH
Services for youth continue to be well utilised by youth and accessible to them. The steadily increasing volumes of youth accessing mental 
health services is expected, and reflects unmet need rather than an actual increase in need. This trend is expected to continue into 2018/19 
as the DHB and Government continue to recognise the importance of early intervention and access to preventative services. Building on our 
commitment under Rising to the Challenge, the DHB believes the community will have an increasingly healthy and resilient population as a 
result of this increased focus on youth mental health needs. A number of initiatives are being undertaken to address lower rates of access to 
dental services by adolescent Māori (66 percent), including culturally appropriate education material and greater access to rural dental services.
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MATERNAL HEALTH
Maternity services within Whanganui continue to deliver a first class service to our population for both primary and secondary care 
women. The outcomes of these services is on a par with all other maternity centres. The lead maternity carers (LMCs) within our 
district are sufficient in number so that all women are able to engage during their first trimester of pregnancy and do receive the full 
menu of antenatal care available.

Uptake of antenatal education (171) remains stable compared to 2016/17 (178), and slightly increased as a percentage of births, which are 
down on last year, however levels of Māori participation remains inequitable to that of the wider population. Strategies to increase equity 
include restructuring classes to meet the differing needs for education across the community rather than relying on a single syllabus.

Breastfeeding levels within Whanganui DHB continue to prove a challenge. Factors influencing this are complex and often highly 
individualised. What we do know is that a vast majority of mothers are breastfeeding at the time of discharge from their LMC but 
this drops substantially by the time the baby is three months old.

Reasons for stopping breastfeeding vary and are often very personalised, however common themes have been identified. 
These themes include:
    ▪   Wishing to return to ‘normal’ after being pregnant. 
     ▪   Cultural expectations of sharing the care of babies with wider family.
    ▪   Adoption of activities where risks to the baby via milk such as alcohol and drugs consumption is increased.
    ▪   Demands of work/study and breastfeeding being incompatible - many mothers are ‘time poor’ for effective breastfeeding.

Whanganui has a high level of young parents who are predominantly Māori, which is the group that is the most likely to be 
impacted by all of the factors above.

Cervical screening rates are down slightly compared to 2016/17 results, however a strong focus remains on increasing the rates 
overall, as well as achieving equity between Māori and non-Māori. The introduction of the 'Smear Your Mea' campaign has raised 
awareness for Māori women, resulted in increased uptake and is being extended. Providing clinics within alternative settings and after 
hours increases opportunities to screen. Offering prize draw incentives and pamper experiences; a greater use of social media and 
promotion; improved information about cervical and breast screening on the DHB and PHO websites; and a focus on engaging Māori 
women through kapa haka and kohanga reo is expected to improve health literacy and link women into screening.

Cervical Screening 3-Year Coverage Rate (25-69 years)
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Percentage of target population children 
who have received B4 School Checks

Percentage of obese children identified in 
the B4 School Check programme who were 
referred to a health professional for clinical 
assessment and family-based nutrition, 
activity and lifestyle interventions

Proportion of infants exclusively or fully 
breastfed at six weeks

Proportion of infants exclusively or fully 
breastfed at three months

Rheumatic fever rates

Percentage of audits scoring greater than 
80% for each of the child & partner abuse 
components of the VIP programme CHILD 

Percentage of audits scoring greater than 
80% for each of the child & partner abuse 
components of the VIP programme PARTNER

Babies living in smoke free homes 
at 6 weeks post-natal

Immunisation coverage rates at milestone 
(Eight months old) 

Immunisation coverage rates at milestone 
(Two years old)

Immunisation coverage rates at milestone 
(Five years old)

Ambulatory Sensitive Hospitalisations rates 
for children 0-4 years of age relative to the 
national rate

Ambulatory Sensitive Hospitalisations 
rates for asthma and wheeze admission for 
children 0-4 years relative to the national rate

Percentage of young women who have 
received HPV vaccine

Percentage of pregnant women smoke free 
at two weeks post-natal

Percentage of pregnant women (who 
identify as smokers at confirmation of 
pregnancy in general practice or 
booking with a lead maternity carer) 
will be offered advice 

≥90%
 

≥95%

≥75%

≥60%

0%

≥80%

≥80%

No target

≥95%

≥95%

≥95%

Māori ≤125.1%
Non-Māori ≤84.7%

Māori ≤138.3%
Non-Māori ≤76.5% 

≥70%

≥95%

≥90%

Maternal, Child & Youth Health 

PREVENTION SERVICES  

≥90%
 

≥95%

≥75%

≥60%

0%

≥95%

≥95%

No target

≥95%

≥95%

≥95%

Māori ≤125.1%
Non-Māori ≤84.7%

Māori ≤138.3%
Non-Māori ≤76.5% 

≥70%

≥95%

100%

Total 93% 
Māori 92%

 
Total 100% 
Māori 100%
Other 100%

Total 71% 
Māori 64%
Other 76%

Total 56% 
Māori 49%

 
 Total 0%
Māori 0% 
Other 0%

N/A

N/A
 

Total 55%
Māori 31% 
Other 73%

 
 Total 88%
Māori 87% 
Other 89%

 Total 91%
Māori 91%
Other 92%

 Total 88%
Māori 87%
Other 89%

 Total 119.7%
Māori 140.6%
Other 103%

 Total 138.3%
Māori 193.7%
Other 93.8% 

 Total 78%
Māori 96%
Other 67%

Total 79%
Māori 68%

Total 100%
Māori 100%
Other 100%

High Dep.  92%

Data not available 
at time of publication

Data not available 
at time of publication

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

Total 98% 
Māori 95%

 
Total 71% 
Māori 63%

Other 100%

Total 52% 
Māori 51%
Other 57%

Total 35% 
Māori 35%

 
 Total 0%
Māori 0% 
Other 0%

95%

94%
 

Total 63%
Māori 44% 
Other 82%

 
 Total 91%
Māori 90% 
Other 92%

 Total 91%
Māori 93%
Other 90%

 Total 87%
Māori 86%
Other 87%

 Total 109.7%
Māori 126.6%
Other 95.0%

 Total 118.1%
Māori 152.9%
Other 89.5% 

 Total 74%
Māori 89%
Other 66%

Total 75.3%
Māori 65.2%

Total 100%
Māori 100%
Other 100%

Ambulatory Sensitive Hospitalisation (ASH) rates for the reporting period indicate a decline in performance. Levels of asthma, 
dental admissions and respiratory infections all continue to contribute to this number. As indicated previously within this 
report, the DHB is focusing significant effort into reducing oral health presentations while general practices continue to support 
children admitted with respiratory illnesses. Supporting families to understand the importance of living in dry smoke free homes 
continues through the Healthy Families initiative and Well Child Tamariki Ora workforce. 

Immunisation of infants continues to be struggle compounded by a sudden increase in families declining and opting out 
of immunisations for their children. This trend commenced in Quarter Four of 2016/17 and has continued and grown since. 
Strategies to mitigate this includes the development of coordinated communications from health and community organisations. 

A slight decline is reported for babies living in smokefree homes, although consistent data collection continues to provide 
challenges. The DHB is confident this will be resolved for the beginning of Quarter 3 when a ‘patch’ on the Tamariki Ora Reporting 
System is implemented nationally and consistency between the Plunket and Tamariki Ora smokefree questions exists.
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Percentage of newborns enrolled with a 
PHO by three months

Number of 0-4 year old children enrolled in 
DHB funded dental service

Percentage of children under-13 able to 
access free primary care including after hours

Proportion of adolescent population 
utilising DHB-funded dental services

Proportion of Youth (12-19) seen each 
quarter by Primary Mental Health Services

Mean score of Decayed, Missing & Filled 
Teeth of Year 8 children 

Percentage of pregnant women will receive 
continuity of care with an LMC

Proportion of pregnant woman registered 
with an LMC within 12 weeks

Percentage of pregnant women 
accessing DHB-funded parenting and 
pregnancy education

Cervical screening three year coverage rate 
for women aged 20-69 years

Breast screening two year coverage rate for 
eligible women aged 50-69 years

Maternal, Child & Youth Health 

EARLY DETECTION & MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Ambulatory Sensitive Hospitalisations rate 
for dental in children 0-4 years compared 
with national rates

Proportion of 0-19 year olds referred for 
non-urgent mental health & addiction 
services seen within three weeks (all services)

Percentage of long term clients with 
mental illness who have an up-to-date 
relapse prevention plan - CHILD

Number of Paediatric Department 
admissions

Maternal, Child & Youth Health 

INTENSIVE ASSESSMENT & TREATMENT SERVICES

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

≥98%
 

No target

100%

≥85%

Total No target
Māori ≥6.0%
Other ≥2.0%

≤0.95

≥95%

No target

≥30%

≥80%

≥70%

≥98%
 

No target

100%

≥85%

Total No target
Māori ≥6.0%
Other ≥2.0%

≤0.95

≥95%

No target

≥30%

≥80%

≥80%

 Total 76%
Māori 84%
Other 69%

 Total 5477
Māori 2438
Other 3039

 Total 100%
Māori 100%
Other 100%

79%
 

 Total 1.8%
Māori 2.4%
Other 1.4%

 Total 0.88
Māori 1.16
Other 0.74

N/A
 

N/A
 

24%
 

 Total 76%
Māori 72%
Other 78%

 Total 78%
Māori 71%
Other 80%

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

Total No target
Māori ≤243.9%
Other ≤118.2%

 
≥80%

≥95%

No target

Total No target
Māori ≤243.9%
Other ≤118.2%

≥80%

100%

No target

 Total 165.4%
Māori 228.8%
Other 114.6%

80%
 

100%
 

Total 849
Māori 367
Other 482

 Total 69%
Māori 62%
Other 75%

 Total 4450
Māori 1940
Other 2510

 Total 100%
Māori 100%
Other 100%

79%
 

 Total 2.6%
Māori 4.3%
Other 1.7%

 Total 0.95
Māori 1.28
Other 0.78

100%
 

71%
 

22%
 

 Total 78%
Māori 71%
Other 80%

 Total 78%
Māori 71%
Other 80%

 Total 153.9%
Māori 203.3%
Other 113.2%

71%
 

100%
 

Total 1200
Māori 490
Other 710

Although the percentage of newborns enrolled with a PHO at three months old has not met the target, Whanganui DHB has 
one of the highest rates of newborn enrolment in New Zealand at 76 percent. It is particularly pleasing to see the rate of Māori 
newborn enrolments at 84 percent. 

The rates for youth accessing primary mental health services from their general practice are showing a decline. Data indicates 
that youth are opting to use the services provided by the Youth Services Trust as a first choice rather than general practice. 
The volume of people seen by the Youth Services Trust is showing a dramatic increase.

Data not available
at time of publication

 

There has been an increase in the proportion of 0-19 year-olds being seen within three weeks for referrals for non-urgent mental 
health and addiction services. This is due to improved processes being implemented by Infant Child Adolescent Mental Health 
and Addiction Services and the improved use of the CAPA model (Choice and Partnership Approach).
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HEALTH OF OLDER PEOPLE

POPULATION
According to Census 2013, there were 11,000 persons aged 
65 years and over in our district. This includes about 5,000 over 
75 years, and a further 1,400 over 85 years. Projections for 2018 
raised this population to just over 12,000.

WDHB has an older population relative to New Zealand nationally.

Māori make up about 10 percent of our over 65s, but just 
three percent of our over 85s. Overall, Māori make up a much 
greater proportion (25%) of our population when compared 
to the national population.

The pie chart (below) shows that two out of three people aged 
over 65 years in our district live within the Whanganui City 
area, while one in five live in smaller towns, like Marton, Bulls or 
Raetihi. One-in-eight live in a rural setting (Census 2013).
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With the changing demographics of an increased number 
of older people who are living longer, it is a pleasing result to 
have maintained the same proportion of people in long-term 
aged residential care. It demonstrates that our initiatives, such 
as the individual rehabilitation programme and intermediate 
care, are achieving the desired result of supporting people to 
remain in their own home.

There has been a two percent increase in the percentage of Māori 
receiving home-based support in 2017/18. This is a positive 
result as the WDHB seeks to support people to maintain their 
independence. The WDHB’s Paid Family Carer Policy and having a 
kaupapa provider option will be contributing to these outcomes.

B

Proportion of population aged 65+ years receiving 
DHB funded support in ARC facilities over the year
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Certification is an indication of the quality of an aged residential 
care facility’s care provision and a three-year plus certification 
period is a positive indicator. For 2017/18, 85 percent of the 
DHB’s aged residential care providers are certified for three 
years. This result has not changed from 2016/17 and whilst this 
is a satisfactory outcome, we hope to see this improve. 

The WDHB has consistently achieved above the expected 
level of 90 percent for the percentage of older people 
assessed for the risk of falling, with 93 percent achieved in 
the January to March 2018 quarter. The WDHB continues 
to have a strong focus on falls prevention and expects past 
achievements to continue. 

More work still needs to be done with the local general practices 
for this older population group. Māori rates of vaccination are 
similar to last year, however there has been an overall increase 
compared to 2016/17 which is pleasing to see.

The strong focus on falls prevention in inpatient services 
including AT&R and the strategies in place are having a positive 
impact. The positive trend of decreasing fall rates for older 
people in the AT&R unit continues with the 2017/18 producing 
the third successive year of falls rate reduction. 

Percentage of aged residential care facilities 
with three-year certification
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Proportion of over 64-year-olds who are 
prescribed 11 or more medications

Health of Older People 
EARLY DETECTION & MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

No target No target1.6%2.0%

Number of people identified as having 
fragility fractures and the proportion who 
avoid a secondary fracture

Percentage of older patients given a falls 
risk assessment

Health of Older People 
INTENSIVE ASSESSMENT & TREATMENT SERVICES

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

No target

No target

No target

No target

222
46%

93%

226
88%

96%

Proportion of enrolled population aged 65+ 
years who have received flu vaccination

Health of Older People 
PREVENTION SERVICES  

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

≥75% ≥75% Total 63%
Māori 59%
Other 64%

 Total 54%
Māori 60%
Other 53%

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

Number of referrals to Alzheimer’s 
Wanganui from general practice for people 
with early diagnosis of dementia

Percentage of referrals for an interRAI 
assessment that are completed within 
national guidelines - low risk 15 days

Percentage of referrals for an interRAI 
assessment that are completed within 
national guidelines - Crisis within 48 hrs

Percentage of referrals for an interRAI 
assessment that are completed within 
national guidelines - high risk ASAP 

Percentage of referrals for an interRAI 
assessment that are completed within 
national guidelines - medium risk 10 days 

Proportion of population aged 65+ years 
who have been assessed with a home 
support service coordination outcome 

Percentage of aged residential facilities in 
DHB area using, or training their nurses to 
use, the interRAI LTCF assessment tool 

Percentage of older people in aged 
residential care by facility who have a 
second InterRAI LTCF assessment 
completed 230 days after admission 

Proportion of population aged 65+ years 
receiving DHB funded support in ARC 
facilities over the year 

Number of long term residents living in 
aged residential care facilities who die in 
acute settings

No target

≥95%

≥95%

≥95%

≥95%

No target

100%

100%

No target

≤2

Health of Older People 
REHABILITATION & SUPPORT SERVICES

No target

≥95%

≥95%

≥95%

≥95%

No target

100%

100%

No target

≤2

15

51%

100%

87%

76%

Total 7.5%
Māori 8.5%
Other 7.4%

100%

90%

Total 5.4%
Māori 3.6%
Other 5.6%

N/A

34

82%

93%

89%

83%

Total 7.6%
Māori 7.6%
Other 7.6%

100%

82%

Total 5.2%
Māori 3.3%
Other 5.4%

Total 20
Māori 1

Other 19

Data not available
at time of publication

Improvement is needed in achievement against the InterRAI targets with only two of the measures being achieved. The referral times 
have been affected due to temporary staff shortages and it is anticipated that referral completion rates will improve in the future. Data 
collection improvements are also expected to improve accuracy of results. It is pleasing to see the percentage of older people having an 
InterRAI assessment within 230 days of admission into an aged care facility has shown improvements. We actively follow up and provide 
guidance to those aged care providers whose results are below best practice to ensure improvements are made.  
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LONG-TERM CONDITIONS
Long-term conditions account for a significant proportion of health care spend and hospitalisations, as well as being a barrier to 
full participation and independence in the workplace and society by affected individuals and their family/whānau. 

Whanganui DHB aims to enhance the quality of life for people with diabetes, cancer, respiratory illness, cardiovascular disease and 
other chronic (long duration) conditions as well as ensuring the care delivered to people experiencing a mental illness maximises 
their independence and wellbeing.

C

Whanganui DHB is showing consistent performance over many 
of the measures for long-term conditions. The ambulatory 
sensitive hospital (ASH) admission rates for both Māori and 
non-Māori have increased slightly for the second year in a row. 
There are many factors that can influence this result as the 
measure covers a wide range of conditions, however the main 
drivers for the increased rate have been increases in angina 
and chest pain and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 
(COPD) rates in Māori. The equity ratio, which indicates the 
relative gap between Māori and non-Māori health outcomes 
has slightly increased, indicating a gradually widening gap in 
health outcomes represented by this measure. Whanganui 
DHB’s focus on reducing inequality aims to reduce this disparity.   

Services to Improve Access (SIA) quality improvement initiatives are 
being implemented into general practice to support uptake of 
Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) risk assessments. Through cardiovascular 
risk assessment, people are identified as at-risk of CVD or diabetes to enable timely assessment, diagnosis and management of 
conditions. General practices continue to maintain focus and commitment to achieving the targets. The proportion of enrolled patients 
with diabetes who have a HBA1c of less than 64 mmol/mol has improved significantly as a result of increased focus by general practice. 
The focus of screening in 2018/19 will continue to be on 35-44 year old Māori men to help improve the health outcomes in this group.

Better Help for Smokers to Quit - Maternity
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31 March 2018)

Better Help for Smokers to Quit - Primary Care
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A number of initiatives are in place to support patients to manage their long-term conditions, including self management programmes, 
medication management and access to specialist services. The promotion of healthy lifestyles continues to be a priority and increasing 
health literacy through awareness and education empowers patients to understand their conditions and support self management.

Smoking contributes to an increased risk of developing stroke, heart disease and cancers. It is the single biggest cause of preventable 
death in New Zealand. Reducing the prevalence of smoking through a reduction in tobacco uptake and increased cessation will 
contribute to improved outcomes. The overall results for helping smokers to quit have achieved the national target except in secondary 
care due to a number of factors including data issues. The introduction of the webPAS (patient administration system) impacted on 
data recording, with mental health services data not being recorded properly. An adjustment to the template has been implemented 
and results are expected to improve in the next quarter. The rates reported for helping smokers to quit has improved in primary care, 
with this measure now achieving target. Our focus will continue to support general practice through outreach to contact patients and 
ensure smoking status is recorded accurately, as well as provide training and development of general practice teams.  

Percentage of people who were referred to, and attended, 
a cardiac rehabilitation & education class
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Percentage of long-term clients with mental illness 
who have an up-to-date relapse prevention plan (Adult)
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Proportion of eligible population who have had their 
cardiovascular risk assessed in the last five years
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%
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Proportion of PHO enrolled patients with diabetes who 
have a HBA1c of <64mmol/mol at last review
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Percentage of all pregnant Māori women 
smoke free at two weeks post-natal

Percentage of patients who smoke and 
are seen by a health practitioner in public 
hospitals will be offered brief advice and 
support to quit smoking

Percentage of PHO enrolled patients who 
smoke have been offered help to quit 
smoking by a healthcare practitioner in 
the last 15 months

Percentage of pregnant women who 
identify as smokers upon registration with 
a DHB-employed midwife or LMC who 
are offered advice

Long-term Conditions 

PREVENTION SERVICES  

Proportion of Youth (12-19) seen each 
quarter by Primary Mental Health Services

Proportion of patients with good or 
acceptable glycaemic control 
(HbA1C < 64 mmol/mol)

Percentage of eligible Māori men in the 
PHO aged 35-44 years who have had a CVD 
risk recorded within the past five years

Proportion of eligible population who 
have had their cardiovascular risk 
assessed in the last five years

Ambulatory Sensitive Hospitalisations 
rates for children 0-4 years of age relative 
to national rate

Ambulatory Sensitive Hospitalisations 
rates for 45-64 years of age relative to 
national rate

Long-term Conditions 

EARLY DETECTION & MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

≥95%
 

≥95%

≥90%

≥90%

≥95%
 

≥98%

≥90%

100%

Māori 68%
 

 Total 87%
Māori 85%
Other 88%

92%
 

 Total 100%
Māori 100%
Other 100%

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

Total No target
Māori ≥6.0%
Other ≥2.0%

≥53%

≥90%

≥90%

Māori ≤137.6%
Non-Māori ≤85.5%

Māori ≤268.4%
Non-Māori ≤130.1%

Total No target
Māori ≥6.0%
Other ≥2.0%

≥53%

≥90%

≥90%

Māori ≤137.6%
Non-Māori ≤85.5%

Māori ≤268.4%
Non-Māori ≤130.1%

 Total 1.8%
Māori 2.4%
Other 1.4%

 Total 61%
Māori 51%
Other 65%

Māori 60%
 

 Total 90%
Māori 88%
Other 89%

 Total 120%
Māori 141%
Other 103%

 Total 161%
Māori 275%
Other 134%

Māori 65%
 

 Total 97%
Māori 97%
Other 97%

86%
 

 Total 100%
Māori 100%
Other 100%

 Total 2.6%
Māori 4.3%
Other 1.7%

 Total 40%
Māori 48%
Other 39%

Māori 71%
 

 Total 91%
Māori 89%
Other 92%

 Total 110%
Māori 127%
Other 96%

 Total 152%
Māori 254%
Other 129%

It is great to see progress continuing, with increasing rates of smokers being offered smoking cessation advice by healthcare  
practitioners in primary care. The rate for women who are smokefree at two weeks post-natal has also shown slight improvement, but 
has some way to go to reach the 95 percent target. Consistent data collection for the post-natal target continues to be a challenge 
but the DHB is confident this will be resolved for the beginning of Quarter 3 when a ‘patch’ on the Tamariki Ora Reporting System is 
implemented nationally, and consistency between the Plunket and Tamariki Ora smokefree questions is achieved.

The introduction of webPAS impacted on data recording for smoking advice given within hospital mental health services with data not 
being properly recorded. An adjustment to the template has been implemented and results are expected to improve in the next quarter.

We are achieving pleasing results with CVD risk assessment although Māori men aged 35-44 has seen a decline in results. 
There will continue to be a focus on this demographic group in 2018/19 with quality improvement initiatives being implemented into 
general practice to support uptake of the CVD risk assessment. There will also be increased practice-level support with clinical director 
resource to improve the results for population health targets. Ambulatory sensitive hospitalisations (ASH) for the 45-64 year age group 
are also below target but unfortunately have risen slightly.   

The rates at which youth are being seen by primary mental health services in general practice has declined.  The main driver for this is 
youth are opting to use services offered by Youth Services Trust as a first choice rather than primary care. As a consequence, the number 
of youth seen by Youth Services Trust increased significantly.

With ASH rates for 0-4 year-olds being higher than desired we are focusing our efforts to reduce admissions due to dental conditions 
and ensure there is continued support post discharge for children admitted with asthma and respiratory conditions. See results under 
System Level Measures (page 66).
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Percentage of 0-19 year olds waiting less 
than 3 weeks and percentage waiting 
less than 8 weeks for non-urgent mental 
health and addiction services

Percentage of long term clients with 
mental illness who have an up-to-date 
relapse prevention plan

Percentage of service users receiving 
community care within seven days 
prior to an admission (KPI 18)

Percentage of service users receiving 
community care within seven days 
following their discharge (KPI 19)

Rate of Māori committed to compulsory 
treatment relative to non-Māori

Percentage of patients will be admitted, 
discharged, or transferred from an 
Emergency Department within six hours

Long-term Conditions 

INTENSIVE ASSESSMENT & TREATMENT SERVICES
Measure 2017/18

performance Achieved Comment2020/21
outlook

2016/17
performance

2017/18
target

T EQ

≥80% 
≥98%

≥95%

≥75%

≥90%

No target

≥95%

≥80% 
≥98%

≥95%

≥75%

≥90%

No target

≥95%

3 weeks 80%
 3-8 weeks 98%

96%
 

 Total 49%
Māori 42%
Other 54%

 N/A

Māori 209%

 Total 90%
Māori 91%
Other 89%

3 weeks 71%
 3-8 weeks 99%

100%
 

 Total 54%
Māori 41%
Other 60%

 Total 73%
Māori 74%
Other 73%

Māori 177%

 Total 95%
Māori 95%
Other 95%

The high level of demand for acute services in 2017/18 impacted on the Emergency Department, along with the introduction of a new 
patient administration system for collecting data. However, we continue to constantly assess capacity and demand in the Emergency 
Department to ensure patients are seen appropriately and receive timely care. It is pleasing to see the improved use of the CAPA 
(Choice and Partnership Approach) and other processes implemented by the Infant Child Adolescent Mental Health and Addiction 
Services sees continued improvement in waiting times for non-urgent mental health services. 

The percentage of mental health service users who are seen by our Mental Health and Addiction Services within seven days of being 
admitted into the service has shown some improvement in how accessible our mental health services are. The results continue to be 
below target, however the introduction of the new 'hub' model will strengthen links with primary care to improve access.
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EQUITABLE ACCESS TO CLINICAL SERVICES

Providing excellent clinical services is key for Whanganui 
DHB. Equitable, timely access to intensive assessment 
and treatment services can significantly improve quality 
of life. Responsive services and timely treatment support 
improvements across the whole system to give people 
confidence that complex intervention is available 
when needed. Quality improvement in all aspects of 
service delivery can improve patient safety and improve 
outcomes for people in our services. The following 
measures provide a dashboard of results over a number 
of key areas of focus for Whanganui DHB.

Whanganui DHB is maintaining a high level of clinical 
excellence meeting the targets in most of the areas in 
service delivery.  

D

Hand Hygiene - compliance with 
the 'Five moments of hand hygiene'

Source: Health Quality & Safety Commission100%
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Acute Cardiac Services - 70 percent of patients will 
receive an angiogram within three days of admission
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Percentage of people who receive their First 
Specialist Assessment within four months
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Proportion of patients attending the Emergency Department 
who are admitted, discharged or transferred within six hours
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The measures include providing a view of service performance 
across five priority areas in clinical service delivery:

   ▪  Shorter stays in the Emergency Department
   ▪  Improved access to elective surgery
   ▪  Cardiac services
   ▪  Improved access to diagnostic services
   ▪  Stroke services.

Our performance for 2017/18 shows continued improvements 
in service delivery, with improved results in hand hygiene 
compliance, average length of stay for acute patients, CT scan 
waiting times, and patients admitted with a stroke pathway. 

This year we have seen a reduction in the percentage of 
patients receiving an angiogram within three days of admission. 
Angiography services are delivered by Capital and Coast District 
Health Board as part of the Acute Coronary Syndrome service.  
We are continuing to work with them to plan service delivery 
for our population and improve access rates.

In 2017/18, the hospital has experienced a high level of 
demand on acute services which has impacted on patient 
throughput. This additional demand in the Emergency 
Department, and the introduction of a new patient 
administration system for collecting data, has impacted our 
ability to meet the six hour target. We continue to assess 
capacity and demand in the Emergency Department to ensure 
patients are seen appropriately and receive timely care.  

This year, we were again not that far from achieving the 
target for patients receiving their first specialist assessment 
within four months. Although we didn’t reach the high 
target we set ourselves, we still met the expectations of the 
Ministry of Health’s electives initiative. 

The results under this focus area have been driven out of a 
continued focus on quality improvement and patient safety 
initiatives. Some of the initiatives that support the achievement 
of the positive outcomes for our patients include:

Care Capacity Demand Management - exploiting existing 
information systems to put the right nursing staff in the right 
place at the right time.

Changing how we talk and listen - improving our health literacy 
and that of our patients and population.

Orthopaedic Outpatients Initiative - improving our thinking 
about cancellations and delays, and the impact they have on 
our patients. A similar pilot will follow for the Audiology Service.

Looking at our District Nursing Service and how much time 
they travel - if we reduce this we can provide more clinician 
to patient time.

Alcohol and Other Drugs Relapse Prevention - taking the 
concept of prevention seriously, and providing better services 
in the community.

Tracer Audit Initiative - changing staff perceptions 
around clinical audits and using auditing to showcase our 
exemplary services.
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Percentage of stroke patients admitted 
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Percentage of patients who have accepted a MRI 
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Percentage of people accepted for an 
urgent diagnostic colonoscopy received 
their procedure within two weeks (14 days)

Percentage of people accepted for a 
non-urgent diagnostic colonoscopy 
received their procedure within 42 days

Percentage of people waiting for a 
surveillance or follow-up colonoscopy that 
wait no longer than 12 weeks (84 days) 
beyond the planned date

Equity of Access 

EARLY DETECTION & MANAGEMENT SERVICES
Measure 2017/18

performance Achieved Comment2020/21
outlook

2016/17
performance

2017/18
target

T EQ

≥90%

≥70%

≥70%

≥95%

≥70%

≥95%

90%

56%

56%

98%

50%

46%

Percentage of category one patients 
seen immediately (resuscitation)
in the Emergency Department

Percentage of category three patients 
seen within 30 minutes (urgent)
in the Emergency Department

Percentage of category two patients 
seen within 10 minutes (emergency)
in the Emergency Department

Number of ED Department attendances

Number of acute medical inpatient 
discharges (excluding emergency 
medicine)

Number of acute surgical 
inpatient discharges (excluding 
emergency medicine)

Percentage presentations to the 
emergency department between
2100 and 0800 which are avoidable

Percentage of patients waiting less 
the maximum waiting time for first 
specialist assessment 

Percentage of patients waiting less 
the maximum waiting time for treatment

Standardised Intervention Rate 
- Elective services

Inpatient Length of Stay - Acute

Inpatient Length of Stay - Elective

Patient level data reported into the NPF 
collection, in line with specified requirements

Percentage of patients ready for treatment 
waiting less than 4 weeks for radiotherapy 
or chemotherapy

Percentage of patients to receive 1st cancer 
treatment (or other management) within 62 
days of being referred with a high suspicion 
of cancer & a need to be seen within 2 weeks

Proportion of patients referred urgently 
with a high suspicion of cancer who 
have their first specialist assessment 
within 14 days of being referred

Proportion of patients with a confirmed 
diagnosis of cancer who receive their first 
cancer treatment (or other management) 
within 31 days of the decision to treat

Equity of Access 

INTENSIVE ASSESSMENT & TREATMENT SERVICES
Measure 2017/18

performance Achieved Comment2020/21
outlook

2016/17
performance

2017/18
target

T EQ

100%
 

≥75%

≥80%

No target

No target

No target

<3.5%

100%

100%

Cardiac ≥6.5
Angioplasty ≥12.5

Angiography ≥34.7

≤2.30

≤1.47

100%

100%

≥90%

≥70%

≥85%

100%
 

≥75%

≥80%

No target

No target

No target

<3.5%

100%

100%

Cardiac ≥6.5
Angioplasty ≥12.5

Angiography ≥34.7

≤2.30

≤1.47

100%

100%

≥90%

≥70%

≥85%

 Total 81%
Māori 95%
Other 76%

 Total 91%
Māori 92%
Other 90%

 Total 88%
Māori 93%
Other 86%

 Total 21909
Māori 5463

Other 16446

 Total 4663
Māori 1068
Other 3595

 Total 2450
Māori 549

Other 1901

N/A

 99%

99%

Cardiac 4.8
 Angioplasty 11.2
Angiography 28.0

2.21 days
 

1.46 days
 

N/A
 

N/A

 82%
 

 N/A

91%

 Total 84%
Māori 86%
Other 84%

 Total 55%
Māori 55%
Other 55%

 Total 60%
Māori 61%
Other 60%

 Total 20695
Māori 4986

Other 15709

 Total 3680
Māori 889

Other 2791

 Total 2495
Māori 508

Other 1987

N/A

 99%

99%

Cardiac 4.5
 Angioplasty 11.2
Angiography 26.5

2.36 days
 

1.47 days
 

100%
 

N/A
 

83%
 

 N/A

87%

Data not available 
at time of publication

Data not available 
at time of publication

Data not available
at time of publication

National target changed 
to ≥90% during year

Data not available 
at time of publication
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Number of cardiac surgery discharges 
for the local population

Percentage of accepted referrals for 
elective coronary angiography will receive 
their procedure within 3 months (90 days)

Percentage of acute cardiac services 
patients who receive an angiogram 
within 3 days of admission

Percentage compliance with good 
hand hygiene practice

Percentage of surgical procedures where 
the level of team engagement with the 
surgical safety checklist were at 5 or above

SSI Process marker 1: Percentage of 
primary hip and knee replacement patients 
receiving prophylactic antibiotics 0-60 
minutes before incision

SSI Process marker 2: Percentage of hip and 
knee replacement patients receiving 2g or 
more cefazolin or 1.5g or more cefuroxime

SSI Process marker 3: Percentage of hip and 
knee replacement patients having appropriate 
skin antisepsis in surgery using alcohol/
chlorhexidine or alcohol/povidone iodine

Equity of Access 

INTENSIVE ASSESSMENT & TREATMENT SERVICES continued

Data not available
at time of publication

Measure 2017/18
performance Achieved Comment2020/21

outlook
2016/17

performance
2017/18

target
T EQ

≥52

≥95%

≥70%

≥80%

≥95%

100%

100%

100%

≥52

≥95%

≥70%

≥80%

≥95%

100%

100%

100%

41

 N/A

55%

86%

Sign in: 92%
Time out: 100%
Sign out: 97%

100%

100%

N/A

37

 N/A

63%

85%

Sign in: 92%
Time out: 88%

Sign out: No data

100%

100%

N/A

Data not available
at time of publication

It is pleasing to see we have achieved the target for urgent colonoscopies to be seen within 14 days. However, whilst there 
has been improvement, we are not achieving the target for non-urgent colonoscopies. We are going through a process to 
understand why this is the case and are reviewing the data collection systems to ensure we are capturing waiting times as 
per the Diagnostic Waiting Time Indicator guidelines. 

The target intervention rates for cardiac services continue to not be achieved. These services are delivered by Capital and Coast 
District Health Board. We continue to work with other Central Region DHBs to look at ways to improve the 
access rates for our population.

It is pleasing to see the target for patients receiving their first cancer treatment within 31 days of the decision to treat is 
being achieved. However, capacity issues at some treatment centres are impacting on patient’s ability, when appropriate, 
to be seen within two weeks.

For patients who have experienced a stroke, we have met two of the targets and very nearly achieved a third, which requires 
that patients are transferred to an inpatient setting within seven days

Number of patients seen by cardiac 
rehabilitation and education team 
whilst in hospital

Percentage of patients admitted with acute 
stroke who are transferred to inpatient 
rehabilitation services are transferred 
within 7 days of acute admission

Percentage of stroke patients admitted to a 
stroke unit or organised stroke service with 
demonstrated stroke pathway

Percentage of potentially eligible stroke 
patients thrombolysed

Equity of Access 

REHABILITATION & SUPPORT SERVICES
Measure 2017/18

performance Achieved Comment2020/21
outlook

2016/17
performance

2017/18
target

T EQ

No target

≥80%

≥80%

≥6.0%

No target

≥80%

≥95%

≥6.0%

326

79%

97%

8.4%

334

62% 
estimate

88%
estimate

7.5%
estimate

Estimate based on 
quarters 1-4. Quarter 1 

data not available



Whanganui District Health Board
Annual Report 2017 / 18   |   87

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
Financial Summary for the year ended 30 June 2018

Revenue
Crown
Other income
Inter-district inflow

Total revenue

Expenditure
Personnel
Capital charge
Depreciation
Other expense
Other provider payments
Inter-district outflow

Total expenditure

Net surplus / (deficit)

Intensive 
assessment & 

treatment

Early detection
& management

Rehabilitation
& support

Total

2018 Actual

147, 562
1, 706
4, 824

154, 092

(67, 875)
(3, 489)
(4, 173)

(32, 538)
(10, 288)
(34, 551)

(152, 914)

1, 178

52, 021
553

1, 453

54, 027

(8, 969)
(476)
(422)

(7, 676)
(36, 954)

(3, 258)

(57, 755)

(3, 728)

40, 103
102
992

41, 197

(3, 778)
(282)
(104)

(2, 925)
(30, 982)

(3, 271)

(41, 342)

(145)

244, 455
2, 438
7, 313

254, 206

(83, 456)
(4, 357)
(4, 720)

(43, 985)
(80, 733)
(41, 134)

(258, 385)

(4, 179)

Prevention
Services

4, 769
77
44

4, 890

(2, 834)
(110)

(21)
(846)

(2, 509)
(54)

(6, 374)

(1, 484)

Revenue
Crown
Other income
Inter-district inflow

Total revenue

Expenditure
Personnel
Capital charge
Depreciation
Other expense
Other provider payments
Inter-district outflow

Total expenditure

Net surplus / (deficit)

Early detection
& management

Prevention
Services

Rehabilitation
& support

Total

2018 Budget

52, 114
381

1, 678

54, 173

(9, 679)
(479)
(467)

(5, 291)
(36, 290)

(3, 608)

(55, 814)

(1, 641)

4, 332
25
44

4, 401

(1, 924)
(96)
(14)

(527)
(2, 815)

(54)

(5, 430)

(1, 029)

40, 512
111
992

41, 615

(3, 518)
(255)

(97)
(2, 661)

(31, 360)
(3, 316)

(41, 207)

408

243, 282
1, 997
8, 902

254, 181

(82, 502)
(4, 361)
(5, 220)

(42, 592)
(82, 207)
(39, 198)

(256, 080)

(1, 899)

Intensive 
assessment & 

treatment

146, 324
1, 480
6, 188

153, 992

(67, 381)
(3, 531)
(4, 642)

(34, 113)
(11, 742)
(32, 220)

(153, 629)

363

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BY OUTPUT CLASS

* This includes share of profit of associate of $129k (2017: nil).

*
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in thousands of New Zealand dollars

STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
Financial Summary for the year ended 30 June 2018

Revenue
Crown
Other income
Inter-district inflow

Total revenue

Expenditure
Personnel
Capital charge
Depreciation
Other expense
Other provider payments
Inter-district outflow

Total expenditure

Net surplus / (deficit)

Intensive 
assessment & 

treatment

Early detection
& management

Rehabilitation
& support

Total

2017 Actual

140, 965
1, 533
5, 073

147, 571

(64, 217)
(1, 838)
(4, 147)

(34, 183)
(10, 185)
(32, 312)

(146, 882)

689

52, 401
316

1, 636

54, 353

(8, 977)
(345)
(428)

(5, 251)
(37, 329)

(2, 987)

(55, 317)

(964)

35, 444
106
868

36, 418

(3, 832)
(218)

(97)
(2, 623)

(26, 917)
(2, 922)

(36, 609)

(191)

232, 646
1, 966
7, 618

242, 230

(78, 280)
(2, 422)
(4, 687)

(42, 471)
(76, 829)
(38, 253)

(242, 942)

(712)

Prevention
Services

3, 836
11
41

3, 888

(1, 254)
(21)
(15)

(414)
(2, 398)

(32)

(4, 134)

(246)

*

* This includes share of profit of associate of $129k (2017: nil).
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AUDIT REPORT

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE READERS OF   
WHANGANUI DISTRICT HEALTH BOARD’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
 
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Whanganui District Health Board (the Health Board). The 
Auditor-General has appointed me, Bruno Dente, using the staff and resources Deloitte 
Limited, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and the performance information, 
including the performance information for appropriations, of the Health Board on his behalf.   

Opinion   
We have audited:  
• the financial statements of the Health Board on pages 96 to 129, that comprise the 

statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the statement of comprehensive 
revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 
the year ended on that date, and the notes to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and 

• the performance information of the Health Board on pages 63 to 88.  
 
In our opinion:  
• the financial statements of the Health Board on pages 96 to 129: 

o present fairly, in all material respects: 
- its financial position as at 30 June 2018; and 
- its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; 

o comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in 
accordance with Public Benefit Entity Reporting Standards. 
 

• the performance information of the Health Board on pages 63 to 88: 
o presents fairly, in all material respects, the Health Board’s performance for the 

year ended 30 June 2018, including: 
- for each class of reportable outputs: 

 its standards of delivery performance achieved as compared 
with forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year; and  

 its actual revenue and output expenses as compared with the 
forecasts included in the statement of performance 
expectations for the financial year. 

- what has been achieved with the appropriations; and 
- the actual expenses or capital expenditure incurred compared with the 

appropriated or forecast expenses or capital expenditure. 
o complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

 
Our audit of the financial statements and the performance information was completed on 19 
October 2018. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.  
 
The basis for our opinion is explained below and we draw attention to a matter in relation to 
compliance with the Holiday Act 2003 . In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Board 
and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the performance information, 
we comment on other information, and we explain our independence.  
 
Compliance with Holidays Act 2003  
District Health Boards (DHBs) have been investigating issues associated with the calculation of 
employee entitlements under the Holidays Act 2003. A national approach is being taken to 
remediate these issues. Due to the nature of DHB employment arrangements, this is a complex 
and time consuming process. This matter may result in significant liabilities for some DHBs. 
The Health Board has provide further disclosures about this matter in Note 17 on page 122. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  
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Basis for our opinion  
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the Professional and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing 
(New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the 
auditor section of our report.   
 
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing 
Standards.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  
 
Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements and the 
performance information  
The Board is responsible on behalf of the Health Board for preparing financial statements and 
performance information that are fairly presented and comply with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand.  
 
The Board is responsible for such internal control as they determine/s is necessary to enable 
them to prepare financial statements and performance information that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
  
In preparing the financial statements and the performance information, the Board is 
responsible on behalf of the Health Board for assessing the Health Board’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. The Board is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting, unless there is an intention 
to liquidate the Health Board or or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
The Board’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004, the New Zealand Public 
Health and Disability Act 2000 and the Public Finance Act 1989.   
 
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and 
the performance information  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and 
the performance information, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.   
 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried 
out in accordance with the Auditor General’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts or 
disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions 
of readers taken on the basis of these financial statements and the performance information.   
 
For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the performance 
information, our procedures were limited to checking that the information agreed to the Health 
Board’s statement of performance expectations.   
 
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial 
statements and the performance information.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:   
• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements 

and the performance information, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 
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• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health Board’s internal control. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board. 

• We evaluate the appropriateness of the reported performance information within the 
Health Board’s framework for reporting its performance. 

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting 
by the Board and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast a significant doubt on 
the Health Board’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements and the performance information or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Health Board to cease to continue as a going 
concern.   

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements 
and the performance information, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements and the performance information represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.    
 
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.  
 
Other Information  
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included on pages 4 to 62, 89 to 95 and 130 to 135, but does not include the 
financial statements and the performance information, and our auditor’s report thereon.   
 
Our opinion on the financial statements and the performance information does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion 
thereon.   
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the performance information, our 
responsibility is to read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and the performance 
information or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Independence  
We are independent of the Health Board in accordance with the independence requirements of 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements 
of Professional and Ethical Standard 1(Revised): Code of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners 
issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.   
 
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with, or interests in, the Health Board.  
 
 
 
 
Bruno Dente  
for Deloitte Limited  
On behalf of the Auditor-General  
Hamilton, New Zealand  
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The 2017/18 financial result of a $4.2m deficit, compared 
to the 2016/17 deficit of 0.7m was due to significant 
growth in expenditure to meet the increasing demand 
placed on the health system. The Whanganui DHB region 
has a high proportion of older people who are living 
longer which contributes to a greater level of fragility in 
the community. The impact of the increasing frailty is 
putting pressure on health services in the community 
with the flow-over effects being felt through increased 
patient demand for hospital-based services.  

In order to meet the increased demand, additional 
resource in both the hospital and community setting 
have been required. This increased need for resources 
has meant increased levels of clinical staffing and 
supplies to care for our people locally. The increase 
in patient volumes has increased bed occupancy. 
At the same time, patient acuity/complexity has 
increased partly due to more patients with dementia, 
as well as an increased level of services required by 
our people at other DHBs.

Full time Equivalents (FTE) trend
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825
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750

700
2013/14

Full time equivalents (FTE)

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

809
817

830

856

893

Inpatient Caseweight volume - Elective & Acute 
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0
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Acute Medical                     Acute surgical                  Elective surgical

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

4,863 4,928
5,117 5,238

5,954

3,375 3,339 3,314 3,059 3,316

2,377
2,856 2,798

3,044 2, 993

Revenue breakdown
In 2017/18 our revenue increased by $11.8m (4.9 percent) 
compared to a $5.3m increase (2.2 percent) in 2016/17. 
Of our revenue, 96 percent was from the Crown – the 
same as in 2016/17.  

The increase is due to following factors:

▪   An increase in population based funding of $7.1m

▪   In-between travel settlement funding of $0.6m  

▪   Home and community support (care and support 
     workers) pay equity settlement of $4.0m. (This was 
     offset by equivalent funding passed onto home and 
     community support providers.)

▪   Other revenue increased by $0.1m mainly due to 
     hospital pharmaceutical rebate and reimbursement 
     of outsourced staff to other organisations.

Expenditure breakdown
In 2017/18 our expenditure increased by $15.5m (6.4 percent). 
This is a significantly greater increase than the $5.4m increase 
(2.3 percent) experienced in 2016/17. The most significant 
increases in expenditure have been driven by increased 
demand on services. The main increases have been:

▪   Personnel costs (including outsourced personnel) have 
     increased by $5.9m (7 percent) due to increase in service 
     volume, patient acuity requiring more clinical staff along 
     with implementation of safer rosters model (CCDM), an 
     increase in one-on-one care for patients and MECA 
     inflation increases.

▪   While the underlying service demand for health of older 
     people services has been neutral, costs have increased 
     by $4.1m due to the care and support worker pay equity 
     settlement. The MoH has provided new funding to cover 
     this cost impact.

▪   Payments to other DHBs have increased by $2.9m (7.5 percent).

▪   Clinical supplies and infrastructure and non-clinical 
     supplies increased by $1.7m due to high inpatient 
     acuity impacted on wards supplies costs, blood products 
     relates to three patient, patient travel, theatre consumables 
     relates to high surgical elective volume (8.4 percent 
     increase) and IT system upgrade project. This expense 
     excludes inter-district outflow and payments to 
     non-health board providers included in Note 5. 

▪   Capital charge increased by $1.9m (79.9 percent) due to   
     conversion of Crown debts to equity. 

Assets
Total assets increased by $4.5m which relates to the 
revaluation of land and buildings at 30 June 2018 and IT 
infrastructure upgrades.

Liabilities
Total liabilities increased by $1.9m which relates to nursing 
MECA settlement provision and the finance lease of a 
CT scanner.

Net assets
Net assets increased by $2.7m, with the valuation of land 
and building contributing $7m. This was partially offset by 
the deficit for the year and return on capital paid to the 
Crown of $4.3m.

Total revenue & expenditure
(in thousands of New Zealand dollars)

2017/18

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

2013/14

$210,000 $220,000 $230,000 $240,000 $250,000 $260,000

Total expenditure                        Total revenue      
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Dot McKinnon 
Board Chair

Russell Simpson
Chief Executive

Brian Walden
General Manager Corporate

Darren Hull
Board member

Dated:  19 October 2018

The board and management of Whanganui District Health 
Board are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and statement of performance and for the 
judgements made in them.
     
The board and management of Whanganui District Health 
Board are responsible for any end-of-year performance 
information provided by Whanganui District Health Board 
under section 19A of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

The board and management of Whanganui District 
Health Board are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining a system of internal controls designed to 
provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of financial and non-financial reporting.

In the opinion of the board and management of the 
Whanganui District Health Board, the financial statements 
and statement of performance for the year ended 30 June 
2018, fairly reflect the financial position and operations of 
the Whanganui District Health Board.

Signed on behalf of the board and management by:

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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Revenue
Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions
Other revenue

Total revenue

Expenses
Personnel costs
Outsourced services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Capital charge
Finance costs
Other expenses

Total expenses

Share of profit of associate

(Deficit) / Surplus 

Other comprehensive revenue and expense
Gain on property revaluation

Total other comprehensive revenue and expense

Total comprehensive revenue and expense

1a
1b
1c

2

3
4
5

12

2018 BudgetNote

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 22.
The notes and statement of accounting policies form part of, and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

222, 111
31, 627

339

254, 077

(83, 456)
(14, 397)

(4, 720)
(4, 357)

(10)
(151, 445)

(258, 385)

129

(4, 179)

7, 024

7, 024

2, 845

2018 Actual

225, 295
28, 493

343

254, 131

(82, 502)
(13, 281)

(5, 220)
(4, 361)

-
(150, 716)

(256, 080)

50

(1, 899)

2, 866

2, 866

967

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
For the year ended 30 June 2018

213, 964
27, 914

352

242, 230

(78, 280)
(13, 590)

(4, 687)
(2, 422)

(967)
(142, 996)

(242, 942)

-

(712)

-

-

(712)

2017 Actual
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Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Receivables from exchange transactions
Prepayments
Investments
Inventories
Trust / special funds
Patient and restricted trust funds

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investments in associates

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Payables under non-exchange transactions
Payables under exchange transactions
Borrowings
Employee entitlements

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Employee entitlements

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity
Contributed capital
Accumulated surplus / (deficit)
Property revaluation reserve
Hospital special funds

Total equity

2018 Actual 2018 BudgetNote

1, 284
223

8, 514
13

3, 000
1, 412

141
4

14, 591

76, 766
12, 417

1, 121

90, 304

104, 895

2, 179
11, 743

227
12, 874

27, 023

914
805

1, 719

28, 742

76, 153

105, 725
(53, 594)

23, 881
141

76, 153

6
7
7

8
9

10
11
12

14
14
15
16

15
16

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 22.
The notes and statement of accounting policies form part of, and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

2, 301
212

6, 451
44

3, 000
1, 350

133
6

13, 497

75, 344
14, 478

1, 184

91, 006

104, 503

1, 925
14, 126

135
11, 308

27, 494

236
814

1, 050

28, 544

75, 959

107, 625
(51, 522)

19, 723
133

75, 959

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2018

2017 Actual

7, 406
216

6, 424
885

3, 000
1, 327

134
4

19, 396

70, 624
9, 209
1, 126

80, 959

100, 355

3, 097
11, 698

155
10, 695

25, 645

371
872

1, 243

26, 888

73, 467

105, 884
(49, 409)

16, 857
135

73, 467
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Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 22.
The notes and statement of accounting policies form part of, and should be read in conjunction with these financial statements.

Contributed capital
Balance at 1 July
Conversion of Crown loan to equity
Repayment of capital

Balance at 30 June

Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 
Balance at 1 July
Other reserved movements
Surplus / (Deficit) for the year

Balance at 30 June

Property and plant revaluation reserves
Balance at 1 July
Revaluation

Balance at 30 June

Property and plant revaluation reserves consist of:
Land
Buildings

Total property and plant revaluation reserves

Hospital special funds
Balance at 1 July

Transfer from retained earnings in respect of:
Interest
Donations and funds received

Transfer from retained earnings in respect of:
Funds spent

Balance at 30 June

Total equity

2018 Actual

105, 884
-

(159)

105, 725

(49, 409)
(6)

(4, 179)

(53, 594)

16, 857
7, 024

23, 881

1, 093
22, 788

23, 881

135

4
4

(2)

141

76, 153

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2018

2017 Actual

69, 342
36, 700

(158)

105, 884

(48, 722)
25

(712)

(49, 409)

16, 857
-

16, 857

932
15, 925

16, 857

160

2
2

(29)

135

73, 467
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Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from the Crown
Interest received
Receipt from other revenue
Payment to suppliers
Payment to employees
Interest paid
Payment of capital charge
GST (net)

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net appropriation from trust funds

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Capital contribution
Payment of finance lease
Repayment of capital
Payment of loans

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2018 Actual 2018 Budget

248, 493
509

1, 934
(164, 496)

(81, 344)
(10)

(4, 357)
(91)

638

38
(2, 457)
(3, 983)

(7)

(6, 409)

-
(57)

(159)
(135)

(351)

(6, 122)
7, 406

1, 284

250, 586
604

1, 347
(160, 274)

(81, 995)
-

(4, 361)
(24)

5, 883

-
(4, 874)
(4, 594)

-

(9, 468)

1, 899
(20)

(158)
(135)

1, 586

(1, 999)
4, 300

2, 301

Explanations of major variances against budget are provided in Note 22.
The notes and statement of accounting policies form part of, and should be read in conjunction 
with these financial statements.

6

Note

Net surplus / (deficit)

Add / (less) non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Impairment on intangible assets (NOS)

Total non-cash items

Add / (less) items classified as investing or financing activities
(Gains) / losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Surplus / (deficit) from associates
Payable movements attributed to capital purchase

Total items classified as investing or financing activities

Add / (less) movements in statement of financial position items
Receivables
Inventories
Payables
Employee entitlements

Net movements in working capital items

Net cash flow from operating activities

2018 Actual
RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) 
TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

(4, 179)

4, 720
83

4, 803

16
(129)

64

(49)

(1, 091)
(85)

(873)
2, 112

63

638

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2018

2017 Actual

240, 875
574

1, 392
(159, 634)

(77, 495)
(1, 208)
(2, 422)

89

2, 171

-
(2, 884)
(2, 487)

26

(5, 345)

-
(33)

(158)
(136)

(327)

(3, 501)
10, 907

7, 406

2017 Actual

(712)

4, 687
-

4, 687

8
-

(476)

(468)

(957)
34

(1, 094)
681

(1, 336)

2, 171
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REPORTING ENTITY
Whanganui District Health Board is a Crown entity as 
defined by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and is domiciled and 
operates in New Zealand. Whanganui District Health Board's 
ultimate parent is the New Zealand Crown. Whanganui 
District Health Board is a reporting entity for the purposes of 
the New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000, the 
Financial Reporting Act 2013, the Public Finance Act 1989 
and the Crown Entities Act 2004. 

Whanganui District Health Board's primary objective is to 
provide health, disability and mental health services to the 
New Zealand public. Whanganui District Health Board does 
not operate to make a financial return.

Whanganui District Health Board has designated itself as a 
public benefit entity (PBE) for financial reporting purposes. 

The group consists of Whanganui District Health Board and 
its associated entity Allied Laundry Services Limited (17.64% 
owned, 2017: 18.25% owned), as disclosed in Note 12.

There is also an investment in Technical Advisory Services 
Limited (TAS) (16.7% owned), as disclosed in Note 13. In 
addition, funds administered on behalf of patients have 
been reported within the Statement of Changes in Equity.

The financial statements for Whanganui District Health 
Board are for year ended 30 June 2018, and were authorised 
by the board on 19 October 2018.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis, and the accounting policies have been applied 
consistently throughout the period.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of Whanganui District Health Board 
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Crown Entities Act 2004, which includes the requirement 
to comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New 
Zealand (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with Tier 1 Public Benefit Entity (PBE) accounting standards.

Presentation currency and rounding
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000).

Standards and amendments, issued but not yet 
effective that have not been early adopted

Impairment of revalued assets
In April 2017, the XRB issued Impairment of Revalued Assets, 
which now clearly scopes revalued property, plant, and 
equipment into the impairment accounting standards. 
Previously, only property, plant, and equipment measured at 
cost were scoped into the impairment accounting standards. 

Under the amendment, a revalued asset can be impaired 
without having to revalue the entire class of asset to which 
the asset belongs. This amendment is effective for the 30 June 
2020 financial statements, with early adoption permitted. The 
timing of the WDHB adopting this amendment will be guided 
by the Treasury’s decision on when the Financial Statements 
of the Government will adopt the amendment.

Financial instruments
In January 2017, the XRB issued PBE IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. This replaces PBE IPSAS 29 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. PBE IFRS 9 is 
effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2021, with earlier application permitted. The main changes 
under the standard are:

▪  New financial asset classification requirements for 
   determining whether an asset is measured at fair value 
   or amortised cost.

▪  A new impairment model for financial assets based 
   on expected losses, which might result in the earlier 
   recognition of impairment losses.

The Treasury has decided that the Financial Statements of 
the Government will early adopt PBE IFRS 9 for the 30 June 
2019 financial year. The WDHB will also early adopt PBE 
IFRS 9 for the 30 June 2019 financial year to be consistent 
with Crown’s accounting policy for financial instruments. 
The WDHB has not yet assessed in detail the impact of the 
new standard. Based on an initial assessment, the WDHB 
anticipates that the standard will not have a material effect 
on the WDHB’s financial statements.

Interests in other entities
In January 2017, the XRB issued new standards for interests 
in other entities (PBE IPSAS 34 - 38). These new standards 
replace the existing standards for interests in other entities 
(PBE IPSAS 6 - 8). The new standards are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early 
application permitted.

The WDHB plans to apply the new standards in preparing 
the 30 June 2020 Financial Statements. The WDHB has not 
yet assessed the effects of these new standards. 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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Service performance reporting
In November 2017, the XRB issued new standards for service 
performance reporting (PBE FRS 48). PBE FRS 48 is effective for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with earlier 
application permitted. 

The standard applies to all Tier 1 and Tier 2 not-for profit public 
benefit entities and Tier 1 and Tier 2 public sector public benefit 
entities required by legislation to provide information in respect 
of service performance in accordance with GAAP. 

The standard will provide users with sufficient contextual 
information to understand why the entity exists, what it intends 
to achieve in broad terms over medium to long term and how 
it goes about it and  provide users with information about what 
the entity has done during the reporting period in working 
towards its broader aims and objective.

Whanganui DHB plans to apply the new standards in preparing 
the 30 June 2022 service performance reporting.

GOING CONCERN
The going concern principle has been adopted in the 
preparation of these financial statements. The Whanganui 
District Health Board (DHB), after making enquiries, has a 
reasonable expectation that the DHB has adequate resources 
to continue operations for the foreseeable future. The board 
has reached this conclusion having regard to circumstances 
which it considers likely to affect the district health board for 
the foreseeable future from the date of signing the 2017/18 
financial statements, and to circumstances which it knows 
will occur after that date which could affect the validity of the 
going concern assumption (as set out in its current Statement 
of Performance and Statement of Financial Position).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to 
which they relate. Significant accounting policies that do 
not relate to a specific note are outlined below.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Comparative figures in the statement of comprehensive 
revenue and expense, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows are presented for the 12 
months’ operations from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017. The 
comparative figures in the Statement of Financial Position 
are presented as at 30 June 2017.

BUDGET FIGURES
The budget figures are those approved by the DHB in the 
WDHB's Annual Plan and included in the statement of 
performance tabled in Parliament. The budget figures have 
been prepared in accordance with NZGAAP.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX
All amounts are shown exclusive of Goods and Services Tax 
(GST), except for receivables and payables which are stated 
inclusive of GST. Where GST is irrecoverable as an input tax, it is 
recognised as part of the related asset or expense. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the IRD is 
included as part of receivables from non-exchange or exchange 
transactions or payables under non-exchange or exchange 
transactions in the Statement of Financial Position.

The net GST paid to, or received from, the IRD, including the GST 
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as a net 
operating cash flow in the Statement of Cash Flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.

INCOME TAX
Whanganui District Health Board is a Crown entity under the 
New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 and is 
exempt from income tax under section CB3 of the Income 
Tax Act 2007. The associate company Allied Laundry Services 
Limited, is exempt from income tax under section CW31 (2) 
of the Income Tax Act 2007.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Foreign currency transactions (including those subject to 
forward foreign exchange contracts) are translated into NZ$ 
(the functional currency) using the spot exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise receivables 
from exchange and non-exchange transactions, cash and 
cash equivalents, other investments, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings, and payables under exchange and non-
exchange transactions. Non-derivative financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs except 
for those financial assets classified as fair value through 
other comprehensive revenue and expense. Non-derivative 
financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-
derivative financial instruments are measured as described 
below and in Note 21.

A financial instrument is recognised if Whanganui District 
Health Board becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if 
Whanganui District Health Board's contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Whanganui 
District Health Board transfers the financial asset to another 
party without retaining control or substantially all risks and 
rewards of the asset. Purchases and sales of financial assets are 
accounted for at trade date, i.e. the date that the Whanganui 
District Health Board commits itself to purchase or sell the 
asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Whanganui 
District Health Board's obligations specified in the contract 
expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies adopted in these financial 
statements are consistent with those of the previous 
financial year, unless otherwise stated.

PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised when Whanganui District Health 
Board has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle that obligation. 
If the effect is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market rates and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability.

EQUITY
Equity is measured as the difference between total assets 
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified 
into the following components:

     ▪   Contributed capital;

     ▪   Accumulated surplus/(deficit);

     ▪   Property revaluation reserves; and

     ▪   Hospital special funds.

Property revaluation reserve
This reserve relates to the revaluation of property, plant, and 
equipment to fair value. 

Hospital special funds
Special funds are funds donated or bequeathed for a specific 
purpose. The use of these assets must comply with the specific 
terms of the sources from which the funds were derived. 
The revenue and expenditure in respect of these funds is 
recognised in the surplus or deficit. An amount equal to the 
expenditure is transferred from the Trust fund component of 
equity to retained earnings. An amount equal to the revenue is 
transferred from retained earnings to Trust funds.

All hospital special funds (Trust) are held in bank accounts 
that are separate from Whanganui District Health Board’s 
normal banking facilities.

COST OF SERVICE  (Statement of Performance)
The cost of service statements, as reported in the statement 
of performance, report the net cost of services for the 
outputs of Whanganui District Health Board and are 
represented by the cost of providing the output less all the 
revenue that can be allocated to these activities.

Cost allocation
Whanganui District Health Board has arrived at the net 
cost of service for each significant activity using the cost 
allocation system outlined below.

Cost allocation policy
Direct costs are charged directly to output classes. Indirect 
costs are charged to output classes based on cost drivers 
and related activity and usage information.

Criteria for direct and indirect costs
Direct costs are those costs directly attributable to an output 
class. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified in 
an economically feasible manner with a specific output class.

Cost drivers for allocation of direct and indirect costs
Direct costs are charged directly to outputs. Depreciation 
is charged on the basis of asset utilisation. Personnel costs 
are charged on the basis of actual time incurred. Property 
and other premises costs, such as maintenance, are charged 
on the basis of floor area occupied for the production of 
each output. The cost of indirect costs (internal services) not 
directly charged to outputs is attached as overheads using 
appropriate cost drivers such as actual usage, staff numbers 
and floor areas. 

There have been no changes to the cost allocation methodology 
since the date of the last audited financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
In preparing these financial statements, Whanganui 
District Health Board has made estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions 
may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates 
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
For the year ended 30 June 2018
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The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of financial assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are:

     ▪   revenue recognised and income in advance - refer Note 1.

     ▪   useful lives and residual values of property, plant, 
           and equipment – refer Note 10.

     ▪   fair value of land and buildings – refer Note 10.

     ▪   useful lives of software assets – refer Note 11. 

     ▪   retirement and long service leave – refer Note 16.

1   REVENUE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The specific accounting policies for significant revenue items 
are explained below:

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable.

Crown funding
Whanganui District Health Board is primarily funded 
through revenue received from Crown under a Crown 
Funding Agreement, which is based on population levels 
within the Whanganui DHB district. This funding is restricted 
in its use for the purpose of Whanganui District Health Board 
meeting the objectives specified in its founding legislation 
and the scope of the relevant appropriations of the funder. 

The revenue recognition approach for Crown contract 
revenue depends on the contract terms. Those contracts 
where the amount of revenue is substantively linked to 
the provision of quantifiable units of service are treated as 
exchange contracts and revenue is recognised as the DHB 
provides the services. For example, where funding varies 
based on the quantity of services delivered, such as number 
of screening tests or heart checks.

Other contracts are treated as non-exchange and the 
total funding receivable under the contract is recognised as 
revenue immediately, unless there are substantive conditions 
in the contract. If there are substantive conditions, revenue 
is recognised when the conditions are satisfied. A condition 
could include the requirement to provide services to the 
satisfaction of the funder to receive or retain funding.

Revenue for future years is not recognised where the 
contract contains substantive termination provisions for 
failure to comply with the service requirements of the 
contract. Conditions and termination provisions need to be 
substantive, which is assessed by considering factors such as 
the past practice of the funder. Judgement is often required in 
determining the timing of revenue recognition for contracts 
that span a balance date and multi-year funding arrangements. 

The fair value of revenue from the Crown has been 
determined to be equivalent to the amounts due in the 
funding arrangements.

 
Inter-district inflows
Inter-district patient inflow revenue occurs when a patient 
treated within the DHB’s district is domiciled outside of the 
district. Inter-district patient inflow revenue is recognised 
when eligible services are provided. 

ACC contract revenue
ACC contract revenue is recognised as revenue when 
eligible services are provided and any contract conditions 
have been fulfilled. 

Goods sold and services rendered
Revenue from goods sold are recognised when Whanganui 
District Health Board has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and Whanganui 
District Health Board does not retain either continuing 
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.

Revenue from these services are recognised, to the 
proportion that a transaction is complete, when it is 
probable that the payment associated with the transaction 
will flow to Whanganui District Health Board and that 
payment can be measured or estimated reliably, and to the 
extent that any obligations and all conditions have been 
satisfied by Whanganui District Health Board.

Donated assets
Where a physical asset is gifted to or acquired by Whanganui 
District Health Board for nil consideration or at a subsidised 
cost, the asset is recognised at fair value and the difference 
between the consideration provided and fair value of the 
asset is recognised as revenue. The fair value of donated 
assets is determined as follows:

▪   For new assets, fair value is usually determined by 
     reference to the retail price of the same or similar assets 
     at the time the asset was received.

▪   For used assets, fair value is usually determined by 
     reference to market information for assets of a similar 
     type, condition, and age.

Donated services
Certain operations of Whanganui District Health Board are 
reliant on services provided by volunteers. Volunteer services 
received are not recognised as revenue or expenditure by 
Whanganui District Health Board.

Interest revenue
Interest received and receivable on funds invested, are 
calculated using the effective interest rate method, and 
are recognised as a revenue in the financial year in which 
they are incurred.

Revenue recognition and income advance
In determining whether or not revenue has been earned 
a degree of judgement is required based on information 
included within the funding agreements. Where the funding 
agent has the right to demand repayment, income in advance 
is recognised for the unearned portion of the funding received.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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1   REVENUE (continued)

BREAKDOWN OF REVENUE AND FURTHER INFORMATION

Health and disability services (Crown appropriation revenue)*
Ministry of Health other revenue
Other revenue

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions

2018 Actual1a.   REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

216, 181
5, 922

8

222, 111

Ministry of Health other revenue
ACC contract
Inter District Patient Inflows
Other Government
Other revenue
Finance income

Total revenue from exchange transactions

2018 Actual1b.   REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

14, 692
6, 935
7, 666

247
1, 578

509

31, 627

2018 Actual1c.   OTHER REVENUE

339

339

Rental revenue

Total other revenue

2   PERSONNEL COSTS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages are recognised as an expense as employees provide services.

Superannuation schemes - Defined contribution schemes
Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund, are accounted for as defined contribution 
superannuation schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit as incurred.

BREAKDOWN OF PERSONNEL COSTS AND FURTHER INFORMATION

Salaries and wages
Defined contribution scheme employer contributions
Increase / (decrease) in employee entitlements

Total personnel costs

2018 Actual

80, 497
2, 327

632

83, 456

Employer contributions to defined contribution schemes include contributions to KiwiSaver and the Government 
Superannuation Funds.

* Performance against this appropriation is reported in the Statement of Performance on pages 63-88. The appropriation revenue received by Whanganui District Health 
   Board equals the Government’s actual expenses incurred in relation to the appropriation, which is a required disclosure from the Public Finance Act.

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

2017 Actual

208, 746
5, 214

4

213, 964

2017 Actual

10, 527
7, 064
8, 234

376
1, 139

574

27, 914

2017 Actual

352

352

2017 Actual

75, 715
2, 179

386

78, 280
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2018 Actual

100, 000 - 109, 999
110, 000 - 119, 999
120, 000 - 129, 999
130, 000 - 139, 999
140, 000 - 149, 999
150, 000 - 159, 999
160, 000 - 169, 999
170, 000 - 179, 999
180, 000 - 189, 999
190, 000 - 199, 999
200, 000 - 209, 999
210, 000 - 219, 999
220, 000 - 229, 999
230, 000 - 239, 999
240, 000 - 249, 999
250, 000 - 259, 999
260, 000 - 269, 999
270, 000 - 279, 999
280, 000 - 289, 999
290, 000 - 299, 999
300, 000 - 309, 999
310, 000 - 319, 999
320, 000 - 329, 999
330, 000 - 339, 999
340, 000 - 349, 999
350, 000 - 359, 999
360, 000 - 369, 999
370, 000 - 379, 999
380, 000 - 389, 999
390, 000 - 399, 999
400, 000 - 409, 999
410, 000 - 419, 999
420, 000 - 429, 999
440, 000 - 449, 999
620, 000 - 629, 999
640, 000 - 649, 999
660, 000 - 669, 999

Total employees

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION (over $100,000)
The number of employees or former employees who received remuneration 
$100,000 or more within specified $10,000 bands were as follows: Number of employees

Medical staff make up 77 (2017: 68) of the 128 (2017: 107) people in these bands.

If the remuneration of the part-time employees were grossed up to a fulltime equivalent (FTE) basis, the total number of 
employees with FTE salaries of $100,000 or more would be 133 (2017: 110) compared with the actual number of employees 
of 128 (2017: 107). The chief executive’s remuneration is in the $310,000 to $319,999 band (2017: $370,000 to $379,999). 
This includes the value of the district health board’s contribution to KiwiSaver and car allowance. Non-cash benefits are not 
included in the salary data for other employees. Due to timing of recruitment of the new chief executive, the salary band for 
the 2017/18 year is based on part of the year only. If calculated on a full year, the salary band would be $390,000 to $399,999.

Severance payments
One employee received severence payments in 2018 (2017: 1). Employees received compensation and other benefits in 
relation to termination of their employment or change in contractual conditions totalling $11k (2017: $7k).

in thousands of New Zealand dollars

2017 Actual

24
8

13
4
4
1
4
1
1
1
2
3
2
2
6
1
1
2
2
3
-
1
1
4
2
3
-
5
3
1
1
-
-
-
-
1
-

107

30
13
20

8
3
-
2
2
2
2
1
1
1
2
4
4
3
2
2
3
2
2
2
2
3
2
-
2
3
1
1
1
-
1
-
-
1

128
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3   CAPITAL CHARGE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The capital charge is recognised as an expenditure in the financial year to which the charge relates.

Further information
The DHB pays a capital charge to the Crown on its equity (adjusted for memorandum accounts) as at 30 June and 31 December 
each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2018 was 6% (2017: 7% from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2016; 
6% from 1 January 2017 to 30 June 2017).

4   FINANCE COSTS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Financing costs comprise interest paid and payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, and are 
recognised as an expenditure in the financial year in which they are incurred.

BREAKDOWN OF BORROWING / FINANCING COSTS

Interest on secure loans
Interest on finance lease

Total finance costs

2018 Actual

-
10

10

5   OTHER EXPENSES
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Operating lease
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset to the lessee. 

Lease payments made under an operating lease are recognised as an expenditure on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the surplus or deficit over the lease term on a straight-line basis as well as 
an integral part of the total lease expense. 

Fees to Auditors
     Fees for audit of financial statements
Audit related fee internal (for assurance related services)
Board members fees
Board member expenses
Operating lease expenses
(Reversal of ) / impairment of receivables
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
National Oracle Solution (NOS) impairment
Inventories consumed
Clinical & infrastructure and non-clinical expenses
Inter district outflow
Payments to non-health board providers

Total other expenses

2018 Actual

180
96

190
6

501
(95)

16
83

7, 563
21, 038
41, 134
80, 733

151, 445

BREAKDOWN OF OTHER EXPENSES AND FURTHER INFORMATION

2017 Actual

967
-

967

2017 Actual

182
110
172

7
711

-
8
-

6, 762
19, 962
38, 253
76, 829

142, 996

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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5   OTHER EXPENSES (continued)

BOARD MEMBER REMUNERATION 2018 Actual

Mrs Dot McKinnon  (Board chair)
Mr Stuart Hylton  (deputy Board chair)
Mrs Philippa Baker-Hogan
Mrs Judith MacDonald
Ms Jenny Duncan  
Ms Harete Hipango  
Mr Philip Sunderland (to December 2016)
Mr Allan Anderson (to December 2016)
Ms Kate Joblin (to December 2016)
Mr Ray Stevens (to December 2016)
Mrs Barbara Ball (to December 2016)
Mr Graham Adams (from December 2016)
Mr Charlie Anderson (from December 2016)
Ms Annette Main (from December 2016)
Hon Dame Tariana Turia (from December 2016)
Mr Darren Hull (from December 2016)

Total board member remuneration

33
21
17
17
17

-
-
-
-
-
-

17
17
17
17
17

190

Whanganui District Health Board does not provide a deed of indemnity to directors for certain activities undertaken in 
the performance of the Whanganui District Health Board's functions.

No board members received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2017: nil).

Payments made to committee members appointed by the board totalled $32k (2017:$29k).

Operating leases as lessee
The future aggregate minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

There are no restrictions placed on Whanganui District Health Board by any of its leasing arrangements.
Whanganui District Health Board leases a number of vehicles, clinical and office equipment (mainly photocopiers and printers) 
under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of three to five years with an option to renew the lease after that 
date. None of the leases include contingent rentals.

Magnetic Resource Imager (MRI) for radiology department is leased with an expiry date of May 2019, both parties will meet to 
discuss renewal and extension of existing agreement, six months before the expiry of the term.

THE FUTURE AGGREGATE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS TO BE PAID UNDER 
NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASES ARE AS FOLLOWS

Non-cancellable operating leases

Less than one year
One to two years
Two to three years

Total

2018 Actual

 
189

-
-

189

2017 Actual

28
18
16
14
14
12

7
3
5
5
5
9
9
9
9
9

172

2017 Actual

 
300
189

-

489

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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6   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, a demand fund held with NZ Health Partnerships (NZHP) and other highly 
liquid investments with maturity of no more than three months from the date of acquisition.

NZHP overdrafts that are part of the Whanganui District Health Board’s cash management are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

Working capital facility
Whanganui District Health Board is a party to the ‘DHB Treasury Services Agreement’ between NZ Health Partnerships 
(NZHP) and the participating DHBs. This agreement enables NZHP to ‘sweep’ DHB bank accounts and invest surplus funds. 
The DHB Treasury Services Agreement provides for individual DHBs to have a debit balance with NZHP, which will incur
interest at the credit interest rate received by NZHP plus an administrative margin. 

The maximum debit balance that is available to any DHB is the value of provider division’s planned monthly Crown revenue, 
used in determining working capital limits which is defined as one-12th of the annual planned revenue paid by the funder 
division to the provider division as denoted in the most recently agreed Annual Plan inclusive of GST. As at 30 June 2018, this 
limit was $11.158m (2017: $10.611m).

Cash on hand
Demand funds held with NZHP

Total cash and cash equivalents

2018 Actual

5
1, 279

1, 284

Receivables - Other (gross)
Ministry of Health (gross)
Less: provision for impairments

Total receivables

Total receivables comprises:
Receivable from non-exchange transactions
Receivable from exchange transactions

BREAKDOWN OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND FURTHER INFORMATION

7   RECEIVABLES
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Receivables are recognised at the fair value less any provision for impairment.

A receivable is considered impaired when there is evidence that Whanganui District Health Board will not be able to collect the 
amount due. The amount of the impairment is the difference between the carrying amount of the receivable and the present 
value of the amounts expected to be collected.

Overdue receivables that have been renegotiated are reclassified as current (that is, not past due). 

Bad debts are written off during the period in which they are identified.

BREAKDOWN OF RECEIVABLES AND OTHER INFORMATION

2017 Actual

5
7, 401

7, 406

2017 Actual

3, 313
3, 674
(347)

6, 640

216
6, 424

2018 Actual

4, 616
4, 373
(252)

8, 737

223
8, 514

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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2018
Gross Impairment Net Gross Impairment Net

The ageing profile of receivables at year-end is detailed below:

2018 Actual

Balance as at 1 July
Additional provisions made during the year
Receivables written off during the year
Receivables recovered during the year

Total

347
209
(73)

(231)

252

Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 120 days
Past due 121 - 360 days
Past due over 360 days

Total

8, 676
21

109
69

114

8, 989

(32)
(19)
(25)
(63)

(113)

(252)

8, 644
2

84
6
1

8, 737

All receivables greater than 30 days in age are considered to be past due.

The impairment assessment is generally recognised when debt is overdue and based on historical experience or an 
assessment of the particular receivable, it is deemed to not be recoverable. When the receivable is not collectable, it is 
written off and any provision against this receivable reversed. Overdue receivables that have been re-negotiated are 
reclassified as current (that is not past due).

7   RECEIVABLES (continued)

MOVEMENTS IN THE PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF 
RECEIVABLES ARE AS FOLLOWS:

8   INVESTMENTS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Bank term deposits
Investments in bank term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. After initial recognition, investments in 
bank deposits are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment.

Current portion
Term deposit

Total current portion

Non-current portion
Term deposit

Total non-current portion

Total investment

2018 ActualBREAKDOWN OF INVESTMENT AND FURTHER INFORMATION

3, 000

3, 000

-

-

3, 000

The carrying amounts of term deposits with maturities less than 12 months approximate their fair value. 
There is no impairment provision for investments.

2017

6, 461
53

182
98

193

6, 987

(14)
(48)
(51)
(41)

(193)

(347)

6, 447
5

131
57

-

6, 640

2017 Actual

347
-
-
-

347

2017 Actual

3, 000

3, 000

-

-

3, 000

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Held for distribution inventories
Central stores
Pharmaceuticals
Theatre supplies
Other supplies

Total inventories

2018 Actual

313
357
476
266

1, 412

Write-down of inventories amounted to $42k (2017: $41k). There have been no reversals of write-downs.

No inventories are pledged as security for liabilities (2017: nil) but some inventories are subject to retention of title 
clauses (Romalpa clauses). The value of stocks subject to such clauses cannot be quantified due to the inherent 
difficulties in identifying the specific inventories affected at year-end.

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense during the year was $7.56m (2017: $6.86m), which is included in 
the Other Expenses line item of the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

9   INVENTORIES
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Inventories held for distribution in the provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial basis are stated at cost, 
adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential. Cost is based on weighted average cost.

Inventories are held for the DHB's own use and are not supplied on a commercial basis. Inventories are stated at cost and 
adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential. The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential 
or from cost to net realisable value is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of the write-down.  

Inventories acquired through non-exchange transactions are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Obsolete inventories are written off.

BREAKDOWN OF INVENTORIES AND FURTHER INFORMATION 2017 Actual

322
294
476
235

1, 327

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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10   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Classes of property, plant and equipment
The major classes of property, plant and equipment are 
as follows:

   ▪   Land, at fair value.

   ▪   Buildings and improvements, at fair value less 
         accumulated depreciation.

   ▪   Plant and equipment, at cost less accumulated 
         depreciation and impairment losses.

   ▪   Vehicles, cost less accumulated depreciation and 
         impairment losses.

   ▪   Leased assets, cost less accumulated depreciation and 
         impairment losses.

Revaluations
Land and buildings are revalued, with sufficient regularity to 
ensure the carrying amount is not materially different to fair 
value, and at least every three years. 

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed annually 
to ensure that they do not differ materially from fair value. If 
there is evidence supporting a material difference, then the 
off-cycle asset classes are revalued.

Land and building revaluation movements are accounted 
for on a class-of-asset basis. 

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other 
comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated 
to an asset revaluation reserve in equity for that class of 
asset. Where this would result in a debit balance in the 
asset revaluation reserve, this balance is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation 
that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in 
the surplus or deficit will be recognised first in the surplus 
or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then 
recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense.

Additions
The cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment is 
recognised as an asset only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
item will flow to Whanganui District Health Board and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment 
is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired 
through a non-exchange transaction, it is recognised at its 
fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Work in progress is recognised at cost less impairment and is 
not depreciated. Work in progress includes the cost of direct 
materials, direct labour and an appropriate share of overheads. 

Disposal
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the 
asset. Gains and losses on disposals are reported net in 
the surplus or deficit. When revalued assets are sold, the 
amounts included in revaluation reserves in respect of 
those assets are transferred to the accumulated surplus / 
(deficit) within equity.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are added to the carrying amount of an 
item of property, plant and equipment when that cost is 
incurred, if it is probable that the service potential or future 
economic benefits embodied within the new item will flow 
to Whanganui District Health Board and the cost of items 
can be measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant, and 
equipment are recognised in the surplus or deficit as they 
are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to surplus or deficit. Depreciation 
is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, 
and equipment other than land and motor vehicles. Land 
is not depreciated. Motor vehicles are depreciated using 
diminishing value basis. Depreciation is set at rates that 
will write off the cost or fair value of the assets, less their 
estimated residual values, over their useful lives. The major 
classes of estimated useful lives are as follows:

The residual value and useful lives of assets is reassessed 
annually. Work in progress is not depreciated. The total cost 
of a project is transferred to the appropriate class of asset on 
its completion and then depreciated.

Class of asset
Land

Buildings
& improvements

Plant & equipment

Vehicles

Leased assets

Estimated life
Indefinite

1 - 80 years

3 - 40 years

8 - 14.3 years

7 - 8 years

Depreciation rate
N/A

1.25% - 33%

2.5% - 33%

7% - 12.5%

12.5% - 14.3%

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Whanganui District Health Board does not hold 
any cash-generating assets. Assets are considered 
cash-generating where their primary objective is to 
generate a commercial return.

Non-cash-generating assets 
Property, plant, and equipment held at cost that have a 
finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. If any such 
indication exists, the assets recoverable amounts are 
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable service amount. The recoverable service 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. 

Value in use of non-cash generating assets is determined 
as the present value of the remaining service potential 
using either the depreciated replacement cost approach, 
the restoration cost approach or the service units 
approach. The most appropriate approach used to 
measure value in use depends on the nature of the assets 
instead of impairment and availability of information.

If an asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable service 
amount, the asset is regarded as impaired and the carrying 
amount is written-down to the recoverable amount. The 
total impairment loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit. 

The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.

KEY ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES  

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
At each balance date, the useful lives and residual values of 
property, plant, and equipment are reviewed. Assessing the 
appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of 
property, plant, and equipment requires a number of factors 
to be considered such as the physical condition of the asset, 
expected period of use of the asset by Whanganui District 
Health Board, and expected disposal proceeds from the future 
sale of the asset.

Whanganui District Health Board has not made significant 
changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and 
residual values. 

Estimating the fair value of land and buildings
Valuation
The most recent valuation of land and buildings was 
performed by an independent registered valuer, Telfer Young 
Limited. The valuation is effective as at 30 June 2018. 

Land
Land is valued at its fair value using market-based evidence 
based on its highest and best use with reference to 
comparable land value.

Buildings and improvements
Specialised buildings are valued at fair value using 
depreciated replacement cost because no reliable market 
data is available for such buildings.

Depreciated replacement cost is determined using a number 
of significant assumptions. Significant assumptions include:

▪    The replacement asset is based on the replacement 
      with modern equivalent assets, with adjustments where 
      appropriate for optimisation due to over-design or 
      surplus capacity.

▪    The replacement cost is derived from recent construction 
      contracts of similar assets and Property Institute of New 
      Zealand cost information. Construction costs range from 
      $511 to $6,822 per square metre, depending on the 
      nature of the specific asset valued.

▪    For Whanganui District Health Board’s earthquake-
      prone buildings that are expected to be strengthened, 
      the estimated earthquake-strengthening costs have been 
      deducted off the depreciated replacement cost in 
      estimating fair value. 

▪    The remaining useful life of assets is estimated 
      considering factors such as the condition of the asset, 
      DHB’s future maintenance and replacement plans, and 
      experience with similar buildings.

▪    Straight-line depreciation has been applied in 
      determining the depreciated replacement cost value 
      of the asset.

Non-specialised buildings (for example, residential buildings) are 
valued at fair value using market-based evidence. Market rents 
and capitalisation rates were applied to reflect market value.

Restrictions on title
Whanganui District Health Board does not have full title to 
Crown land it occupies, but transfer is arranged if and when 
land is sold. Some of the land is subject to Waitangi Tribunal 
claims. The disposal of certain properties may be subject to the 
provision of section 40 of the Public Works Act 1981.

Titles to land transferred from the Crown to Whanganui District 
Health Board are subject to a memorial in terms of the Treaty of 
Waitangi Act 1975 (as amended by the Treaty of Waitangi (State 
Enterprises) Act 1988). The effect on the value of assets resulting 
from potential claims under the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975 
cannot be quantified. 

There are no other restrictions on property, plant and equipment. 

Work in progress
Building refurbishment in progress for construction of a new 
clinical training/education centre totalling $52k (2017: $nil).

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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11   INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Initial recognition
Intangible assets that are acquired by Whanganui 
District Health Board are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Work in progress is 
disclosed separately where the software development or 
project has not been completed at balance date.

Software acquisition and development
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the 
basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software.

Costs that are directly associated with the development of 
software for internal use are recognised as an intangible 
asset. Direct costs include software development employee 
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Staff 
training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are 
recognised as an expense when incurred.  

Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is 
amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life unless such 
lives are indefinite. Amortisation begins when the asset is available 
for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The 
amortisation charge for each financial year is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are 
tested for impairment annually. 

The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major 
classes of intangible assets have been estimated 
as follows:

The amortisation policy for RHIP software estimated useful 
life has increased to 13 years.

RHIP local cost refers to expenditure incurred for the  
implementation of RHIP projects at Whanganui DHB which 
are not included within the RHIP expenditure. 

Realised gains and losses arising from disposal of intangible 
assets are recognised surplus or deficit in the period in 
which the transaction occurs.

Impairment of intangible assets
Refer to the policy for impairment of property, plant, and 
equipment in Note 10. The same approach applies to the 
impairment of intangible assets.

KEY ACCOUNTING ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES  

Estimating useful lives of software assets 
Whanganui District Health Board’s internally generated 
software largely arises from local development of regional 
clinical systems for radiology, clinical support (Clinical Portal) 
and patient administration (webPAS) as part of Whanganui 
District Health Board’s regulatory functions. Internally generated 
software has a finite life, which requires Whanganui District 
Health Board to estimate the useful life of software assets.

In assessing the useful lives of software assets, a number of 
factors are considered, including:

    ▪    the period of time the software is intended to 
           be in use;

    ▪    the effect of technological change on systems 
           and platforms; and

    ▪    the expected timeframe for the development 
           of replacement systems and platforms.

An incorrect estimate of the useful lives of software assets will 
affect the amortisation expense recognised in the surplus or 
deficit, and the carrying amount of the software assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

FPSC rights (NZ Health Partnerships Limited)
The WDHB has invested in the National Oracle Solution (NOS) 
facilitated by New Zealand Health Partnerships Limited, a 
company collectively owned by the 20 DHBs, to provide a 
finance, procurement and supply chain (FPSC) system and 
return significant procurement savings to the sector. 

The investment rights are considered to have an indefinite 
life as the DHBs have the ability and intention to review 
the service level agreement indefinitely and the fund 
established by NZHP through the on-charging of 
depreciation on the FPSC assets to the DHBs will be used 
to, and is sufficient to, maintain the FPSC assets standard of 
performance or service potential indefinitely.

As the FPSC rights are considered to have an indefinite life, 
the intangible asset is not amortised and will be tested for 
impairment annually.

As at 30 June 2018, Whanganui District Health Board had 
contributed a total of $1m (2017: $0.9m) to NZHP in relation 
to the FPSC programme, which was included in work in 
progress at year-end. The investment has been tested for 
impairment during the year by the DHB.

As at 30 June 2018, Whanganui District Health Board has 
recognised an impairment loss of $83k (2017: $nil) for IT shared 
service rights for the National Oracle Solution (NOS). The 
impairment arose due to discontinuance of the national supply 
chain strategy as per the NZHP's June 2018 recommendation.

Type of asset
Software
RHIP
RHIP local cost
FPSC rights

Estimated life
4 - 10 years
Work in progress
10 to 13 years
Indefinite

Amortisation rate
10 - 25%
Nil
7.7 - 10%
Nil

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Regional Health Informatics Programme (RHIP)
RHIP is a programme to move the Central Region DHBs from 
a current state of disparate, fragmented and, in some cases 
obsolescent, clinical and administrative information systems 
to a future state of shared, standardised and fully integrated 
information systems that will enhance clinical practice, drive 
administrative efficiencies, enable regionalisation of services 
and reduce current operational risks. 

It was originally agreed that Technical Advisory Services 
Limited (CTAS) would create the RHIP assets and provide 
services in relation to those assets to the DHBs. Each DHB 
would provide funding to CTAS and in return for the funding 
relating to capital items the DHBs would be provided with 
Class B Redeemable Shares in CTAS. The agreement to 
provide the RHIP assets and services was amended on 1 
December 2014 to transfer the ownership of RHIP assets to 
the DHBs jointly.

As at 30 June 2018, Whanganui District Health Board 
had invested a total of $10.7m (2017: $7.3m) in the RHIP 
programme. Of this investment, $4.8m has been recognised 
as work in progress and $5.9m has been capitalised in 
respect of intangible assets.

The investment has been tested for impairment during the 
year by the DHB. The district health boards in the central 
region continue to support the project, and consequently the 
WDHB considers the regional clinical systems will come 
on-stream, and that no impairment of the assets is necessary. 

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Summary of financial information on associate entities (100 percent)
Assets
Liabilities
Equity

Revenue
Surplus / (deficit) 

Allied Laundry Services Limited

Investment in associates
Balance as at 1 July
Dividends
Share of profit
Other movements

Total investment in associates

2018 Actual

10, 014
(3, 106)
(6, 908)

(10, 590)
615

17.64%

1, 126
(105)

129
(29)

1, 121

12   INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Whanganui District Health Board holds a 16.7 percent (2017: 16.7%) shareholding in Technical Advisory Services Limited (TAS) 
and participates in its commercial and financial policy decisions. The five other district health boards in the central region each 
hold 16.7 percent (2017: 16.7%) of the shares. Technical Advisory Services Limited was incorporated on 6 June 2001. The total 
share capital of $600 remains uncalled and as a result no investment has been recorded in the Statement of Financial Position 
for this investment.

13   OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2017 Actual

10, 497
(4, 095)
(6, 402)

(10, 432)
560

18.25%

1, 126
-
-
-

1, 126

BREAKDOWN OF INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE AND FURTHER INFORMATION

Associates are those entities in which Whanganui District Health Board has significant influence, but not control, over the financial 
and operating policies. Whanganui District Health Board has shareholdings in an associate Allied Laundry Services Limited, and 
participates in commercial and financial policy decisions of that company. The accounts of the associate company are audited.

The WDHB associate investment is accounted for using the equity method. The investment in an associate is initially recognised at 
cost and the carrying amount in the financial statements is increased or decreased to recognise the WDHB’s share of the surplus 
or deficit of the associate after the date of acquisition. Distributions received from an associate reduce the carrying amount of the 
investment in the group financial statements.

After initial recognition, associates are measured at their fair value with gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense, except for impairment losses that are recognised in the surplus or deficit.

On derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is reclassified 
to the surplus or deficit.

If Whanganui District Health Board’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, Whanganui District Health Board’s carrying 
amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that Whanganui District Health 
Board has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate.

Where the group transacts with an associate, surplus or deficits are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
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15   BORROWINGS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Borrowings are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, all borrowings are 
stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and 
redemption value being recognised in the surplus or deficit 
over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis. 
Interest due on the borrowings is subsequently accrued and 
added to the accrued expense.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Whanganui 
District Health Board has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after balance date. 

Finance lease
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset, 
whether or not title is eventually transferred.

At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases 
whereby Whanganui District Health Board is the lessee are 
recognised as assets and liabilities in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the lower of the fair value of the leased item or the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. 

The finance charge is charged to the surplus or deficit over the 
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest 
on the remaining balance of the liability.

The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful 
life. If there is no reasonable certainty as to whether Whanganui 
District Health Board will obtain ownership at the end of the 
lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the 
lease term and its useful life.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Leases classification
Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance 
lease or an operating lease requires judgement as to 
whether the agreement transfers substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the group.

Judgement is required on various aspects that include, 
but are not limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, 
the economic life of the leased asset, whether or not 
to include renewal options in the lease term, and 
determining an appropriate discount rate to calculate 
the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
Classification as a finance lease means the asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as 
property, plant, and equipment, whereas for an operating 
lease no such asset is recognised.

Management has exercised its judgement on the 
appropriate classification of leases, and has determined 
that a number of lease arrangements are finance leases.

14   PAYABLES
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Trade and other payables are generally settled within 30 days so are recorded at their face value.

Payables under non-exchange transaction
Creditors
Tax payables (GST, PAYE)
ACC levy
Income in advance
Other

Total payables under non-exchange transaction

Payables under exchange transaction
Creditors
Income in advance
Accrued expense

Total payables under exchange transaction

Total payables

2018 Actual

37
1, 380

105
446
211

2, 179

2, 972
-

8, 771

11, 743

13, 922

BREAKDOWN OF PAYABLES UNDER NON-EXCHANGE 
AND EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS 2017 Actual

58
1, 497

175
1, 163

204

3, 097

1, 561
461

9, 676

11, 698

14, 795
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Conversion of Crown loans to equity
In September 2016, the Cabinet agreed that the DHB sector should no longer access Crown debt and that existing DHB Crown 
debt would be converted to Crown equity. On 15 February 2017, the DHB Crown loans of $36.7m were converted into Crown 
equity. From that day onward, all Crown capital contributions to DHBs would be made via Crown equity injections. The 
termination of the Crown loan agreement and conversion of Crown loans to equity was completed by a non-cash transaction, 
other than for interest due at the conversion date.

NZ Health Partnerships overdraft facility
Whanganui District Health Board has a maximum borrowing limit of $11.158m (2017: 10.611m) as at 30 June 2018. 
Refer to Note 6 for further information.

Interest rates
NZ Health Partnerships borrowings has on-call interest rate plus an administrative margin. This is disclosed in note 21C.

Current portion
The Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority
Finance lease

Total current portion

Non-current portion
The Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority
Finance lease

Total non-current portion

Total borrowings

2018 Actual

135
92

227

236
678

914

1, 141

BREAKDOWN OF BORROWINGS AND FURTHER INFORMATION 2017 Actual

135
20

155

371
-

371

526

Less than one year
One to two years
Two to three years
Three to four years
Four to five years
Over five years

Total

2018 Actual

135
135
101

-
-
-

371

ENERGY EFFICIENCY & CONSERVATION AUTHORITY 
LOAN PAYABLE AS FOLLOWS: 2017 Actual

135
135
135
101

-
-

506

Whanganui District Heath Board received an interest-free loan of $642k in January 2016 from the Energy Efficiency and 
Conservation Authority to upgrade of infrastructure for energy efficiency.

in thousands of New Zealand dollars



Whanganui District Health Board
120   |   Annual Report 2017 / 18

Minimum lease payments payables
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

Total minimum lease payments

Less:   Future finance charges

Present value of minimum lease payments

2018 Actual

114
455
293

862

(92)

770

Whanganui District Health Board finance lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased asset revert to 
the lessor in the event of default.

The Whanganui District Health Board has entered into finance lease for clinical equipment, Computed Tomography (CT) 
Scanner. The equipment lease is for an initial period of eight (8) years ending January 2026, with right of purchase any 
time within eight (8) years from the commission date.

ANALYSIS OF FINANCE LEASE AS FOLLOWS:

Minimum lease payments payables
Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

Total minimum lease payments

Less:   Future finance charges

Present value of minimum lease payments

2018 Actual

92
396
282

770

-

770

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS PAYABLE:

2017 Actual

20
-
-

20

-

20

2017 Actual

20
-
-

20

-

20

in thousands of New Zealand dollars



Whanganui District Health Board
Annual Report 2017 / 18   |   121

16   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Short-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled within 12 
months after the end of the period in which the employee 
renders the related service are measured based on accrued 
entitlements at current rates of pay. These include salaries 
and wages accrued up to balance date and annual leave 
earned but not yet taken at balance date and sick leave.

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that absences 
in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick 
leave entitlements earned in the coming year. The amount is 
calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can 
be carried forward at balance date, to the extent that it will be 
used by staff to cover those future absences.

The liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses 
where it is a contractual obligation or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation and 
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

The private and public sector have experienced widespread 
payroll issues relating to the Holidays Act and employment 
agreements. This is particularly so for a workforce with rostered 
employees working on varying work patterns. A proactive 
approach to finding a long-term pay process solution is 
currently being undertaken by management to identify risk 
areas focusing on systems, reporting and analytics, people and 
processes. Since the issues are currently being reviewed the 
holiday pay provision recognised is estimated based on the best 
information available at the date of this annual report. Once the 
issues have been resolved the actual liability may be different.

Long-term employee entitlements
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 
months after the end of period in which the employee 
renders the related service, such as long service leave and 
retirement gratuities, have been calculated using projected 
unit credit method and discounted to its present value. The 
calculations are based on:

  ▪    likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on 
        years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood 
        that staff will reach the point of entitlement, and 
        contractual entitlement information; and
  ▪    the present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Presentation of employee entitlements
Sick leave, annual leave, continuing medical education 
leave, sabbatical and long service leave are classified as a 
current liability. Long service leave and retirement gratuities 
expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date 
are classified as a current liability. All other employee 
entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.

Key accounting assumptions in measuring retirement 
and long service leave obligations
The present value of retirement and long service leave 
obligations depend on a number of factors that are 
determined on an actuarial basis. Two key assumptions used 
in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the 
salary inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will 
affect the carrying amount of the liability.

Expected future payments are discounted using forward 
discount rates derived from the yield curve of New Zealand 
government bonds. The discount rates used have maturities 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined 
after considering historical salary inflation patterns. 
A weighted average discount rate of 2.79% (2017: 2.81%) 
and an inflation factor of 3% (2017: 3%) were used.

Current portions
Accrued salaries and wages
Annual leave
Sick leave
Retirement gratuities
Long service leave
Sabbatical leave
Other leave
Continuing medical education leave

Total current portion

Non-current portions
Retirement gratuities
Long service leave

Total non-current portion

Total employee entitlements

2018 Actual

3, 810
7, 074

197
377
866
516

5
29

12, 874

723
82

805

13, 679

BREAKDOWN OF EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 2017 Actual

2, 330
6, 493

172
347
807
516

5
25

10, 695

788
84

872

11, 567
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17   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are recorded in the Statement of Contingent Liabilities at the point at which the contingency is evident. 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote.

Four legal claims open are employee related in 2018, and have been assessed as unlikely to have material impact. WDHB is 
vigorously contesting the claims and there is uncertainty as to what any legal outcome may be.

National Oracle Solution (NOS)
NZ Health Partnerships has contracts for the provision of Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) relating to the NTS program, for which 
stop-cost contract penalties could result in the event National Technology Solution (NTS) was discontinued. 

If any IaaS provision was required as a result of the NOS and IT infrastructure risk mitigation reviews, and after any subsequent 
negotiations to mitigate any potential contract penalties, these costs would be passed through to DHBs as NOS operating expenditure. 

In the unlikely event that there was a discontinuance of NTS and a requirement to stop the contract, for any resulting 
stop-cost penalties Whangnaui District Health Board would have a contingent liability to the supplier though NZ Health 
Partnerships (2016/17: nil).

Compliance with Holidays Act 2003 
Many public and private sector entities, including the DHB, are continuing to investigate historic underpayment of holiday entitlements. 

For employers such as the DHB that have workforces that include differential occupational groups with complex entitlements, 
non-standard hours, allowances and/or overtime, the process of assessing compliance with the Act and determining the 
underpayment is time consuming and complicated.

DHBs have decided to take a national approach and have been working with key stakeholders to define a baseline interpretation 
document for the health sector. This is substantially agreed, but there are some remaining issues which are in the process of being resolved. 
The intention is that, once the baseline document is agreed, this would be used by each DHB to systematically assess their liability.

Whanganui DHB has estimated its liability as at 30 June 2018 to be $0.55m (2017: $0.55m).

The liability has been estimated following a review of employee entitlements under the Holiday Act 2003 performed by Whanganui 
DHB.  This estimate is based on the best information available to the DHB at balance date but, due to the uncertainties involved, the 
actual liability could be different.

Contingent assets
Whanganui District Health Board has no contingent assets (2017: nil).  

18   CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Buildings and improvements
Plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Total

2018 Actual

 
244
373
549

1, 166

Capital commitments

Less than one year
One to two years

Total

2018 Actual

 
1, 166

-

1, 166

Capital commitments represent capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not yet incurred. 

2017 Actual

 
-

304
3, 391

3, 695

2017 Actual

 
3, 695

-

3, 695
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Board members
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members

Executive team
Remuneration
Full-time equivalent members

Total key management personnel compensation

Total full time equivalent personnel

2018 ActualKEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

190
1.00

1, 873
7.47

2, 063

8.47

The full-time equivalent for board members has been determined based on the frequency and length of board meetings 
and the estimated time for board members to prepare for meetings. An analysis of board member remuneration is 
provided in Note 5.

19   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
Whanganui District Health Board is a wholly-owned entity of the Crown.

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties, including associates that are:

   ▪    within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship; and

   ▪    on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect that the group 
                         would have adopted in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.

Further, transactions with other government agencies (for example, government departments and Crown entities) are not 
disclosed as related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal operating arrangements between 
government agencies and undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such transactions.

2017 Actual

172
1.14

1, 931
8.06

2, 103

9.20

20   EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
There were no significant events after the balance date.

in thousands of New Zealand dollars



Whanganui District Health Board
124   |   Annual Report 2017 / 18

21   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The WDHB's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. 
The WDHB has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure 
from financial instruments.

Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, loans and receivables, or 
held to maturity investments as appropriate. All financial assets are recorded initially at fair value, plus in the case of financial assets 
not recorded at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

The DHB’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and held to maturity investments. 

Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition at fair value through surplus or deficit. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are 
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. The DHB has not designated any financial assets at fair 
value through surplus or deficit.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance 
income in the statement of financial performance. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the statement of 
financial performance in finance costs for loans and in expenses for receivables. 

Held to maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payment and fixed maturities are classified as held to maturity when 
the DHB has positive intention and ability to hold them to maturity. After initial measurement, held to maturity investments are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The 
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance income in the Statement of Financial Performance. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance as finance costs.

Derecognition
A financial asset is recognised primarily when:

   ▪    The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or

   ▪    The DHB has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 
          to pay the received cash flows without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement. 

The DHB assesses, at reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit, payables, 
or loans and borrowings as appropriate. All financial liabilities are recorded initially at fair value and, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
After initial recognition, trade and other payables and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in surplus or deficit when the liabilities are derecognised as well 
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process. The effective interest rate for amortisation is included as finance 
costs in the surplus or deficit. Trade and other payables are unsecured and usually paid within 30 days of recognition. Due to 
their short-term nature, they are not discounted. Amortised cost is calculated by taking in to account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees or cost that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another form the same lender on substantially the same terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of the new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the financial instrument categories are as follows::

21a   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT CATEGORIES

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (Gross)

Total loans and receivables

Held to maturity
Investment - term deposit

Total held to maturity

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable and grants received subject to conditions)

Borrowings - Ministry of Health
Borrowings - Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority
Finance leases

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2018 Actual

1, 284
8, 989

10, 273

3, 000

3, 000

12, 096
-

371
770

13, 237

2017 Actual

7, 406
6, 987

14, 393

3, 000

3, 000

11, 674
-

506
20

12, 200
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30 June 2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (Gross)
Investment - term deposit

Financial liabilities
Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable and grants received subject to conditions)

Borrowings - Ministry of Health
Borrowings - Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority
Finance lease liabilities

30 June 2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (Gross)
Investment - term deposit

Financial liabilities
Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable, and grants received subject to conditions)

Borrowings - Ministry of Health
Borrowings - The Energy Efficiency and Conservation Authority
Finance lease liabilities

Carrying 
amountNotes

7, 406
6, 987
3, 000

11, 674
-

506
20

1, 284
8, 989
3, 000

12, 096
-

371
770

Fair value

6
7
8

14
15
15
15

6
7
8

14
15
15
15

21b   FAIR VALUE
ESTIMATION OF FAIR VALUES ANALYSIS
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 
instruments reflected in the table.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.

Finance lease liabilities
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at market interest rates for homogeneous 
lease agreements. The estimated fair values reflect change in interest rates.

Receivables / payables / cash and cash equivalents
For receivables / payables / cash and cash equivalents with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is 
deemed to reflect the fair value. All other receivables / payables / cash and cash equivalents are discounted to determine 
the fair value.

Interest rates used for determining fair value
The calculation of fair market value of the loans is based on the government loan rate plus 15 basis points, which is based 
on mid-market pricing.

Investment
For short-term investments with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect fair value.

7, 406
6, 987
3, 000

11, 674
-

506
20

1, 284
8, 989
3, 000

12, 096
-

371
770

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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21c   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK
Whanganui District Health Board's activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk, 
and liquidity risk. Whanganui District Health Board has a Risk and Audit Committee that provides oversight of risk management 
activities and also has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise 
exposure. These policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into.

MARKET RISK
Fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument will fluctuate, due to changes in market interest rates. Whanganui District 
Health Board’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits which are held at fixed rates of interest. 
Whanganui District Health Board does not actively manage its exposure to fair value interest rate risk as investment and 
borrowings are generally held to maturity.

Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. The WDHB’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is limited to on-call deposits. This exposure is not considered 
significant and is not actively managed.

Whanganui District Health Board’s investment policy requires a spread of investment maturity dates to limit exposure to 
short-term interest rate movements. Whanganui District Health Board currently has no variable interest rate investments.

The exposure to interest rate risk arises from NZ Health Partnerships sweep account facility which attracts an on-call interest rate.

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the table on  the following page indicates 
their effective interest rates at the Statement of Financial Position date and the periods in which they reprise.

Sensitivity analysis
In managing interest rate risks Whanganui District Health Board aims to reduce the impact of short-term fluctuations on 
Whanganui District Health Board’s earnings under their adopted Treasury Policy.  Over the longer term, however, permanent 
changes in interest rates would have an impact on consolidated earnings.

At 30 June 2018, it is estimated that a general increase of one percentage point in interest rates would have minimal impact 
on earnings in 2017/18, as most of the district health board’s term debt is at fixed rates. Only the net interest from cash holdings 
and the NZ Health Partnerships sweep would be affected.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to the Whanganui District Health Board, causing it to incur a loss. 
Due to the timing of the WDHB’s cash inflows and outflows, surplus cash is invested with registered banks or NZHPL.

In the normal course of business, Whanganui District Health Board is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with 
banks, NZHP and receivables. For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Whanganui District Health Board's shared banking arrangement with NZHP results in credit risk exposure to Whanganui District 
Health Board. NZHP is indemnified by all DHBs for any default by banks holding cash on deposit from NZHP. NZHP will pass on any 
losses it incurs as a result of default by banks. NZHP manages credit risk by investing in NZ incorporated banks with a minimum 
credit rating of A+. The Whanganui District Health Board has counter-party credit risk for foreign currency and interest rate derivatives 
as this transaction is undertaken by the bank. The money with NZHP is classified under “counterparties without credit rating”.

The WDHB has experienced no defaults of interest or principal payments for term deposits. 

Concentrations of credit risk from accounts receivable are limited due to the large number and variety of customers. The Ministry 
of Health is the largest single debtor approximately at 55% (2016: 49%). The Ministry of Health is assessed to be a low risk and 
high-quality entity due to its nature as the government funded purchaser of health and disability support services.

At the Statement of Financial Position date there were no significant other concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure 
to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Liquidity risk
Management of liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Whanganui District Health Board encounters difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments 
as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities, and the ability to close out market positions.

The Whanganui District Health Board mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow 
requirements, maintaining an overdraft facility.
 
Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities, excluding derivatives
The table below analyses the Whanganui District Health Board’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on 
the remaining period at balance date to the contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt are based 
on the floating rate on the instrument at balance date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and 
include interest payments.

30 June 2017
Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable & grants received subject to conditions)

Borrowings - Ministry of Health
Borrowings - Energy Efficiency & Conservation Authority
Finance leases

Total

30 June 2018
Payables (excluding income in advance, taxes payable & grants received subject to conditions)

Borrowings - Ministry of Health
Borrowings - Energy Efficiency & Conservation Authority
Finance leases

Total

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flow

1 - 12
months

1 - 2 
years

2 - 5 
years

More than
5 years

11, 674
-

506
20

12, 200

12, 096
-

371
770

13, 237

11, 674
-

506
20

12, 200

12, 096
-

506
862

13, 464

11, 674
-

135
20

11, 829

12, 096
-

135
114

12, 345

-
-

135
-

135

-
-

135
114

249

-
-

236
-

236

-
-

236
341

577

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-

293

293

30 June 2017
Cash on hand
NZ Health Partnerships Limited
Investment - term deposit
Receivables (net)

Borrowings - Energy Efficiency & Conservation Authority
Finance leases

30 June 2018
Cash on hand
NZ Health Partnerships Limited
Investment - term deposit
Receivables (net)

Borrowings - Energy Efficiency & Conservation Authority
Finance leases

Effective
interest rate % Total

1 - 12
months

1 - 2 
years

2 - 5 
years

More than
5 years

-
-

3.48%
-

0.00%
-

-
-

3.50%
-

0.00%
3.00%

5
7, 401
3, 000
6, 640

506
20

5
1, 279
3, 000
8, 737

371
770

5
7, 401
3, 000
6, 640

135
20

5
1, 279
3, 000
8, 737

135
92

-
-
-
-

270
-

-
-
-
-

135
95

-
-
-
-

101
-

-
-
-
-

101
301

-
-
-
-

-
-

-
-
-
-

-
282

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Capital management
Whanganui District Health Board’s capital is its equity, which comprises Crown equity, accumulated funds, revaluation reserves 
and Trust/Special funds as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position. Equity is represented by net assets.

Whanganui District Health Board is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities 
Act 2004, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities, 
and the use of derivatives.

Whanganui District Health Board has complied with the financial management requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004 
during the year. 

Whanganui District Health Board manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, 
liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings to ensure that Whanganui District Health Board effectively achieves its 
objectives and purpose, while remaining a going concern. The Whanganui District Health Board policies in respect of capital 
management are reviewed regularly by the board.

There have been no material changes in the Whanganui District Health Board’s management of capital during the period.

22   EXPLANATION OF FINANCIAL VARIANCE AGAINST BUDGET
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 
    ▪    Exchange and non-exchange revenue was in line with budget, although $1.5m anticipated elective surgery from other district 
           health boards did not eventuate as planned. This was offset by additional revenue for pay equity of $0.6m, national patient 
           flow one-off payment of $0.2m, prior year in-between travel and elective wash-up funding of $0.5m and Pharmac hospital 
           rebate of $0.2m.

    ▪    Personnel costs exceeded budget by $0.9m due to increased operating needs.

    ▪    Outsourced services exceeded budget by $1.1m due to higher than anticipated use of locum medical staff and 
           outsourced clinical services to meet clinical demand.

    ▪    Depreciation is less than budget by $0.5m due to the timing of IT projects and clinical equipment purchases.

    ▪    Other expenses exceeded budget by $0.5m due to increased expense on inter-district outflows. This was partly offset by 
           health of older people expenses.

Statement of Financial Position 
    ▪    Receivables exceeded budget by $2.2m, due to provision of in-between travel of $0.9m, pay equity of $0.6m, 
           inter-district outflows of $0.6m, and other of $0.1m.

    ▪    Property, plant and equipment exceeded budget by $1.4m, due to the revaluation of land and buildings, 
           partly offset by timing of capital expenditure for IT and clinical equipment.

    ▪    Intangible assets are less than budget by $2.1m, due to delay of the Regional Health Informatics Programme (RHIP).

    ▪    Payable under non-exchange and exchange transactions is less than budget by $2.3m due to inter-district 
           outflows and demand-driven expenditure provision.

    ▪    Employee entitlements exceeded budget by $1.5m due to expiring MECAs and greater than expected leave 
          entitlements owing at year-end.

Statement of Changes in Equity 
    ▪    Statement of Changes in Equity exceeded budget by $0.5m due to the revaluation of land and buildings, which was
           offset by a greater than planned deficit.

Statement of Cash Flows 
    ▪    Cash and cash equivalents are less than budget by $1m due to operating deficit and related working capital movement.

23   COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION
Crown Entities Act 2004 
There were no breaches noted of the Crown Entities Act in 2018 (2017: nil).

New Zealand Public Health and Disability Act 2000 
There were no breaches noted of the NZPHD Act in 2018 (2017: nil).

in thousands of New Zealand dollars
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Bed days 
The total number of bed days of 
all admitted patients during the 
reporting period. It is taken from the 
count of the number of inpatients 
at midnight (approximately) each 
day. Details for Same Day patients 
are also recorded as Occupied Bed 
Days where one Occupied Bed Day is 
counted for each Same Day patient.

Bed Occupancy 
The available beds which have 
been occupied over the year. It is a 
measure of the intensity of the use of 
hospital resources by inpatients.

Capital charge 
Capital charge is a fixed percentage 
charge on net assets of the DHB.  
Charging this helps makes explicit 
the true costs of the taxpayers’ 
investment in each of the DHBs and 
ensures that DHBs make decisions 
based on the full cost of the services 
they provide. Also creates an 
incentive for DHB's to make the most 
efficient use of their working capital.  
Capital charge payments are payable 
to the Crown.

Capital expenditure (Capex) 
Capital expenditure, or Capex, are 
funds used by a organisation to 
acquire or upgrade physical assets 
such as property,plan and equiment.

These used for more than one year in 
the operations of a business. Capital 
expenditures can be thought of as the 
amounts spent to acquire or improve 
an organisation's fixed assets.
   
Caries
Tooth decay or cavities

Carrying Amount 
The value at which an asset or liability 
is carried at on the balance date

CCDM 
Care Capacity and Demand 
Management Programme

centralAlliance 
Collaborative agreement between 
Whanganui and MidCentral DHBs

Chronic disease 
A chronic disease is one lasting three 
months or more

Communicable diseases 
An infectious disease transmissible 
(as from person to person) by direct 
contact with an affected individual 
or the individual's discharges or by 
indirect means 

GLOSSARY

ACC 
Accident Compensation Corporation

Acute 
Acute care is a secondary healthcare  
service, where a patient receives 
active but short-term treatment for a 
severe injury or episode of illness, an 
urgent medical condition, or during 
recovery from surgery.

Admission
Admission to hospital services

Ambulatory Sensitive 
Hospitalisation (ASH) 
Acute admissions that are considered 
potentially reducible through 
interventions deliverable in a primary 
care setting

Ambulatory services 
Medical care provided on 
an outpatient basis, including 
diagnosis, observation, consultation, 
treatment, intervention, and 
rehabilitation services

Annual Report 
Under section 150 of the Crown Entity 
Act, DHB's are obliged to prepared 
an annual report.  Annual reports are 
prepared annually for each financial 
year ending 30 June. The purpose 
of the annual report is to compare 
activities performed with those 
intended in the annual plan. 

ARC 
Aged Residential Care

Aroha 
Love, respect, empathy, protection, 
foundation, relationships, non-
judging, unconditional, passion.

Assets 
Resources owned by the DHB. Assets 
can be divided into categories such as 
current assets and non-current assets

B4 School Check 
The B4 School Check is a free health 
and development check for 4-year-olds

Balance date 
A balance date is the end of an 
accounting (financial) year. DHB's 
balance date is 30 June.

Community Services 
Health services generally delivered in 
a community setting 

Comorbidities 
The presence of one or more additional 
diseases or disorders co-occurring with 
a primary disease or disorder

Crown Funding Agreement 
The Crown Funding Agreement (CFA) 
is the agreement between the Minister 
of Health and DHBs. Through the CFA 
the Crown agrees to provide funding in 
return for service provision as specified 
in the CFA.

Crown-owned/Crown entity 
A generic term for a diverse range 
of entities within one of the five 
categories referred to in section 7 of 
the CE Act, namely: statutory entities, 
Crown entity companies, Crown entity 
subsidiaries, school boards of trustees, 
and tertiary education institutions. 

Current assets 
An asset that can readily be 
converted to cash or will be used to 
repay a liability within 12 months of 
balance date

Current liabilities 
A liability that is required to be 
discharged/settled within 12 months 
of balance date

Depreciation (amortisation)
An expense charged each year to reflect 
the estimated cost of using assets 
over their lives. Amortisation relates to 
‘intangible’ assets such as software (as 
distinct from physical assets, which are 
covered by depreciation).

Derivative financial instruments 
Conventions, and rules accountants 
follow in recording and summarising 
transactions, and in the preparation of 
financial statements

Discharge 
Discharge from hospital services

Dividends 
Payment per share to shareholders as 
a return on their investment

Elective surgery (service) 
Elective service are medical and 
surgical service for people who do 
not need to be treated right away

Emergency Department  
Medical treatment department 
specialising in emergency medicine, 
the acute care of patients who 
present without prior appointment; 
either by their own means or by that 
of an ambulance
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Employee Assistance 
Programme (EAP) 
A programme available for WDHB 
employees which provides confidential 
support for both personal and work-
related issues

Family/whānau-centred 
Refers to staff working alongside the 
patient and their whānau/family in a 
collaborative manner so that everyone 
understands the needs of the patient 
and whānau/family as self-determined 
by them to improve their health and 
overall wellbeing

FSA 
First Specialist Assessment

GAAP 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles. These include standards, 
conventions, and rules accountants 
follow in recording and summarising 
transactions, and in the preparation of 
financial statements.

General practice 
Medical profession, a general 
practitioner (GP) is a medical doctor 
who treats acute and chronic illnesses 
and provides preventive care and health 
education to patients

Green Prescriptions 
A health professional's written advice to 
become more physically active as part of 
their overall health management

GST 
Goods and service tax. In New Zealand 
the current GST rate is 15 percent.
Hapai Te Hoe 
Whanganui DHB cultural awareness 
programme

Haumoana 
Māori health worker. A member of the 
Te Hau Ranga Ora (WDHB Māori health 
services) - working with patients and 
their whānau/families and colleagues as 
part of the health care team.

Hauora a Iwi 
Iwi Māori Relationship Board/Whanganui 
DHB governance partner

Health care assistant  
Heath care assistants work under the 
supervision of nurses and other health 
professionals to carry out a variety of tasks

Health Promoting Schools 
An approach where the whole school 
community works together to address 
the health and wellbeing of students, 
staff and their community

Health protection 
Health protection services work 
within the framework created by 
the various health-related Acts 
including the Health Act (1956), 
Food Act (1981), Sale and Supply of 
Alcohol Act (2012) and Smokefree 
Environments Act (1990) and their 
associated regulations 

Health Quality & Safety 
Commission 
Crown entity, objective are to work 
with clinicians, providers and consumer 
to improve  in quality and safety across 
the health and disability sector

HPV 
Human papilloma Virus

IEA 
Individual Employment Agreement

Impairment 
A reduction in the recoverable value 
of  a non-current asset below its 
carrying value

Inpatient services 
The care of patients whose condition 
requires admission to a hospital

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are those fixed 
assets that have no physical 
existence, such  software, patents, 
copyrights, goodwill, etc.

Inter-district Flow (IDF) 
Health services provided by DHBs 
to patients domiciled to another 
DHB's population. Can result in either 
revenue inflow (health services 
delivered to patients domiciled 
at another DHB) or outflow (our 
population receiving health services 
at another DHB) 
  
interRAI 
interRAI is an electronic assessment 
tool used by health professionals 
working with older people.

Iwi 
Tribe

Kaiāwhina 
Māori health worker assistant; helper; 
advocate

Kaitiakitanga 
Protection, taking care of people, 
things, conflict resolution, 
environmental, maintain values,
vision, understanding, keeping 
yourself and each other safe

Kaupapa 
Purpose; theme

Kohanga reo 
Māori language nest - preschool

Kotahitanga 
Unity, cohesion, sharing vision, 
working together, trust, relationships, 
collaboration and integration

LMC
Lead maternity carer 

Length of stay 
Length of stay (LOS) is a term to 
describe the duration of a single 
episode of hospitalisation. Inpatient 
days are calculated by subtracting day 
of admission from day of discharge

Locum 
A locum is someone who temporarily 
fulfills an employment role / duties of 
another. For example a locum doctor 
(Medical personnel) works in the 
place of a regular/permanent doctor 
when they are absent or when a 
DHB is short of staff. WDHB uses 
the term locum to refer to all such 
arrangments of clinical personnel 
where WDHB are invoiced for these 
services rather than a salary paid. 
 
Long-term conditions 
Long-term conditions account for a 
significant proportion of health care 
spend and hospitalisations, as well 
as being a barrier to full participation 
and independence in the workplace 
and society by affected individuals 
and their family/whānau 

Mahi whakariterite 
Our priorities and performance

Manaakitanga 
Respect, support, helping, caring, 
non-judgemental, be of service 
to others

Mana tangata 
Our leadership; prestige, integrity, 
leadership

Marae 
Māori meeting place

Mauri 
Life essence, animate and inanimate 
objects have a mauri, tika, pono, 
balance and universe

MECA 
Multi Employer Collective Agreement

Mihi 
Greeting, acknowledgement
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National Hauora Coalition 
One of the two local primary health 
organisations (PHO)

Net assets 
The value of a DHB's total assets less 
the value of its total liabilities

New Zealand Health Partnerships
Operates as a multi-parent crown 
subsidiary, created by the 20 DHBs. 
The aim of the entity is to work 
collaboratively to identify and build 
shared services for the benefit of the 
health sector.  

Nga moemoeā, nga kaupapa
Our vision and purpose

NGO 
Non-government organisation

NIR 
National Immunisation Register

Non-current assets 
Non-current assets are assets which 
represent a longer-term investment 
and cannot be converted into cash 
quickly. They are likely to be held by a 
DHB for more than a year.

Non-current liabilities 
A liability that is not required to be 
discharged/settled within 12 months 
of balance date.

NOS 
National Oracle Solution

Output Class 
Four output classes are to be used 
by all DHBs to reflect the nature 
of services provided. The output 
class categories are Prevention; 
Early Detection and Management; 
Intensive Assessment and Treatment; 
Rehabilitation and Support.

Pepi-pod 
Baby bassinet used to help reduce 
Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy 
(SUDI)

Primary Health Organisation
Primary health organisations (PHOs) 
are funded by district health boards 
to support the provision of  
essential primary health care services 
through general practices to those 
people who are enrolled with the PHO

Primary Services 
Professional health care provided in 
the community

Pūrongo arotake pūtea 
Audit Report

Pūrongo mahi 
Statement of Performance

Pūrongo pūtea 
Financial Statements

Pūrongo ratonga 
Statements of Service Quality

Rangimarie 
Humility, maintaining one's 
composure, peace, accountability, 
responsibility, respect

Regional Health Informatics 
Programme (RHIP) 
Central Region clinical IT application 
programme of work

RiskMan 
Risk management reporting tool

Screening services 
Screening programmes can detect 
some conditions and reduce the 
chance of developing or dying from 
some conditions 

Secondary services 
Medical care that is provided by a 
specialist or facility upon referral by 
a primary care physician and that 
requires more specialised knowledge, 
skill, or equipment

Standardised Intervention Rate 
A health intervention rate that has 
been standardised against a particular 
population

Statement of Performance 
Expectations 
A document that sets out the service 
performance expectaions for the 
upcoming year and provides a base for 
actual performance to be assessed

SUDI 
Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy

Tamariki 
Child/children

Tangata whenua 
People of the land

Te Hau Ranga Ora 
Whanganui DHB's Māori Health 
Service

Te Paori o Whanganui 
Whanganui District Health Board

Te Pukaea 
WDHB Consumer Advisory Group

Te Pūrongo a-tau 
Annual Report

Te rōpū whakahaere 
Our organisation

Te Tiriti o Waitangi 
Treaty of Waitangi

Tertiary services 
Specialised consultative care, usually 
on referral from primary or secondary 
medical care personnel, by specialists 
working in a center that has personnel 
and facilities for special investigation 
and treatment

Tikanga Māori 
Right, honest, guiding principles, 
protocols, guidelines, actions, tapu, noa, 
tika, pono, accountability

Tinorangatiratanga 
Self-determining, empowering, 
respectful, proactive, solution-focused, 
choice, adaptability

TrendCare 
Patient acuity tool which helps inform the 
management of the clinical workforce

Triage 
The assignment of degrees 
of urgency to wounds or illnesses to 
decide the order of treatment of a large 
number of patients or casualties

VLCA 
Very Low Cost Access

Wairuatanga 
Spiritual wellness, relationships, 
beliefs, karakia, whakamoemiti, ruruku, 
watea, blessings

WALT 
Whanganui Alliance Leadership Team

WDHB 
Whanganui District Health Board

WDHB provider division 
Whanganui DHB's service delivery division

webPAS 
New/current patient administration system

Whakapapa 
Relationships, Māori cultural foundation, 
service components, genealogy

Whānau 
Family

Whānaungatanga 
Spiritual wellness, relationships, beliefs, 
karakia, knowing who you are, identity, 
family, whānau, whānau whakapapa, 
whānau kaupapa, social equity

Whānau ora 
Healthy family/families. An inclusive 
approach to providing services /
opportunities for families, partnering 
with families, based on Māori concepts 
and values

Whanganui Regional Health Network 
One of the two local primary health 
organisations (PHO)

XRB
External Reporting Board
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Mr Russell Simpson Chief Executive (from 26 January 2018)
Mrs Julie Patterson Chief Executive (to 20 October 2017)
Mrs Sandy Blake Director of Nursing, and  General Manager, Patient Safety and Quality 
Mrs Sue Campion Communications Manager
Mr Hentie Cilliers General Manager, Human Resources and Organisational Development
Ms Kim Fry Director Allied Health
Mrs Rowena Kui               Director Māori Health 
Dr Francois Rawlinson Chief Medical Officer
Ms Tracey Schiebli General Manager, Service and Business Planning
Mr Brian Walden General Manager Corporate (Chief Financial Officer)
 Acting Chief Executive (from 23 October 2017 to 25 January 2018)

BANKERS
Bank of New Zealand
80 Queen Street
Auckland 1010

Ministry of Health
No. 1 The Terrace
Wellington

AUDITOR
Mr Bruno Dente
Deloitte Limited
PO Box 17
Hamilton
on behalf of the Auditor-General

REGISTERED OFFICE
Private Bag 3003
100 Heads Road
Whanganui
Phone  06 348 1234
Fax  06 345 9390

BOARD SECRETARY 
Horsley Christie 
14 Victoria Avenue
Whanganui

SOLICITORS
Buddle Findlay
1 Willis Street 
Wellington

Horsley Christie
14 Victoria Avenue
Whanganui

Mrs Mary Bennett     |     Chair      
Mrs Grace Taiaroa     |     Deputy Chair
Mr James Allen
Mrs Barbara Ball
Mrs Maraea Bellamy

Mrs Heather Gifford
Mrs Te Aroha McDonnell
Mr Hayden Potaka
Mrs Sharlene Tapa-Mosen

Mrs Dot McKinnon     |     Chair      
Mr Stuart Hylton    |     Deputy chair 
Mr Graham Adams
Mr Charlie Anderson
Mrs Philippa Baker-Hogan

Mrs Jenny Duncan
Mr Darren Hull
Mrs Judith MacDonald
Mrs Annette Main
Dame Tariana Turia

OUR EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM

HAUORA A IWI MEMBERS

BOARD MEMBERS

DIRECTORY
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